The role of gut hormones on food

intake and carbohydrate tolerance

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Imperial College London

2016

Dr George Tharakan BSc, MBBS, MRCP

Section of Investigative Medicine Division of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolism Faculty of Medicine Imperial College London To Jane & Ben

Abstract

The Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass (RYGB) operation for obesity results in sustained weight loss and improvements in carbohydrate tolerance, that no current medical treatment can replicate. The mechanism that underlies the metabolic improvements observed after RYGB remains unclear, but there is an association with increased post-prandial concentrations of several gut hormones; glucagon like peptide-1 (GLP-1), oxyntomodulin (OXM), peptide YY (PYY) and glucagon. Each of these hormones have multiple and different actions that include reductions in food intake, increases in energy expenditure, satiety and improvements in glucose tolerance. Previous studies investigating the metabolic effects of these hormones have used single or dual infusions.

In this thesis, I have investigated for the first time the effect of coinfusing three gut hormones; GLP-1, OXM and PYY together on food intake. The dose used of each hormone was designed to replicate the postprandial levels observed after RYGB. This triple hormone infusion resulted in a significant reduction in food intake relative to saline and subsequently supports the role of gut hormones in the metabolic benefits observed after RYGB In addition, I have also investigated the effect of co-infusing GLP-1 and glucagon on carbohydrate tolerance. Glucagon is elevated post RYGB but is known to increase plasma glucose by promoting glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis This conflicts with the improved glucose tolerance observed post RYGB. I have demonstrated for the first time that co-infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon results in improved glucose tolerance.

Finally, I have investigated a metabolic complication of RYGB in which gut hormones have been implicated, postprandial hypoglycaemia (PPH). In this thesis, I have shown an association between PPH and elevated GLP-1 and glucagon. These data provide a potential target for treating PPH as well as demonstrating a potential adverse event of elevated gut hormone concentrations.

Copyright Declaration

'The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial No Derivatives licence. Researchers are free to copy, distribute or transmit the thesis on the condition that they attribute it, that they do not use it for commercial purposes and that they do not alter, transform or build upon it. For any reuse or redistribution, researchers must make clear to others the licence terms of this work'

Declaration of Originality

I declare that the text is of my own writing. Where appropriate I have cited other researchers' work.

The majority of the work described in this thesis was done myself.All collaboration and assistance is detailed below.

Chapter 2 Human studies were performed in collaboration with Dr Rachel Troke, Dr Jaimini Cegla Dr Katherine McCullough and Dr Ben Field. Assistance with radioimmunoassays was performed by Dr Jaimini Cegla and Dr Ben Jones.

Chapter 3 Human studies were performed collaboration with Dr Preeshila Behary, Dr Nicola Guess and Miss Werd Al-Najim. Assistance with assays was performed by Dr Preeshila Behary and Dr Nicolai Albrechsten.

Chapter 4 Human studies were performed in collaboration with Dr Preeshila Behary. Assistance with assays was performed by Dr Preeshila Behary.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Prof Bloom for giving me the opportunity to the research presented in this thesis. I am also grateful for my supervisors Dr Niamh Martin and Prof Tricia Tan. Their continuing support and guidance has been invaluable to me and will always be remembered. Thanks to the collaborators and in particular Dr Preeshila Behary who often stayed late with me.

Abbreviations

| α -Melanocytes Stimulating Hormone |
|--|
| Average daily risk |
| Agouti-Related Protein |
| Analysis of Variance |
| Area postrema |
| Arcurate Nucleus |
| Adenosine triphosphate |
| Area under the curve |
| Brown adipose tissue |
| Body Mass Index |
| Cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript |
| Central Nervous System |
| Continuous overlapping net glycaemic action |
| Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire |
| Diet Induced Obesity |
| Dorsomedial Nucleus |
| Dorsal motornucleus of the vagus nerve |
| Dipeptidyl Peptidase IV |
| Dorsal vagal complex |
| Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay |
| Fibroblast Growth Factor |
| Gastrointestinal |
| Glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide |
| Glucagon-like Peptide-1 |
| Glucagon-like Peptide-1 Receptor |
| G-protein-coupled receptor |
| Glicentin-related polypeptide |
| Glycated Haemoglobulin |
| High blood glucose index |
| Intraperitoneal |
| Intervening Peptide |
| Intervening Peptide-1 |
| Intervening Peptide-2 |
| Intravenous |
| Intravenous glucose tolerance test |
| Low blood glucose index |
| Lateral hypothalamus |
| Mean amplitude glucose excursion |
| melanocortin-4 receptor |
| |

| Median Eminence |
|---|
| Mean of daily differences |
| Major pro-glucagon fragment |
| National Institute of Clinical Excellence |
| Non-esterified fatty acids |
| Neuropeptide Y |
| Nucleus Tract Solitaris |
| Oxyntomodulin |
| Prohormone Convertase |
| Propiomelamocortin |
| Postprandial Hypoglycaemia |
| Periventricular Nucleus |
| Percentage weight loss |
| Peptide YY |
| Radioimmunoassay |
| Randomised Controlled Study |
| Roux-en Y Gastric Bypass |
| Subcutaneous |
| Sodium Glucose Transport protein 1 |
| Standard error of the mean |
| Supraoptic Nucleus |
| Swedish Obesity Subject |
| Type one diabetes mellitus |
| Type two diabetes mellitus |
| United Kingdom |
| United States of America |
| Visual Analogue Scale |
| Very low energy diet |
| |

Table of Contents

| THE ROLE OF GUT HORMONES ON FOOD INTAKE AND CARBOHYDRATE TOLERANCE |
|--|
| |
| ABSTRACT3 |
| COPYRIGHT DECLARATION 5 |
| DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY 6 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS |
| ABBREVIATIONS |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS 10 |
| INDEX OF FIGURES 15 |
| INDEX OF TABLES 17 |
| CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION 18 |
| 1.1 Obesity – a pandemic19 |
| 1.1.1 Central control of energy balance19 |
| 1.1.2 The health burden of obesity21 |
| 1.2 Treatment of obesity21 |
| 1.2.1 Lifestyle modification |

| 1.2.2 Pharmacotherapy | 22 |
|--|-------|
| 1.2.3 Bariatric Surgery | 25 |
| 1.3 Gut hormones | |
| 1.3.1 Glucagon | |
| 1.3.2 Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) | |
| 1.3.3 OXM | 43 |
| 1.3.4 Peptide YY (PYY) | |
| 1.3.5 Evidence that gut hormones are important in weight loss after RYGB | 54 |
| 1.4 Postprandial Hypoglycaemia- a metabolic complication of RYGB surgery | 55 |
| 1.4.1 Incidence of PPH | 56 |
| 1.4.2 Pathogenesis of PPH | 56 |
| 1.5 Aim of Studies | 58 |
| 1.6 Hypotheses | 59 |
| CHAPTER 2: THE ACUTE EFFECTS OF CO-INFUSION OF GLUCAGON AND GLP- | -1 ON |
| CARBOHYDRATE TOLERANCE IN HUMANS | 60 |
| 2.1 Introduction | 61 |
| 2.2 Hypothesis and aims | 65 |
| 2.2.1 Hypothesis | 65 |
| 2.2.2 Aim | 65 |
| 2.3 Materials and Methods | 66 |
| 2.3.1 Peptides | 66 |
| 2.3.2 Subjects | 66 |
| 2.3.3 Protocol | 68 |
| 2.3.4 Plasma Hormone and Other Assays | 71 |

| 2.3.5 Statistical Analysis | 74 |
|---|---------------------|
| 2.4 Results | |
| 2.4.1 Gut hormone assays | |
| 2.4.2 Glucose and Insulin results | |
| 2.4.3 Measures of insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion | |
| 2.4.4 Safety data | |
| 2.5 Discussion | 93 |
| CHAPTER 3: THE ACUTE EFFECTS OF CO-INFUSION OF GLP-1, OX | (NTOMODULIN 98 |
| 3.1 Introduction | |
| 3.2 Hypothesis and aims | |
| 3.2.1 Hypothesis | |
| 3.2.1 Aim | |
| 3.3 Methods | |
| 3.3.1 Peptides | |
| 3.3.2 Subjects | |
| 3.3.3 Protocol | |
| 3.3.4 Blood assay analysis | |
| 3.3.5 Statistical analysis | |
| 3.4 Results | |
| 3.4.1 Dose finding study investigating the acute effects of GLP-1, OXM an | d PYY on energy |
| intake and nausea in humans | |
| 3.4.2 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous co-administratio | n of GLP-1, OXM and |
| PYY on food intake and nausea. | |
| 3.5 Discussion | |

| POSTPRANDIAL HYPOGLYCAEMIA130 | 6 |
|--|----|
| 4.1 Introduction | 7 |
| 4.2 Hypothesis and Aims140 | 0 |
| 4.2.1 Hypothesis14 | 0 |
| 4.2.2 Aims140 | 0 |
| 4.3 Methods | 1 |
| 4.3.1 Subjects | 1 |
| 4.3.2 Continuous Glucose Monitoring14 | 2 |
| 4.3.3 Mixed Meal Test (MMT) Study140 | 6 |
| 4.3.4 Prolonged Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (POGTT)14 | 7 |
| 4.3.5 Glucose, Insulin and C-peptide assays14 | 7 |
| 4.3.6 Gut Hormone assays144 | 8 |
| 4.3.7 Statistical Analysis | 8 |
| 4.4 Results | 9 |
| 4.4.1 Demographics of subjects14 | 9 |
| 4.4.1 Investigation into glycaemic variability in patients with PPH152 | 2 |
| 4.4.2. Comparison of changes in glucose and insulin following a Mixed Meal Test in patients | |
| suspected of having PPH154 | 4 |
| 4.4.3 Investigation into changes in glucose and insulin in PPH patients: Hypo vs Non-Hypo | |
| groups158 | 8 |
| 4.4.3 Investigation into changes in gut hormones in PPH patients: Hypo vs Non-Hypo groups | |
| | 3 |
| 4.4.4 Investigation into changes in glucose and insulin following a POGTT in patients with PPH | I. |
| | 6 |
| 4.4.5 Investigation into changes in gut hormones following a POGTT in patients with Hypo and | ł |
| without Hypo during the test164 | 9 |

CHAPTER 4: THE ROLE OF GUT HORMONES IN THE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF

| 4.5 Discussion |
|--|
| 4.5.1 Increased Glycaemic Variability172 |
| 4.5.2 Altered glucose tolerance in patients post RYGB measured by a MMT174 |
| 4.5.3 Differences in glucose, insulin and gut hormones, between RYGB patients who have |
| biochemical hypoglycaemia and those that do not, during a MMT176 |
| 4.5.4 Comparison of glucose, insulin and gut hormone responses between a MMT and POGTT |
| in patients with PPH179 |
| CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION184 |
| 5.1 Co-infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon on carbohydrate tolerance in man |
| 5.2 Combining gut hormones as treatment for obesity |
| CHAPTER 6: APPENDIX198 |
| 6.1 Appendix 1- VAS |
| 6.2.Appendix 2- Magpix Protocol |
| References |

Index of Figures

| Figure 1.1 The anatomy of the gastrointestinal tract following RYGB |
|---|
| surgery |
| Figure 1.2 Proglucagon cleavage |
| Figure 2.1 Plasma active GLP-1 (A) and glucagon (B) concentrations after hormone infusion |
| Figure 2.2 Effects of glucagon, GLP-1 and combination on glucose |
| (A) and insulin (B) concentrations |
| Figure 2.3 Effects of glucagon, GLP-1 and combined combination on mean AUC glucose (A) and mean AUC insulin (B) during |
| infusion |
| Figure 2.4 Cardiovascular parameters during infusion of GLP-1, glucagon and combination of both |
| Figure 2.5 VAS results performed during acute infusion of GLP-1, glucagon or combination of both |
| Figure 3.1 Destagol for dogo finding study (A) and main study (D) 105 |
| Figure 3.1 Protocol for dose finding study (A) and main study (B).105 |
| Figure 5.2 Percentage reduction in food intake following |
| Subcutaneous administration of GLP-1 (A), UANI (B) and PYY |
| (C) relative to same. 112 |
| Figure 3.3 Percentage reduction in food intake achieved by subcutaneous co-infusion of GLP-1 and OXM at varying doses |
| relative to saline |
| Figure 3.4 Effect of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY at varying doses on food intake |
| Figure 3.5 Energy intake following ad-libitum meal in human subjects 121 |
| Figure 3.6 Change from baseline in visual analogue scale (VAS) |
| scores in subjects |
| Figure 3.7 Mean plasma concentration of GLP-1 (A). OXM (B) and |
| PYY (CC) during infusion of GLP-1. OXM and PYY |
| Figure 3.8 Comparison of changes in glucose (A) and insulin (B) |
| following co-infusion of GLP-1. OXM and PYY |
| Figure 3.9 Changes in pulse rate (A), systolic (B) and diastolic (C) |
| blood pressure following co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY relative to saline |
| Figure 4.1 Changes in plasma glucose (A) and serum insulin (B) |
| following a mixed meal in nationts suspected to have PPH a non- |
| surgical obese group and an asymptomatic RVCR group 156 |
| Figure 4.2 Changes in glucose (Δ) and insulin (R) following a mixed |
| meal test in nationts with suspected PPH 161 |
| incar cost in patients with suspected 1111 |

| Figure 4.3 Changes in serum GLP-1 (A), glucagon (B), PYY (| C) and |
|---|--------|
| GIP (D) following a mixed meal test. | 165 |
| Figure 4.4 Changes in glucose (A) and insulin (B) during a PC | GTT. |
| | 167 |
| Figure 4.5 Changes in GLP-1 (A), glucagon (B), GIP (C) and | PYY |
| (D) following an oral glucose challenge | 170 |

Index Of Tables

| Table 1. Measures of glucose homeostasis during a mixed meal test following infusion of GLP-1, glucagon or a combination of both. |
|---|
| Table 3.1 Investigation of the effects of varying doses of subcutaneous |
| infusions of GLP-1, OXM or PYY alone on nausea 113 |
| Table 3.2 Effect of different doses of combined subcutaneous |
| infusions of GLP-1 and OXM on nausea116 |
| Table 3.3 Effect of subcutaneous co-infusions of GLP-1, OXM and |
| PYY of varying doses on nausea119 |
| Table 4.1 Measures of glycaemic variability |
| Table 4.2 Normal reference range for measures of glycemic |
| variability |
| Table 4.3 Demographics of subjects in study. 150 |
| Table 4.4 Demographics of PPH subjects. |
| Table 4.5 Comparison of measures of glycaemic variability between |
| patients with PPH and those without |
| Table 4.6 Comparison of measures of glucose homeostasis following a |
| mixed meal in symptomatic RYGB group, a non-surgical obese |
| group and an asymptomatic RYGB group, a non-surgroup 157 |
| Table 4.7 Prevalence of hypoglycaemia and nadir glucose during |
| aither a MMT or POCTT 160 |
| Table 4.8 Comparison of measures of glucose homeostasis following a |
| mixed meet in DDII nationts |
| The AO Constant of the second |
| 1 able 4.9 Comparison of measures of glucose nomeostasis following a |
| POGGI in PPH patients |
| Table 4.10 Summary of gut hormone changes in those that have |
| biochemical hypoglycaemia following either a MMT or a |
| POGTT |

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1.1 Obesity – a pandemic

The rise in obesity represents a modern day pandemic. Its prevalence has doubled in the last 30 years from 5 and 8% of men and women respectively in 1980 to 10 and 14% in 2008(1).

The rapid rise in obesity reflects a positive imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure. However, the causes for this imbalance are multifactorial and represent a complex interplay between environmental factors, a genetic predisposition and changes in human behaviour.

1.1.1 Central control of energy balance

Energy balance is regulated at a central level, specifically the hypothalamus and brain stem. Multiple different processes are coordinated at these centres. These include,

- The homeostatic control of energy intake;
- The processing of gustatory, visual and olfactory sensation;
- Determination of the rewarding/emotional aspects of food;
- Higher cortical functions involved in motivation and impulse control;
- Control of energy expenditure through metabolic rate and activity.

In order to tightly regulate energy balance it is essential for these centres to receive information regarding the environment. Peripheral signals are conveyed via neural and humoral pathways. The latter is facilitated by specific areas of the brain where the blood brain barrier is incomplete. These include the area postrema (AP) and the median eminence (ME). The brainstem receives signals from the periphery via the AP, and visceral vagal afferents carrying signals from the gut. The hypothalamus is influenced by higher centres, the brainstem and by peripheral humoral signals via the ME.

Particularly relevant to the regulation of energy balance is the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus (ARC). Within the ARC are two distinct sets of neurons with opposite functions. The lateral ARC is specific for anorexigenic neurons co-expressing pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) and cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) (2). POMC is processed to produce α -melanocyte stimulating hormone (α -MSH) that in turn activates the melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R). A further group of neurons in the medial ARC co-express neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti gene related peptide (AgRP) (3). These neurotransmitters stimulate food intake and energy seeking behaviour, i.e. they are 'orexigenic'. In particular, AgRP acts to antagonise α -MSH at the MC4R. The balance of activity between these two groups of neurons regulates body weight via the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). This in turn influences higher centres in the cerebral cortex that regulate food seeking behaviour, the hypothalamo-pituitary-thyroid axis and the sympathetic nervous system to regulate the body's basal metabolic rate and resting energy expenditure(4).

1.1.2 The health burden of obesity

Obesity is associated with multiple co-morbidities. These include cancer(5), obstructive sleep apnoea(6), hypertension(7), hyperlipidaemia(8), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)(9). Whilst obesity in itself is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease(10), the addition of the latter co-morbidities increases morbidity and mortality through myocardial infarction and stroke(11).

1.2 Treatment of obesity

1.2.1 Lifestyle modification

Lifestyle modification (diet and exercise) remains the initial treatment for obesity and diabetes as endorsed by multiple guidelines (12-14). Dietary changes can refer to both calorie restriction and/or specific macronutrient modification. There is evidence that calorie restriction in the form of very low energy diets can results in significant weight loss with associated improvements in glycaemia. A Very Low Energy Diet (VLED) is defined as a diet of 800kcal/day or less. Lim *et al* demonstrated that a VLED for 8 weeks in 11 patients with T2DM resulted in significant weight loss (mean percentage weight loss of $15\pm1\%$) with concomitant improvements in fasting glucose, hepatic insulin sensitivity and plasma lipids relative to non diabetic controls(15). However, this was a small, short term study and whether the observed improvements in diabetes can be maintained using this approach in the longer term remain unknown. Specifically, in terms of weight loss, a meta-analysis of VLED has shown a modest average percentage weight loss of 6.79% at 5 years(16). However, dietary modifications are noted to have high attrition rates.

1.2.2 Pharmacotherapy

The history of obesity pharmacotherapy is burdened by numerous medications that have been removed due to unfavourable side effect profiles. Subsequently, increased scrutiny has resulted in a limited armoury of treatments. Furthermore, there are discrepancies between the licensed anti-obesity medication in the United Kingdom (UK) and the United States of America (USA). In the UK, there remains only one licenced pharmocotherapeutic approved by the National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE); orlistat, whilst in the USA there are 4 additional anti-obesity drugs. The current anti-obesity drugs are

• Orlistat

- Lorcaserin
- Phentermine/toperimate
- Naltrexone/bupropion
- Liraglutide

1.2.2.1 Orlistat

This a gastrointestinal lipase inhibitor that results in excretion of 30% of ingested fat and modest weight reduction(17). However, the use of orlistat is limited by considerable gastrointestinal side effects, such that only 10% of patients remain adherent after 1 year (18).

1.2.2.2 Lorcaserin

Lorcaserin is an agonist for 5-HT receptors on anorectic POMC neurones. Previous 5-HT agonists used as anti-obesity drugs include fenfluramine, which was subsequently withdrawn due to increased risk of valvular heart disease(19). This side effect is mediated via 5-HT_{2B}. Lorcaserin avoids this adverse event by being specific to the 5-HT_{2C} receptor(20). Relative to placebo, it achieves weight loss of 3.0-3.6% in phase 3 trials(21,22). In addition it has been reported to reduce glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) by 0.5% in T2DM(23). Whilst approved by the Federal Drugs Agency (FDA) in 2012, the European Medical Agency (EMA) has asked for further safety data prior to licensing.

1.2.2.3 Phentermine/topirimate

phentermine Both topirimate and are powerful anti-obesity monotherapies but their use has been limited by serious side effects. Phentermine is an amphetamine mimetic. The weight loss actions of this drug are mediated through enhanced norepinephrine and dopaminergic stimulation of POMC neurons. Similar amphetamine based drugs were popular anti-obesity treatments in the Seventies but concerns regarding addiction resulted in their use only short term. Topirimate was developed an anti-epileptic medication but its effect on weight loss was noted during initial drug trials(24). However, dose limiting, neuropsychiatric symptoms have prevented further development as a monotherapy for obesity. The mechanism by which topirimate achieves weight loss remains unclear but is there is evidence for both orexigenic glutamate signalling and increased energy expenditure(25,26).

Use of these drugs in combination is attractive for a number of reasons. Since each act via different mechanisms, their combined effect on weight loss is less likely to be diminished by compensatory mechanisms. Additionally, the side effects that occurred with the high doses needed to achieve weight loss may be attenuated by using lower doses of the individual drugs that in combination still yield significant weight loss.

The FDA has licensed two separate doses of these agents in combination.

The lower dose of 7.5mg phentermine/46mg topirimate yields placebo subtracted weight loss of 6.6%(27). Doubling this dose increases weight loss to 9.3% but is only approved to those who lose insufficient weight on the lower dose preparation(28).

1.2.2.4 Naltrexone/bupropion

This is another combination drug, combining naltrexone (an opioid receptor antagonist) and buproprion (a mixed dopamine and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor)(29,30). Both these drugs are used individually for the treatment of addiction; naltrexone being used for alcohol dependence and bupropion for smoking cessation.

Phase 3 studies have demonstrated a 3.2-5.2% weight loss greater than placebo with a 0.5% reduction in HbA1c in T2DM(31-34).

1.2.3 Bariatric Surgery

Bariatric surgery is an umbrella term encompassing a variety of operations that manipulate the gastrointestinal tract to achieve weight loss. There are a variety of operations that are performed around the world, but the three most common are gastric banding, laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and the Roux-en-y gastric bypass (RYGB) The most common procedure is the RYGB surgery (35). This operation combines a restrictive component by the creation of a small gastric pouch and a bypass component in which nutrients are diverted straight into the jejunum (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 The anatomy of the gastrointestinal tract following RYGB surgery. The stomach is resected to make a small gastric pouch. This is anastomosed to the jejunum. The bypassed small bowel is renamed the biliopancreatic limb. The distal small bowel that is anastomosed to the gastric pouch is renamed the Roux limb. Where the biliopancreatic and Roux limbs meet and continue is named the common limb.

1.2.3.1 Weight loss after RYGB

Two recent randomised controlled trials (RCTs) comparing bariatric surgery to intensive lifestyle changes have shown that RYGB results in significantly greater weight loss and improvement in diabetes(36,37). Weight loss is durable as evidenced by the Swedish Obesity Subject (SOS) study, a prospective controlled trial which demonstrated that 10 years after RYGB, percentage weight loss (PWL) is maintained at $25\pm11\%(38)$.

Whilst the rate of obesity and its co-morbidities rise, there are limited non-surgical treatments. RYGB is the most effective treatment for durable weight loss, it is not without cost or risk. A meta-analysis quoted a 30-day mortality of 1 in 200(39). Furthermore, some patients are reluctant to have surgery despite the low mortality. There remains an urgent need for a nonsurgical intervention for obesity. Understanding how RYGB is so effective may result in new more effective treatments.

The mechanisms underlying the metabolic improvements after RYGB remain unclear but multiple theories have been postulated. The most supported mechanism involves changes in the concentration of postprandial gut hormones (discussed in section 1.3). Other potential

27

drivers of weight change post RYGB include bile acids, Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) 19 and microbiota.

Bile acids and FGF 19 are metabolic regulators of glucose and energy metabolism and are elevated post RYGB(40). Bile acids have the potential to stimulate GLP-1 release through TGR5 receptors, found on L cells of the small bowel(41). Bile acids also regulate FGF 19 release in the gut, which have been shown to inhibit hepatic gluconeogenesis(42).

RYGB has been shown to change the composition of gut microbiota in rodent models of bariatric surgery. Li et al. performed either RYGB or sham operations in 30 male Wistar (non-obese) rats, and collected stool samples after surgery. Gut microbiota analysis demonstrated that post surgery there was a decrease in *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* but an increase in *Proteobacteria* (43). Another study comparing gut microbiota in 10 diet induced obese (DIO) mice that underwent RYGB to sham operated mice replicated the increased prevalence of *Proteobacteria*. The same group went on to transfer the gut microbiota from RYGB mice to germ free mice via caecal contents. This resulted in a significant decrease in PWL of $5.0\pm1.8\%$ after two weeks compared to germ free mice that were inoculated with gut microbiota from sham operated mice (44).

28

There have been two human studies assessing the effect of RYGB on gut microbiota. Zhang et al, examined the gut microbiota from three groups: RYGB operated, obese and normal weight. There were only three subjets per group. The RYGB operated group demonstrated a relative increase in Proteobacteria and decrease in Firmicutes post surgery, compared to the obese and normal weight volunteers. However, this small study had issues in methodology. Specifically, the post RYGB patients had their stool samples collected at different time points spread between 8-15 months. Additionally the pattern of weight loss after RYGB was heterogeneous, with two patients continuing to lose weight whilst one had a plateau in their weight loss (45). The postulated mechanisms by which changes in gut microbiota contribute to weight loss post RYGB include, a reduction in systemic inflammation and changes in short chain free fatty acids production, which potentially lead to increased gut hormone production and reduced energy harvesting from substrates(46).

1.3 Gut hormones

Whilst the mechanism by which RYGB is so effective remains elusive, there is an associated increase in various gut hormones post-surgery. An understanding of how these hormones regulate energy balance may help us to design effective anti-obesity treatments

1.3.1 Glucagon

Glucagon was first identified in the 1922 as a "hyperglycaemic factor of the pancreas" as part of studies investigating the effects of pancreatic extracts(47). It has emerged that glucagon has a key role not only in in glucose homeostasis, but also in energy balance, affecting both appetite(48) and energy expenditure(49).

1.3.1.1 Processing from the pro-glucagon

Pro-glucagon, the precursor of glucagon, was identified in 1983 by Bell *et al*(50). It consists of 160 amino acids and is expressed mainly in pancreatic α cells, in the gut L cells and in the CNS(51). Later studies have established that these cells exhibit differential posttranslational processing of this precursor to produce tissue specific hormones (Figure 1.2)(52,53).

1.3.1.2 Biological actions of glucagon

1.3.1.2.1 Glucose metabolism

The etymology of glucagon reveals its most well known function ie *gluc* and *agon* meaning sweet and to lead respectively. Glucagon increases plasma glucose levels via multiple mechanisms;

- Promotes glycogenolysis
- Inhibits glycogenesis

- Promotes gluconeogenesis
- Inhibits glycolysis

The net result of these effects is a rise in plasma glucose (54).

1.3.1.2.2 Lipid metabolism

Glucagon has two major actions on lipid metabolism. Firstly, chronic (21 days) subcutaneous injection of glucagon in rats results in a reduction of plasma cholesterol and triacylglycerol of 40 and 70%(55). The mechanism for this remains unclear but there is an associated increase in cholesterol transformation into bile acids(55). Alternatively, mouse studies have demonstrated that administration of glucagon to wild type mice resulted in an increase in beta oxidation of non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA). This effect may account for the increase in plasma triglycerides observed in glucagon knock out mice (56).

Glucagon also promotes promotes lipolysis in white adipocyte tissue(57). This is thought to relate to glucagon's action on stimulating hormone sensitive lipase, which in turn increases NEFA (58).

1.3.1.2.3 Food Intake

Glucagon at physiological levels reduces food intake in rats(59) and men(60). The evidence for this is twofold. Firstly, portal infusions of glucagon antibodies administered to rats prior to a meal result in

glucagon antagonism and increased food intake(61). Secondly, an infusion of glucagon at a physiological dose in man resulted in a reduction in food intake(62). The mechanism for the observed anorectic action of glucagon may be via vagal afferent stimulation, specifically the hepatic branch, as selective hepatic vagotomy results in attenuation of glucagon satiety effect(63).

1.3.1.2.4 Energy Expenditure

In addition to its action as an anorectic hormone, glucagon also increases energy expenditure, suggesting a potential dual action on achieving weight loss.

Glucagon role in increasing energy expenditure is supported by the observation of increased oxygen consumption in rats that were infused with pharmacological doses of glucagon(64). This increase in energy expenditure is thought to be mediated via brown adipose tissue (BAT), through uncoupling of the respiratory chain resulting in non-shivering thermogenesis. This is also supported by the observation that serum glucagon levels increase after cold exposure (a potent stimulator of BAT)(65).

Glucagon-stimulated increased oxygen consumption was blocked by the use of propranolol (a beta blocker) suggesting that glucagon exerts it effects on energy expenditure via the sympathetic nervous system(66). This is further supported by the observation that denervated BAT blunts thermogenesis induced by glucagon(67).

However a recent study by Salam *et al* failed to show an increase in metabolic activity in BAT following a glucagon infusion in man, despite evidence of an increase in energy expenditure(68). This suggests that the effect of glucagon on energy expenditure is independent of BAT. An alternative mechanism for glucagon stimulated energy expenditure is futile substrate cycling, in which cyclical metabolic pathways produce no net product but consume energy(69).

1.3.1.3 Glucagon in diabetes

Glucagon was first postulated as a potential factor in the pathogenesis of T2DM in the "bihormonal hypothesis" by Unger et al in the 1970's(70). This theory suggests that the cause of T2DM is not only a reduction in insulin but also dysfunctional secretion of glucagon. In support of this, patients with T2DM have higher baseline and postprandial glucagon levels compared to those with normal glucose tolerance(71). This is in contrast to the suppressed glucagon response to a carbohydrate meal in

subjects with normal glucose tolerance. Further evidence to support the role of glucagon in the pathology of diabetes is a study in which a glucagon receptor antibody administered to type 1 diabetic (T1DM) mice resulted in improvements in HbA1c.(72) In contrast to these findings, RYGB with normal glucose tolerance have elevated postprandial glucagon(73,74). In addition chronic administration of glucagon to Wistar rats resulted in reduced plasma glucose as opposed to any detrimental effect on glucose homeostasis(55).

1.3.2 Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)

1.3.2.1 Structure and processing of GLP-1

GLP-1, like glucagon and oxyntomodulin (OXM), is produced by posttranslational processing of pro-glucagon. The products of this process are tissue specific and dependent on the prevalence of prohormone convertases. Whilst GLP-1 and OXM are products of tissues that contain prohormone convertases 1/3, the presence of prohormone convertase 2 in pancreatic α cell yields glucagon (53,75). Total or full-length GLP-1 ₁₋₃₇ has limited biological activity. However, the removal of six amino acids from the N-terminal results in the two bioactive forms; GLP-1 ₇₋₃₇ and GLP-1 ₇₋₃₆ amide of which the latter is more predominant. Both bioactive forms have a short half-life of 1-2 minutes due to the activity of the ubiquitous enzyme Dipeptidyl-Peptidase 4 (DPP-4) which cleaves two amino acids to produce the biologically inactive GLP-1 ₉₋₃₆ amide(76). Active GLP-1 is also a substrate for the peptidase neprilysin (neutral endopeptidase 24.11)(77). In vitro studies have identified six cleavage sites in the central and C-terminal regions of the GLP-1 peptide that neprilysin acts on(78). These are

- 1. Glu^{27} -Phe²⁸
- 2. Trp^{31} -Leu³²
- 3. Asp^{15} -Val¹⁶
- 4. Ser^{18} -Tyr¹⁹
- 5. Tyr^{19} -Leu²⁰
- 6. Phe^{28} -Ile²⁹.

1.3.2.2 Distribution and secretion of GLP-1

GLP-1 is found in both the intestine and the CNS(51,79). Within the intestine, GLP-1 is secreted from the enteroendocrine L cell. L cells secrete multiple hormones including OXM and PYY(80,81). The peptide products of the L cell vary depending on their position within the gastrointestinal tract. The highest concentration of L cells secreting GLP-1 are found within the ileum(82).

GLP-1 expressing neurons are particularly prevalent in the caudal portion of the NTS(79). Ascending axons from GLP-1 producing neurons spread to the forebrain and brainstem regions associated with metabolic and autonomic control in the mouse, including the ARC, PVN, rostral ventrolateral medulla and DMN(83). These projections correlate well with the pattern of GLP-1R expression throughout the rat brain(84).

1.3.2.3 Regulation of GLP-1 release in the intestine

Intestinal GLP-1 secretion is linked to meal ingestion with release lowest in the fasting phase and highest in the postprandial phase(85). Carbohydrates, fats and proteins all stimulate GLP-1 release(86,87). There are multiple mechanisms by which L cell secretion of GLP-1 is linked to nutrient sensing and involves neural, paracrine and endocrine mechanisms.

Neural and hormonal mechanisms are particularly relevant to the acute phase of GLP-1 secretion (rapid rise in the first 30-60 minutes of eating). The vagal nerve can stimulate GLP-1 secretion as demonstrated in rat studies in which stimulation of the sub diaphragmatic vagus nerve results in an increase in plasma concentrations of GLP-1(88). Glucose dependent
insuliontrophic peptide (GIP) released from L cells on the proximal small bowel can also stimulate GLP-1 secretion (88).

The chronic phase of release is mediated by direct sensing of nutrients in the enteral lumen. Glucose sensing by enteroendocrine cells involves a number of mechanisms. A critical component of glucose sensing in the gut is Na⁺-coupled glucose uptake by sodium glucose transport protein 1 (SGLT1), which generates small currents that trigger depolarization and voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry(89). Glucose metabolism, involving glucokinase and the closure of ATP-sensitive (K_{ATP}) channels(90),and basolateral/plasma glucose concentration may also play a role in glucosestimulated gut hormone release.

1.3.2.4 Receptors and signalling cascades

The GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R), is a seven trans-membrane domain, Gprotein-coupled receptor (GPCR) in the secretin-like class B family(91). Expression of GLP-1R is distributed in pancreatic islets, lung, central and peripheral nervous system, stomach, kidney and heart (91,92).

GLP-1R binding by an agonist results in activation of two separate secondary messenger pathways. The first involves cAMP production via the Gs G-protein(93). An alternative pathway for stimulated cAMP involves recruitment of the scaffold protein ß-arrestin and downstream activation of ERK, CREB, and increased IRS-2 expression (94).

1.3.2.5 Biological actions of GLP-1

1.3.3.5.1 Glucose metabolism

GLP-1 has a number of actions that affect carbohydrate tolerance. Firstly it functions as an incretin hormone, (it is a hormone that increases circulating insulin levels in response to an oral glucose load relative to an intravenous challenge) (95). It stimulates pancreatic β cell proliferation and differentiation(96), insulin gene expression(97) and insulin secretion and is capable of normalising the blunted insulin responses to glucose seen in type 2 diabetic patients(98). In addition to its insulintropic effect, GLP-1 also suppresses glucagon release in a glucose-dependent fashion from α cells, likely via somatostatinergic mechanisms (99,100). In addition, the effects of GLP-1 on gastric emptying(101) and food intake(102) also contribute to a net reduction in postprandial glucose levels.

1.3.3.5.2 Food Intake

GLP-1 has been shown to inhibit food intake in both rats as well as man(103-105). In rats this anorectic effect has been observed with both central and peripheral administration of GLP-1(103,104). GLP-1's

anorectic effect is likely due to a combination of peripheral and central action. Delayed gastric emptying subsequent to GLP-1 administration is likely to contribute to its anorectic effect(106), although it has been reported that this effect may be temporary due to tachyphylaxis(107). The central action of GLP-1 is demonstrated by the activation of multiple areas within the brain including the PVN, SON of the hypothalamus, NTS and AP(108-110). However, the mechanism is likely to be independent of activation of the MC4R as studies using a MC4R antagonist (AgRP(83-132) did not attenuate GLP-1's anorectic effect(111).

Evidence of a vagus mediated anorectic effect of GLP-1 is demonstrated by the presence of the GLP-1R gene expression in the vagal nodose ganglion(112) and that a truncal vagotomy yields a reduction in GLP-1's effect on food intake(110).

1.3.3.5.3 Cardiovascular actions

Beyond GLP-1 actions on glucose metabolism and weight loss it also noted to have an important impact on the cardiovascular system(113). These effects include an increase in heart rate(114), a lowering of blood pressure(115) and an improvement in vascular endothelial dysfunction which is a risk factor for atherosclerosis(116). The mechanism underlying the rise in heart rate and the clinical significance of this remains unknown The benefits on blood pressure may be due to increased natriuresis(117) or vasodilation(118). These effects (except the increase in heart rate) suggest a cardio-protective effect and this has been observed in clinical trials(119).

1.3.2.6 GLP-1 physiology in T2DM

The potential of GLP-1 as a treatment for T2DM is based on the following observations on GLP-1 and the pathology of T2DM. Firstly, patients with T2DM have a reduction in postprandial GLP-1 which may contribute the attenuation in stimulated insulin secretion(120). Secondly, patients with T2DM continue to be sensitive to the incretin effects of exogenous GLP-1, unlike GIP, where the incretin effect is significantly blunted in these patients Lastly, infusion of GLP-1 rapidly normalises hyperglycaemia in patients with T2DM(99,117)

This has lead to the rapid development to a number of GLP-1 analogues that have been designed to be resistant to DPP-4 and so prolong their half life relative to the native peptide. The first of these is exenatide (exendin-4, Bristol-Meyers Squibb). Exenatide was originally isolated from the saliva of the Gila monster lizard. It shares a 53% homology with human GLP-1 and is given as a subcutaneous (SC) injection twice a day. An improvement in HbA1c by 0.8-1.11% and reduction in weight between 1.6 to 2.8 kg has been reported with twice daily exenatide (121). The most common side effect with exenatide is that of nausea and vomiting, both of which attenuate with time and are reduced by a slow titration up in dose.

However, dissatisfaction with a therapy that requires self-injection twice a day has resulted in the pharmaceutical development of GLP-1 treatments moving forward in two separate pathways.

As an alternative to injectable GLP-1 analogues is the development of oral DPP4 inhibitors that act to increase endogenous GLP-1 levels. Examples of these include sitagliptin, vidagliptin and satagliptin. Sitagliptin is taken once a day and causes a reduction in HbA1c of 0.7%(122). However, one drawback of the gliptins is that they are weight neutral.

The alternative approach has been to attempt to improve patient satisfaction by prolonging the half-life of GLP-1 agonists. The first of these was liraglutide (Novo Nordisk). This analogue is 97% identical to native GLP-1, but contains an amino acid substitution (K34R) to allow a

palmitate fatty acid group to be linked via a γ - glutamic acid spacer. The fatty acid group binds to albumin, increasing the half-life of liraglutide to 13 hours. In contrast to the DPP4 inhibitors, liraglutide can generate weight loss and is now licensed for the management of obesity by the FDA. Phase 3 trials of liraglutide given SC daily have shown a weight loss of 5.6% subtracted from placebo(123).



Figure 1.2 Proglucagon cleavage. Proglucagon expression is centred in the pancreas, GI tract and brain. Glucagon is the primary secretory product in the pancreas, whereas GLP-1 and OXM production takes place

mainly in the GI tract and brain. Abbreviations: GRPP, glicentin-related polypeptide; IP, intervening peptide; GI, gastrointestinal; GLP, glucagon-like peptide; MPGF, major pro-glucagon fragment. Location in the pro-glucagon peptide sequence is indicated by numbers. Adapted from Field *et al* (124).

1.3.3 OXM

1.3.3.1 OXM- discovery and structure

OXM derives its name for its ability to modulate gastric acid secretion from gastric oxyntic glands(125). It was initially identified in 1968 from with gastric extracts that cross-reacted glucagon in radioimmunoassays(126). However, it was in 1981 when the structure of OXM was elucidated. It is a 37 amino acid peptide that contains the entire 29 amino acid sequence of glucagon combined with 8 amino acid carboxy-terminal extension. It is a product of post-translational of the preproglucagon precursor. Production of OXM is tissue specific and dependent on the presence of prohormone convertase 1/3(53,75). OXM has a similar distribution to GLP-1; ileum, jejunum, colon as well as neurons in the NTS and hindbrain.

1.3.3.2 Secretion of OXM

OXM is released from the intestinal L cells 5–10 minutes after meal ingestion, in amounts proportional to the calorie intake (127,128). Circulating levels of OXM peak at around 30 min after ingestion(129).

OXM demonstrates a diurnal variation, independent of food intake, with levels highest in the evening and lowest in the early morning(128).

1.3.3.3 OXM signalling

At present, no separate OXM receptor has been identified. However, OXM binds to and is an equipotent agonist of both the GLP-1 and glucagon receptors, although it affinity to those receptors is reduced relative to their cognates (130).

1.3.3.3.1 OXM and GLP-1 receptor.

Evidence that anorectic actions of OXM are mediated via the GLP-1 receptor is based on the following two observations. Firstly, the weight loss seen in wild type mice injected with OXM is abolished in GLP-1R - /- mice(131). Secondly, the administration of exendin₉₋₃₉ (a GLP-1 antagonist) into the cerebral ventricles of mice inhibits the anorectic actions of both GLP-1 and OXM(131).

There is emerging data that OXM binding to the GLP-1R may have a differing biological actions than GLP-1. This is based on contrasting secondary messenger recruitment. Specifically OXM is a functional antagonist in β -arrestin 2 activation. This distinction in signalling may

also account for the observed difference in hypothalamic pathway activation between OXM and GLP-1(132).

1.3.3.2 OXM and the glucagon receptor

Whereas the anorectic actions of OXM were abolished in GLP-1R knockout mice, there were other effects that persisted such as increased heart rate, energy expenditure and glycogenolysis(131). It has been postulated that these actions are mediated via the glucagon receptor. Evidence to support this comes from experiments that have utilized an OXM analogue that has been modified via a mutation of gln to glu at position 3. The resultant analogue known as OXMQ3E, has diminished binding of the glucagon receptor(133). Studies comparing OXM to OXMQ3E have demonstrated the former induces greater glycogenolysis, weight loss, and reduction in lipid levels(134). This suggests that activation of the glucagon receptor is relevant to the weight loss observed with OXM.

1.3.3.4 Biological actions of OXM

1.3.3.4.1 Weight loss

OXM causes weight loss in humans and rodents(131,135-138). Overweight and obese subjects receiving SC administration three times daily of OXM (400 nmol pre-prandially) over a 4-week period resulted in an average weight loss of 2.3 kg(139).

In animal studies, OXM was shown to lower body weight as well as increase core temperature compared to a pair-fed group. This implies that some of the weight loss produced by OXM is mediated via an increase in energy expenditure(136,138). This effect was later confirmed by indirect calorimetry(131).

In humans, the there is an acute anorectic effect of exogenous OXM which is sustained with chronic administration(135,139). Furthermore, in overweight and obese volunteers, SC self- administered OXM was effective at reducing weight due to a combination of reduced food intake and increased energy expenditure(137).

1.3.3.4.2 Glucose metabolism

OXM improves glucose metabolism in both mice and men(140,141). Similar to GLP-1, the mechanism for this could be due to an incretin effect and a reduction in gastric emptying(142,143).

1.3.4 Peptide YY (PYY)

PYY is a peptide hormone that was first isolated from porcine small intestine in 1980(144). Its name reflects a high proportion of tyrosine residues, specifically one at both the N- and C-terminals.

1.3.4.1 Structure of PYY

PYY is a 36 amino acid peptide hormone. It is a member of the PP fold family that includes PP and NPY which all share a common hairpin-like U-shaped fold tertiary structure.

1.3.4.2 Processing of PYY

The precursor of PPY is pre-proPYY which has an additional signal peptide, and a C-terminal extension peptide that are joined to PYY (145). Processing of pre-proPYY involves cleavage of the signal peptide, amidation of the C-terminal tyrosine, which is necessary for biological activity, and proteolytic cleavage by a prohormone convertase to give PYY1-36, the 36 amino acid form of the peptide, which is secreted. The secreted PYY1-36 is a target for DPP-4 which cleaves the amino terminal tyrosine proline dipeptide to generate PYY3-36, which is both the biological active and predominant circulating form of PYY(146,147).

1.3.4.3 Distribution and secretion of PYY

PYY is secreted from the entero-endocrine L cells of the gastrointestinal tract, Whilst L cells are distributed throughout the small and large bowel,

PYY expression progressively increases from the small bowel to its highest concentration in the rectum (148).PYY is also produced in the gigantocellular reticular nucleus of the hindbrain and the pancreas.(149,150)

Plasma levels of PYY peak at 1-2 hours following a meal and remain elevated for up to 6 hours(148).Calorie and macronutrient content are independent factors in determining the amount of PYY secreted. The peak postprandial levels of PYY are proportionate to the calorific content of food ingested(151). It remains clear which macronutrient is the most potent stimulator of PYY secretion. Studies investigating different isocaloric meals of different macronutrient content have demonstrated that protein is the most potent macronutrient stimulus for PYY release, followed by fat and then carbohydrate(152). However, when an intraduodenal route was used, fat was more potent than protein in promoting PPY release(153).

Neural or hormonal regulation may be more relevant to PYY release, as studies in humans have shown that circulating PPY starts to rise 15 minutes postprandially, before direct stimulation of the L cell is likely to occur. (154).

1.3.4.4 PYY Receptors

PYY binds to the Y family of G protein coupled receptors. In mammals, five receptor subtypes have been cloned, namely Y1, Y2, Y4, Y5 and Y6(155). In humans, PYY1-36 binds to all receptors in the Y family (Y1, Y2, Y4 and Y5). PYY3-36, the predominant circulating form of PYY, is more selective for the Y2 and Y5 receptors, and has a lesser affinity for Y1 and Y4 receptors(156)

1.3.4.5 Biological Actions of PYY

1.3.4.5.1 Inhibition of Appetite and Food Intake

PYY 3-36 has an inhibitory effect on food intake in rats when injected peripherally or centrally into the ARC(157). This anorexic effect is lost when PYY3-36 is given centrally to Y2 receptor null mice suggesting that the satiating action of PYY3-36 is mediated via Y2(157). The effects of PYY3-36 on food intake are reduced in both Y1 receptor and Y5 receptor null mice, implying that Y1 and Y5 receptors also play a part in central control of appetite (158). Nevertheless, the predominant receptor mediating PYY3-36 anorectic action is likely to be the Y2 receptor(159). This is supported by the fact that a selective Y2 receptor antagonist, when injected into the ARC, blocks the anorexigenic effect of peripherally administered PYY3-36(160).

Further evidence demonstrating the physiological role of PYY in appetite regulation is demonstrated by observations regarding *PYY*- null mice. They are known to be hyperphagic(152) and MRI imaging demonstrates that they have greater levels of fat than controls(152).Treatment with PYY3-36 revers their obesity phenotype(152).

The anorexic effect of PYY3-36 is also applicable to humans as observed when an acute intravenous infusion (dosed to replicate postprandial levels) resulted in a reduction in food intake in both non-obese and obese individuals. These healthy subjects also had a significant reduction in the subjective feeling of hunger as assessed by visual analogue scores (VAS)(157).

The mechanism of PYY's anorectic action is multifactorial. There is a contribution of central inhibition of appetite, specifically an inhibition of the orexigenic NPY/AgRP neurons within the hypothalamus. PYY3-36 when administered directly into the ARC, acts via pre synaptic Y2 receptors to inhibit NPY/AgRP(157). Exposure to PYY3-36 results in suppression of *Npy* mRNA(157). Furthermore, electrophysiology studies showed that PYY3-36 activates anorexigenic POMC/CART neurons(157). The proposed mechanism for this was a reduction in the GABA-mediated tonic inhibition of the anorexigenic POMC/CART

neurons by the NPY/AgRP neurons. However, in contrast to this observation, PYY3-36 administration produces weight loss in the POMC knock-out mouse(161). Furthermore, there is now evidence that PYY 3-36 inhibits POMC neurons via a post synaptic Y2 receptor(162).

The presence of Y2 receptors on the vagal nerve implicates its involvement in the anorectic action of PYY3-36(163). Vagel affernts Furthermore vagotomy abolished the anorectic effects of IV PYY3-36(163).

However, peripherally administered PYY3-36 is still able to activate POMC/CART neurons in the ARC even with vagotomy(163).Therefore, PYY3-36 can suppress food intake via two sites of action, the hypothalamus and the vagus nerve. A further indirect mode of inhibition of appetite is that in humans, administration of PYY3-36 resulted in a decrease in the orexigenic hormone ghrelin(164).

1.3.4.5.2 Effects on Glucose Metabolism

Two separate observations support a role for PYY in glucose homeostasis. Firstly, both *pyy* and Y1 receptor knock out mice exhibit hyperinsulinaemia(165,166). Secondly, pancreatic islets cells express PYY, specifically α and δ but not β cells(167). This suggests a potential paracrine role.

PYY1-36 and PYY 3-36 have contrasting effects on glucose homoestasis. Whilst the administration of PYY1-36 to isolated islet cells results in a decrease in glucose dependent insulin secretion(168), injections of PYY3-36 or Y2 receptor agonist to rodents improves glucose homeostasis(169-171).

The postulated paracrine effect of PYY is likely to be specific to PYY1-36 as mRNA encoding Y1 and Y4 receptors has been detected in both human and mouse islets(166,172). Y2 receptor mRNA in islets cell has not been detected suggesting any effect of PYY3-36 on insulin secretion is indirect(173).

Alternative mechanisms by which PYY3-36 may affect glucose homeostasis include an increase in either GLP-1 secretion or insulin sensitivity(169,174). Evidence supporting a role for PYY3-36 stimulation of GLP-1 comes from mouse studies by Chandarana *et al* that demonstrated an increase in the concentration of GLP-1 within the hepatic portal vein following injection of PYY3-36, with no increase observed in the systemic circulation. Chandarana *et al* have also demonstrated that the improvement in glucose homeostasis observed after PYY3-36 injection is diminished in the presence of the GLP-1 antagonist, Exendin9-39(174). An improvement in insulin sensitivity has been demonstrated by van den Hoek *et al* using euglycaemic clamp studies involving PYY3-36 infusions in mice. However, as this study did not measure GLP-1 concentrations during the PYY3-36 infusion, it remains unclear whether effect may relate to GLP-1(169).

Whilst the above *in vitro* and rodent studies support the role of PPY in glucose regulation, there are conflicting data obtained from human studies. Sloth *et al*, using a 0.2 pmol/kg/min infusion of PYY3-36 in man demonstrated an increase in insulin secretion(175). However, an infusion of 0.15 pmol/kg/min of PYY3-36 by Tan *et al*, in humans during an Intravenous Glucose Tolerance Test (IVGTT) demonstrated neither an increased insulin sensitivity nor insulin secretion (176). However, the contradictory data may reflect the multiple differences in methodologies such as different doses of PYY and alternative deliveries of glucose (via an oral route by Sloth *et al* relative to an intravenous route by *Tan et al*).

1.3.5 Evidence that gut hormones are important in weight loss after RYGB

Whilst the mechanism behind the rapid improvement in diabetes and sustained weight loss after RYGB remains unclear, changes in levels of gut hormones have been postulated as being responsible. Post RYGB subjects when given a meal or glucose challenge have postprandial levels of gut hormones that are significantly higher than weight matched controls given the same stimulus (177-179). These increased postprandial levels of GLP-1 and PYY are seen early after the operation and this change appears durable (180). Interestingly, the meal stimulated rise in PYY increments persists over the course of a year but this does not occur with GLP-1 (181,182). There is currently no data on how long circulating OXM remains elevated following surgery.

Elevated postprandial levels of glucagon after RYGB are increasingly being recognised(73,74,183). There is discordance in the literature over how long this increase persists, with some studies reporting elevated levels for two weeks to three months before returning to pre-surgery levels at one year(73,74) whilst other demonstrating a persistently raised postprandial glucagon level at one year (184). Elevated glucagon following bariatric surgery is an interesting observation. Whilst its role in increasing energy expenditure and reducing appetite would correlate with the weight loss observed after RYGB, the expected hyperglycaemia induced by glucagon is inconsistent with amelioration in diabetes that occurs post-operatively. It is possible that any glucagon-induced hyperglycaemia in counterbalanced by the elevated post-prandial incretins.

Although these data suggest that the increased secretion of gut hormones are important in the observed weight loss after RYGB, there is a paucity of evidence that directly links the two phenomena. There is some evidence from rodent models. Chandarana *et al.* created a mouse model of RYGB that led to greater weight loss than sham operated mice (185). This difference in weight loss was not present in *Pyy* knockout mice, suggesting that PYY secretion was a key factor in mediating the weight loss, at least in this particular surgical model of RYGB.

1.4 Postprandial Hypoglycaemia- a metabolic complication of RYGB surgery

The RYGB operation is considered a relatively safe surgical procedure. It has a 30-day mortality of 1 in 200 giving it a safety profile comparable to

other elective procedures such as a laparoscopic cholecystectomy(39). However, as the rate of RYGB operations increases in response to the rapid rise in obesity, previously rare metabolic complications are becoming more common. An example of this is postprandial hypoglycaemia (PPH). PPH in the context of RYGB was first reported in a case series of 6 patients in 2005. Since this first recognition of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycaemia after RYGB, there has been a dramatic rise in cases reports as well as studies aimed at exploring the pathology and treatment of this condition.

1.4.1 Incidence of PPH

The reported incidence of PPH post RYGB is reported as 0.1%(186). However, this study has several limitations. It was a retrospective review of a Swedish database of surgical patients. As such it was dependent on self-reporting of a condition that remains under recognised by both patients and physicians.

1.4.2 Pathogenesis of PPH

Data regarding this is conflicting. In the first case series of PPH, Service *et al*, went on to perform partial pancreatectomies on his cohort of six patients(187). A comparison analysis between the histopathology of pancreata between the PPH patient and a control group revealed islet cell hyperplasia. It was subsequently postulated that RYGB may result in a

form of nesidioblastosis. However, when another group reanalysed the pancreata from this cohort and compared the histology to a BMI matched control set, there was no significant difference in the size of the β cell, implying that the features observed in the pancreata were secondary to obesity as opposed to RYGB(188). It should also be noted that of the six patients in the original cohort who were operated on, 50% had recurrence of symptoms(187).

Since then, there has been speculation within the literature as to the whether the altered hormonal milieu that occurs after RYGB may account for the hyperinsulineamic hypoglycaemia. Specifically, it has been postulated that the elevated levels of GLP-1, an insulinotropic hormone, could be the causative factor. Studies investigating this hypothesis have produced conflicting data. Goldfine et al have demonstrated elevated fasting and post prandial levels of GLP-1 in a group of 12 patients with PPH in comparison to 12 asymptomatic RYGB patients(189). Furthermore, Salehi et al infused exendin 9-39 (a GLP-1 antagonist) in patients with PPH and demonstrated amelioration in biochemical hypoglycaemia. However, in contrast to these results, patients with PPH who undergo reversal of their operation have a reduction in their GLP-1 levels but do not see an improvement in their symptoms(190). Also conflicting with this is a case series of patients with PPH that have successfully been treated with liraglutide, a GLP-1 analogue(191).

1.5 Aim of Studies

This thesis will describe investigation of post RYGB physiology, focusing on glucagon, GLP-1, OXM and PYY. Specifically, these studies have examined:

- The effects of co-infusion of glucagon and GLP-1 on carbohydrate tolerance after a standard mixed meal test.
- The effects of chronic co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on food intake
- The hormonal milieu in postprandial hypoglycaemia

1.6 Hypotheses

The presented studies have addressed the following specific hypotheses.

1.Co-infusion with GLP-1 and glucagon will attenuate the hyperglycaemia observed when glucagon is administered alone

2. Co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY can reduce food intake

3. GLP-1 is elevated patients with postprandial hypoglycaemia.

Chapter 2:

The acute effects of co-infusion of glucagon and GLP-1 on carbohydrate tolerance in humans

2.1 Introduction

Currently, the most effective treatment for obesity is RYGB surgery, resulting in a mean 27% sustained reduction in pre-surgical weight(192). In addition, there is a rapid improvement in glycaemic control that occurs shortly after surgery suggesting mechanisms independent of weight loss(193,194). The mechanism by which RYGB achieves weight loss and diabetes remission remains unclear. The associated postprandial increase in a number of gut hormones suggests a potential causative mechanism(177). One such gut hormone is GLP-1; a 36 amino acid peptide secreted postprandially from enteral L cells in response to macronutrients. GLP-1 has multiple actions that could contribute to the metabolic benefits observed after RYGB, including a satiating effect(102), a delay in gastric emptying(101), an insulinotropic action (the so-called incretin effect)(95), and suppression of glucagon secretion (195).

These observations have led to the development of GLP-1 receptor agonists that are currently used in the treatment of obesity and diabetes(196). However, the therapeutic potential of these medications has been effected by dose-limiting nausea. As a result, the weight loss induced by GLP-1 agonists is modest relative to RYGB surgery(123). Combining GLP-1 with other gut hormones that are elevated after RYGB may result in greater weight loss. One potential example of this is the combination of GLP-1 with glucagon.

Glucagon is a 29 amino acid peptide secreted from the α cells of the pancreas. It stimulates gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis, which in turn increases plasma glucose. Despite promoting hyperglycaemia, glucagon has many other actions that make it an attractive anti-obesity therapeutic agent, including an increase in satiety, a reduction in food intake, and an increase in resting energy expenditure(49,62,197).

The rationale for the development of dual GLP-1/glucagon treatments reflects previous studies of another gut hormone, the 37 amino acid peptide OXM. Following RYGB, plasma OXM concentrations increase(179). Administration of OXM to healthy overweight and obese volunteers, causes a reduction in appetite, weight and an increase in energy expenditure(135,139). Interestingly, OXM has no known specific receptor but is a weak agonist of both the GLP-1 and glucagon receptors(130). Furthermore, OXM has a longer half life than either GLP-1 or glucagon. Hence, it has been postulated that the benefits of OXM are mediated via dual agonism of GLP-1 and glucagon receptors.

This hypothesis has been supported by a series of studies. Two separate groups have tested dual GLP-1/glucagon agonists and demonstrated greater weight loss in rodents than achievable with GLP-1 agonists alone(198,199). An earlier study from this department has co-infused sub-anorectic doses of glucagon and GLP-1 in rodents, demonstrating greater appetite suppression than with administration of either individual peptide(200), and this observation was replicated more recently in human volunteers(201). Furthermore, it has been shown that the addition of glucagon to GLP-1 produces a significant increase in energy expenditure when compared to saline or GLP-1 alone(49). These data not only support the notion that dual agonism of GLP-1 and glucagon receptors mediates the effects of OXM, but also highlights its potential as an anti-obesity treatment.

Historically, glucagon's deleterious effects on glucose metabolism have prevented its development as a treatment for obesity. The addition of GLP-1 to glucagon may ameliorate glucagon's hyperglycaemic effect. The observation of attenuation in postprandial glucose levels with GLP-1 and glucagon, relative to glucagon alone is consistent with this, (201). However, conclusions from this study should be interpreted with caution as an *ad libitum* meal, rather than a standardised meal, was used. Hence, the significant reduction in food intake achieved following co-

infusion of glucagon and GLP-1 relative to glucagon alone might explain the reduction in postprandial glucose concentration.

Further support for the attenuation of postprandial hyperglycaemia by combining GLP-1 with glucagon comes from observations in patients after RYGB. In addition to the established rise in GLP-1, there is a parallel exaggerated elevation in plasma glucagon after ingestion of a mixed meal, with a doubling in peak postprandial levels relative to levels(73,74,183). RYGB fasting As patients have improved carbohydrate tolerance, this suggests that either glucagon in this setting does not cause an elevation in postprandial glycaemia, or that the levels observed raised GLP-1 attenuate any glucagon-induced hyperglycaemia.

At present, no study has evaluated the effects of a co-infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon infusion on carbohydrate tolerance in man. To address this, I have studied the effects of infusions of GLP-1 and glucagon, either individually or in combination, on glucose tolerance.

2.2 Hypothesis and aims

2.2.1 Hypothesis

The hyperglycaemic effects of intravenous glucagon can be attenuated by the co-administration if intravenous GLP-1 in man.

2.2.2 Aim

To investigate the acute effects of co-infusion of glucagon and GLP-1 on glucose tolerance in healthy, overweight volunteers.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Peptides

Glucagon and GLP-1₇₋₃₆ amide were purchased from Novo Nordisk (Crawley, UK) and Bachem Ltd (Switzerland) respectively. Glucagon was dissolved in the solvent provided by Novo Nordisk (1 ml water for injection, lactose monohydrate, hydrochloric acid and sodium hydroxide for pH adjustment) whilst GLP-1₇₋₃₆ amide was dissolved in 1 ml sterile 0.9% saline (Bayer, Haywards Heath, UK). Gelofusine was supplied by B. Braun Medical Ltd (Sheffield, UK).

2.3.2 Subjects

Ten healthy overweight volunteers, 6 men and 4 women, of mean age 31.9 ± 10.2 years (range 20 - 49 years), mean weight 81.1 ± 8.0 kg (range 67.4-93.0kg), mean height 1.72 ± 0.07 m (range1.63-1.86m), mean BMI 27.4 ± 2.04 kg/m² (range 25.1-30.4kg/m²) were recruited. Inclusion criteria were: age 18 years and over, BMI of 25-35 kg/m², with stable weight for at least three months. Exclusion criteria were: history of any medical, psychological or other condition, or use of any medications, including over-the-counter products, which, in the opinion of the investigators, would either interfere with the study or potentially cause harm to the

volunteer, without access at home to a telephone, or any other factor likely to interfere with the ability to participate reliably in the study, history of hypersensitivity to any of the components of the infusions, treatment with an investigational drug within the preceding 2 months or who had donated blood during the preceding 3 months or intention to do so before the end of the study. Women who were currently pregnant, breastfeeding or unable to maintain adequate contraception for the duration of the study and for one month afterwards were also excluded.

All subjects were screened and determined to be in normal health (or have no significant disease process), by medical history, physical examination, 12 lead electrocardiogram and routine biochemistry and haematology. Women of child bearing age were advised to avoid pregnancy during the study and underwent urine tests to exclude pregnancy prior to each study. Any abnormal eating behavior was assessed using the Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (DEBQ) and the SCOFF questionnaire(202,203). The study was approved by the Hammersmith & Queen Charlotte's Ethics Committee (reference no. 10/H0707/80). All subjects gave written informed consent, and the study was planned and performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and Good Clinical Practice.

2.3.3 Protocol

Each subject attended for five study visits. The first visit was to acclimatise the subject to the clinical environment and to experimental procedures. This acclimatisation visit was run in identical fashion to subsequent, randomised double-blinded visits, except that the infusion always consisted only of vehicle. Data from the acclimatisation visit were not included in the analysis. The subsequent four visits followed a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomised. crossover design comparing four different infusions: (1) Vehicle alone (Gelofusine $\mathbb{R} - B$. Braun Medical Ltd, Sheffield, UK); (2) glucagon alone (1.4 pmol/kg/min); (3) GLP-1₇₋₃₆ amide alone (0.4 pmol/kg/min); (4) combination (glucagon + GLP-17-36 amide together (1.4 pmol/kg/min and 0.4 pmol/kg/min respectively)). A sub-anorectic dose of GLP-1 previously reported in the literature was used(102,201,204). This dose has been previously shown to produce plasma active GLP-1 concentrations of 15-20 pmol/l, similar to concentrations observed in post-prandial RYGB patients(205,206).

With regards to glucagon, in a previous study, nausea was experienced by three of the 13 volunteers during infusion with 2.8 pmol/kg/min of glucagon(201). Given that the nausea uniformly occurred in the postprandial state, the current study protocol incorporated a lower dose of

glucagon. Previous studies have used infusions of glucagon at 0.86 pmol/kg/min to reproduce the non-suppressed plasma glucagon levels observed in diabetes patients(207). We administered a dose of 1.4 pmol/kg/min to simulate the elevated postprandial glucagon levels seen following RYGB(208). The randomisation was carried out by an independent clinician not otherwise involved in the study.

In order to limit adsorption of peptide to the infusion apparatus Gelofusine® was used as the vehicle for all peptide infusions, to dissolve the contents of the randomised vials of peptide and to prime all syringes and infusion lines(209). Each peptide was drawn up under sterile conditions in a separate 50 ml syringe and, to allow the use of two different infusion rates, delivered by a separate syringe driver (Graseby 3100, SIMS Graseby Ltd, Watford, UK, or Asena GH Mk III, Alaris Medical Systems Ltd, Basingstoke, UK). Thus, on a visit when the volunteer received only one peptide, the second syringe delivered vehicle only, set at the delivery rate calculated for the other hormone.

During the 24-hour period prior to each study visit, participants refrained from strenuous exercise and alcohol consumption. They fasted from 10 p.m. the night before the study, drinking only water. On the morning of each study visit, participants attended a dedicated Clinical Investigation

Unit at the Hammersmith Hospital. Female participants had a urine ßhCG test to exclude pregnancy before the peptide infusion was started. Two cannulae were inserted into the participant's peripheral veins. One cannula was used for sampling, and the other one was used to administer peptide infusion. The infusion containing the peptide hormone(s) was started at 0 minutes. In order to rapidly achieve a steady state, ramping of the gut hormone infusions was performed. Ramping was carried out at four times the nominal infusion rate for five minutes, then twice the nominal infusion rate for a further five minutes, and was then reduced to the nominal rate for the remainder of the 220 minute infusion. At 30 minutes, a meal was served, consisting of liquid (Ensure Plus, 13.8 g of protein, 10.8 g of fat, 44.4 g of carbohydrates, 330 kcal, 220 ml, Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL) and solid components (Nutri-Grain bar, 1.5 g of protein, 3 g of fat, 26 g of carbohydrates, 133 kcal, Kellogg Company, UK). Participants were allowed 10 minutes to consume the meal. The hormone infusion continued for 220 minutes in total. Participants remained in the study room for 60 minutes following termination of the infusion, at which point the cannulae were removed. The participant was then discharged home.

Blood samples were collected at 0, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 115, 130, 145, 160, 190, and 200 minutes, into lithium heparin-coated BD

Vacutainer tubes (International Scientific Supplies Ltd, Bradford, UK) containing 1000 kallikrein inhibitor units (0.1ml) (Trasylol, Bayer Scherin Pharma, Berlin, Germany) for gut hormone analysis. In addition, blood samples were collected into plain serum Vacutainer tubes containing clot activators and fluoride oxalate tubes for insulin and glucose assay respectively. The insulin samples were allowed to clot for ten minutes at room temperature, after which they were centrifuged and separated and stored at -20°C until analysis. All other samples underwent immediate centrifugation at 4°C, after which plasma was promptly separated and stored at -20°C until analysis.

The pulse and blood pressure of each subject was measured at t=0, 15, 30, 60, 100, 130, 160, and 220 minutes. Volunteers asked to complete a VAS sheet (appendix 1) at the same time points as pulse and blood pressure.

2.3.4 Plasma Hormone and Other Assays

2.3.4.1 Glucose and insulin

Plasma glucose and serum insulin samples were analysed in the Department of Chemical Pathology, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust. Plasma glucose was assayed using an Abbott Architect automated analyser (Maidenhead, UK), utilizing a hexokinase- glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase method. The analytical range was 0.278–44.4 mmol/L, with an intra-assay coefficient of variation of 0.65–1.98% and an interassay coefficient of variation of 0.84–0.93%. Serum insulin was measured on an Abbott Architect platform using Abbott reagents which has a intra-assay coefficient of variation of 10%.

2.3.4.2 Glucagon

Glucagon was measured using established in-house radioimmunoassays (RIAs)(127). All samples were assayed in duplicate. Glucagon was purchased from Bachem Ltd (Switzerland). All other reagents and materials were supplied by Sigma (Poole, Dorset, UK). The glucagon labels were prepared by Professor M. Ghatei (Professor of Regulatory Peptides, Metabolic Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College) who iodinated the peptide using the iodogen method and was purified by reverse-phase HPLC.

Assays were performed in veronal buffer (11 distilled water containing 10.3g sodium barbitone, 0.3g sodium azide), at pH 8 with 0.3% BSA (and 0.02% Tween for the GLP-1 assay) (VWR, UK). Standard curves were prepared in assay buffer at 0.5 pmol/ml for glucagon, added in duplicate at volumes of 1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 50 and 100 μ l. The glucagon antibody (RCS5) was raised in rabbits against the C-terminal of glucagon
and is therefore specific for pancreatic glucagon. It does not cross react with either glicentin or oxyntomodulin. The antibody was used at a dilution of 1:50000. Experimental samples of 50 µl, 100 µl glucagon antibody solution and 100 μ l of glucagon label solution were used and all tubes were buffered to a total volume of 700 μ l with assay buffer. The assays were incubated for 96 hours at 4°C. Free peptide was separated from bound using charcoal adsorption. To each tube, 4 mg of charcoal, suspended in 0.06 M phosphate buffer with gelatine was added immediately prior to centrifugation. The samples were then centrifuged at 1500 rpm, 4°C, for 20 minutes. Bound and free label were separated and both the pellet and supernatant counted for 180 seconds in a γ -counter (model NE1600, Thermo Electron Corporation). Plasma glucagon concentrations in the samples were calculated using a non-linear plot (RIA Software, Thermo Electron Corporation) and results calculated in terms of the standard.

2.3.4.3 Active GLP-1

Active GLP-1 immunoreactivity was measured using a commercially available ELISA kit (Millipore Corporation, MA, USA), with the following specificities: GLP-17-36amide 100%, GLP-17-37 72%, GLP-11-36 OR GLP-11-37 <2%.

2.3.4.4 Measure of β cell sensitivity and function

The Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) which is a measure of insulin resistance in the fasting state (210)was measured using the HOMA-IR2 calculator by the Oxford Diabetes Trial Unit(211).

The insulinogenic index is a measure of β cell function and is calculated as the ratio of change in insulin from fasting to 30 minutes post meal to the change in glucose from fasting to 30 minutes post meal(212).

2.3.5 Statistical Analysis

All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM unless specified. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used to compare differences in glucose, insulin, pulse, blood pressure and VAS scores at specific time points. One-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* test was used to compare differences between AUC insulin and glucose. Statistical significance was defined as P<0.05.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Gut hormone assays

Mean plasma concentration of active GLP-1 30 minutes before the infusion was 6.63 ± 0.13 pmol/l. In the experimental groups receiving GLP-1 alone or GLP-1 combined with glucagon, the mean concentration rose to 11.57 ± 0.51 pmol/l. There was no significant difference in the concentration of active GLP-1 between those that received GLP-1 alone or in combination with glucagon (Figure 2.1A). Mean plasma concentration of glucagon 30 minutes prior to infusion was 18.90 ± 2.22 pmol/l, rising to 70.97 ± 5.51 pmol/l at 30 minutes in those receiving glucagon, as a single infusion or in combination with GLP-1 (Figure 2.1B).



Figure 2.1 Plama active GLP-1 (A) and glucagon (B) concentrations after hormone infusion. Data are given as mean \pm SEM. Duration of infusion denoted by labelled grey hashed bar. A mixed meal was given at T=30 minutes (shown by arrow). N = 10 for each infusion.

2.4.2 Glucose and Insulin results

The effects of vehicle, glucagon, GLP-1 or GLP-1/glucagon in combination on plasma glucose and serum insulin are shown in Figure 2.2. Prior to infusion, mean plasma glucose was 5.12 ± 0.08 mmol/l with no significant difference between groups. In the vehicle group, mean plasma glucose was constant for the first 30 minutes, but then rose in response to consuming the mixed meal to 6.12 ± 0.45 mmol/l at 80 minutes. Mean plasma glucose then returned to a baseline level at 160 minutes. In all infusion groups, plasma glucose concentration returned to baseline at this time point.

In those receiving a glucagon infusion, mean pre-prandial plasma glucose rose to 6.13 ± 0.30 mmol/l after 30 minutes, which was significantly different to the vehicle group (mean plasma glucose: 5.04 ± 0.11 [vehicle] vs. 6.13 ± 0.30 mmol/l [glucagon], P<0.01). Plasma glucose peaked at 6.56 ± 0.22 mmol/l at 30 minutes after meal commencement (T=60 minutes), before dropping to baseline at T=160 minutes. AUC glucose $_{T=30-160}$ was unchanged relative to vehicle (Figure 2.3A). Administration of GLP-1 alone significantly decreased mean plasma glucose compared to vehicle (mean plasma glucose_{T=30}: 5.14 ± 0.10 [GLP-1] vs 4.44 ± 0.10 mmol/l [vehicle P<0.001). Glucose concentrations fluctuated during the GLP-1 infusion but never exceeded pre-infusion fasting values. Mean AUC glucose $_{T=30-160}$ in the GLP-1 group was significantly reduced compared to glucagon (Mean AUC glucose $_{T=30-160}$ 615.3±42.3 [GLP-1] vs 764.8±17.3 mmol·min/l [glucagon] P<0.05). The combination of GLP-1 and glucagon significantly attenuated the increase in plasma glucose observed by glucagon alone (Mean AUC glucose $_{T=30-160}$ 643.9±32.6 [combination] vs 764.8±17.3 mmol·min/l [glucagon] P<0.05).

Following consumption of the mixed meal, serum insulin rose in all infusion groups peaking 50 minutes later. Relative to vehicle, the AUC insulin $_{T=30-160}$ was significantly lower in those receiving GLP-1, but there was no difference when compared to glucagon alone or co-infusion of glucagon and GLP-1. Infusion of glucagon alone produced the highest AUC insulin $_{T=30-160}$. However, the AUC insulin $_{T=30-160}$ was significantly lowered by the addition of GLP-1 to glucagon compared to administration of glucagon alone (AUC insulin $_{T=30-160}$ 73606±12484 [glucagon] vs 42841±7457 pmol·min/L [combination] P<0.01)(Figure 2.3B).



Figure 2.2 Effects of glucagon, GLP-1 and combination on glucose (A) and insulin (B) concentrations. Data are given as mean \pm SEM. Duration of infusion denoted by labelled gray and hashed bar. 10 volunteers received each infusion. Significant differences are:

*Glucagon vs Vehicle P<0.05, GLP-1 vs Glucagon P<0.05, Combination vs GLP-1 P<0.05.

[†]GLP-1 vs Vehicle P<0.05, combination vs vehicle P<0.05, GLP-1 vs Glucagon P<0.05, Combination vs Glucagon P<0.05.

[‡]GLP-1 vs Glucagon P<0.05.

[#]GLP-1 vs Vehicle P<0.05, GLP-1 vs Glucagon P<0.05, Combination vs Glucagon P<0.05.

**GLP-1 vs Vehicle P<0.05, GLP-1 vs Glucagon P<0.05.

[%]GLP-1 vs Vehicle P<0.05, Combination vs Vehicle P<0.05

^{\$} GLP-1 vs Glucagon P<0.05, Combination vs Glucagon P<0.05



Figure 2.3 Effects of glucagon, GLP-1 and combined combination on mean AUC glucose (A) and mean AUC insulin (B) during infusion. Data are mean AUC \pm SEM shown. 10 volunteers received each infusion. Significantly different mean AUC values are indicated as follows * P<0.05, **P<0.01 ***P<0.001.

2.4.3 Measures of insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion

The effects of each hormone infusion on insulin resistance and secretion are shown in Table 21. As expected, baseline hepatic insulin resistance (as measured by HOMA-IR) prior to infusion was similar between the groups. There was no significant increase in the insulinogenic index comparing all four infusion groups.

| | Vehicle | Glucagon | GLP-1 | Combination | Significant differences between groups |
|--|-------------|------------------------------|------------|-------------|--|
| | | | | | |
| Fasting glucose (mmol/L) | 5.19±0.25 | 5.02±0.15 | 5.14±0.10 | 5.14±0.17 | |
| Fasting glucose after 30 | 5.04±0.11 | 6.13±0.30 | 4.44±0.09 | 5.60±0.21 | Glucagon>Vehicle P<0.001 |
| minutes infusion | | | | | Glucagon>GLP-1 $P<0.0001$ |
| (IIIII01/L) Dook insulin | 7/0 0+103 3 | 036 2+132 7 | 126 2+75 1 | 666 1+1/0 0 | Glucagon > GLP + 1 P < 0.05 |
| (pmol/l) | 747.7±103.5 | <i>75</i> 0.2±1 <i>5</i> 2.7 | 420.2±73.1 | 000.1±140.9 | |
| Mean time to peak insulin (mins) | 82.5±7.7 | 82.5±7.4 | 125.0±11.6 | 105.5±17.6 | |
| HOMA-IR (t=0) (mmol·uIU/L ²) | 1.95±0.66 | 1.22±0.24 | 1.47±0.30 | 1.41±0.34 | |
| AUCglucose ₃₀₋₁₆₀ (mmol·min/l) | 733.1±43.0 | 764.8±17.3 | 615.3±42.3 | 643.9±32.6 | Glucagon>GLP-1 P<0.05 GLP-1 <vehicle p<0.05<br="">Glucagon + GLP-1<vehicle p<0.05<="" th=""></vehicle></vehicle> |
| AUC Insulin ₃₀₋₁₆₀ (pmol·min/l) | 52646±6742 | 73606±12484 | 28277±6118 | 42841±7457 | Glucagon>GLP-1 P<0.001 GLP-1 <vehicle p<0.0001<br="">Glucagon + GLP-1>GLP-1 P<0.05 Glucagon + GLP-1<glucagon p<0.01<="" th=""></glucagon></vehicle> |
| AUC insulin ₃₀₋₁₆₀ /glucose ₃₀₋₁₆₀ (pmol/mmol) | 43.3±4.8 | 57.5±8.0 | 26.1±5.4 | 36.6±5.5 | Glucagon>GLP-1 P<0.01 |
| Insulinogenic index (pmol/mmol) | 618.2±273.0 | 907.1±435.9 | 235.2±67.0 | 160.7±123.4 | |

Table 2.1 Measures of glucose homeostasis during a mixed meal test following infusion of GLP-1, glucagon or a combination of both

Table 1. Measures of glucose homeostasis during a mixed meal test following infusion of GLP-1, glucagon or a combination of both

Insulinogenic index is calculated as change in insulin from T=30 to T=60, divided by the change in glucose from T=30 to T=60. 10 volunteers received each infusion.

2.4.4 Safety data

2.4.4.1 Blood Pressure and Pulse

There were no significant changes in pulse rate or blood pressure throughout the study (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4 Cardiovascular parameters during infusion of GLP-1, glucagon and combination of both. Heart rate (A), Systolic (B), and Diastolic (C) blood pressure changes in response to infusions. Two-way, repeated measures ANOVA showed no significant differences in mean between treatment groups. Data are mean \pm SEM. 10 volunteers received each infusion. Duration of infusion reflected by labelled grey and hashed bar.

2.4.4.2 VAS results performed during acute infusion of GLP-1, glucagon or

combination of both.

There was no significant change in levels of nausea as measured by VAS (Figure 2.5).







D



С

Α









- ✓ Vehicle
 ✓ Glucagon (1.4 pmol/kg/min)
 ▲ GLP-1 (0.4 pmol/kg/min)
- **—** Combination

Figure 2.5 VAS results performed during acute infusion of GLP-1, glucagon or combination of both.

Visual analogue scores (A) How hungry do you feel right now? (B) How sick do you feel right now? (C) How pleasant would it be to eat right now? (D) How much do you think you could eat right now? (E)How full do you feel right now? Two-way repeated measures ANOVA showed no significant differences in mean VAS score between treatment groups. Data are mean \pm SEM. Duration of infusion represented by labelled grey and hashed bar.

2.5 Discussion

This clinical study, has demonstrated that the combination of GLP-1 and glucagon significantly attenuates the rise in pre-prandial glycaemia induced by glucagon alone. This is similar to previous observations by this department (49,201). Notably, this is the first time that infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon in combination has been shown to significantly reduce postprandial glycaemia (relative to glucagon alone) in response to a fixed meal stimulus. There was a further rise in glucose postprandially during the glucagon infusion, but this was similar to the post-prandial glucose levels during the vehicle arm. There was a significant reduction in AUC glucose with combination GLP-1 and glucagon, relative to vehicle.

A previous study has shown that administration of intravenous glucagon at 3 ng/kg/min (0.9 pmol/kg/min) in obese subjects for 6 hours did not significantly increase glucose levels following an OGTT, relative to saline(207). This finding has also been replicated in overweight subjects with a mixed meal stimulus(213). The absence of postprandial hyperglycaemia in response to glucagon infusion compared to vehicle may be due to a compensatory rise in insulin, either a direct insulinotropic effect of glucagon or indirectly via a rise in portal concentrations of glucose. This is consistent with an earlier study of patients with insulin-dependent diabetes, receiving an infusion of glucagon (3

ng/kg/min), which resulted in a significantly higher postprandial glucose concentrations relative to saline, implying that postprandial insulin secretion may be responsible for this effect(214). However, inconsistent with this in the current study, is the observation that there was no significant difference in AUC insulin comparing the glucagon alone and vehicle arms. In addition, Frank *et al.* showed that glucagon infusion did not increase C-peptide levels compared to a control infusion, making a glucagon-mediated increase in insulin secretion an unlikely explanation(213). An alternative explanation is that there is enhanced hepatic glucose uptake during the glucagon infusion(215). Metabolic labelling studies will be necessary to study the metabolic fluxes in response to glucagon infusion and ingestion of a meal in order to delineate this phenomenon.

The infusion of GLP-1 alone resulted in a reduction in postprandial glucose and insulin relative to the vehicle infusion. The ratio of AUC insulin to AUC glucose and insulinogenic indices suggest that the GLP-1 infusion was the least insulinotropic infusion. Whilst GLP-1 is thought of as an insulinotropic hormone, this relative reduction in post-prandial insulin is well established and likely relates to slowed gastric emptying and an attenuation in postprandial glucose rise(106).

The combination of GLP-1 and glucagon resulted in a significant reduction in both plasma glucose and serum insulin (as measured by AUC) relative to glucagon alone. However, relative to GLP-1 alone, the dual infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon resulted in a significantly higher AUC of glucose and insulin. Both GLP-1 and glucagon are known to be insulinotropic, but in our study, both the glucagon alone, and the combination infusion, stimulated a higher insulin response relative to GLP-1 alone. These observations offer a valuable insight into the action of these hormones in the postprandial phase. Following RYGB, it has been observed that carbohydrate tolerance is improved with a significant rise in postprandial insulin secretion(183). As the combination infusion was a more potent stimulus for insulin secretion than GLP-1, the observed postprandial rise in glucagon after RYGB may contribute to the elevated insulin levels seen after this surgery.

A recent study by Bagger *et al* also examined the physiological effects of glucagon plus GLP-1 combination(216). There were significant differences in experimental design compared to the current study. Firstly, the main experimental outcome in the current study was carbohydrate tolerance, in contrast to energy expenditure and food intake. In the current study, the mixed meal challenge was initiated once the hormone infusions had achieved elevations of glucagon and GLP-1 at a steady state, whereas in the study by Bagger *et al*, the combined infusion and mixed meal were given simultaneously. Secondly, the current study was performed in an overweight population (mean BMI 27.2 kg/m²) whereas the cohort studied by Bagger *et al*. had a normal

BMI. The target treatment group for any dual agonist treatment would be likely to be obese or overweight. Lastly, the ratio of glucagon to GLP-1 dose utilised in our study was 3.5:1 as opposed to 0.8:1, closer to the ratio of binding affinities of OXM to the receptors of glucagon and GLP-1 at 2.5:1.

There are several limitations to the interpretation of the current study should be noted. These data relate to the acute effects of GLP-1 and glucagon infusions and as yet the chronic effects of these hormones remain unknown. Assuming weight loss occurs in response to the anorexigenic effects and increase in energy expenditure, one would anticipate that insulin sensitivity might improve in response to more prolonged treatment, leading to further reductions in glycaemia. Furthermore, chronic glucagon administration would not be expected to yield a persistently elevated fasting glucose, as any increase in glycogenolysis should only produce a transient rise in plasma glucose and the glucagon-induced enhancement of gluconeogenesis is sensitive to insulin inhibition. Due to limitations within the study design, only fixed doses of GLP-1 and glucagon were investigated. Future work should aim to study different doses hormones administered either individually or in combination in order to identify the optimal doses and dose ratio. Whilst the current study design attempted to replicate the two-fold increase in plasma glucagon concentration observed after RYGB, the concentration achieved was three-fold higher relative to fasting levels. This may suggest that glucagon concentrations observed post RYGB are less likely to cause hyperglycaemia. It will be important to investigate whether the observed beneficial effects of a combined GLP-1glucagon infusion as shown in the current study translate to an obese diabetic population, particularly where there are limitations to stimulated insulin secretion.

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated that the combination of GLP-1 and glucagon results in improved carbohydrate tolerance relative to vehicle and relative to glucagon alone in the context of a fixed mixed meal stimulus. These data provide further support for the safety of dual GLP-1 and glucagon agonists in the treatment of obesity and diabetes.

Chapter 3:

The acute effects of co-infusion of GLP-1, Oxyntomodulin and PYY on food intake and nausea

3.1 Introduction

The dual observations that after RYGB surgery there is an elevation in postprandial concentrations of GLP-1, OXM and PYY, and that these hormones are powerful anorectic agents has led to speculation regarding a causative role in the metabolic benefits of RYGB surgery(102,135,157,177,180). Furthermore, such observations support the premise that these gut hormones could be developed as anti-obesity therapeutics. However, this potential has yet to be realised. At present the only anti-obesity medication based on a gut hormone, is liraglutide; a long acting GLP-1 receptor agonist(123). Further development of gut hormone based therapeutics has two barriers that must be overcome, a dose-limiting nausea and a patient acceptable drug delivery process.

The weight loss observed with liraglutide is relatively modest compared to RYGB (10% vs 30% of pre-intervention weight)(123,217). Whilst the anorectic effect of GLP-1 is dose-proportional, it also has a dose-limiting side-effect; nausea(102). Nausea has also been observed with PYY and OXM(218). One potential solution to overcome the nausea is to use lower doses of single gut hormones in combination to achieve an an additive anorectic effect. This concept has been tested in studies that have co-infused PYY with GLP-1 and PYY with OXM, and compared their effect on food intake relative to individual hormone infusions(204,218). Both studies demonstrated that the co-infusion of

two hormones had an additive effect on food reduction but without any significant nausea. The success of dual infusions could be further improved by the co-infusion of multiple hormones.

Another potential barrier to the use of gut hormones as therapeutic agents is their mode of delivery. Due to their short half life, studies investigating the effects of GLP-1, OXM and PYY, have used an intravenous route for infusion(49,102,204,218,219). An IV administration has limitations to chronic use. Alternative modes of delivery include SC injections. OXM has been given as a SC injection but due to its short half life required dosing four times per day(139). Long acting analogues can reduce the rate of injection; Bydureon®(Astra Zenica, United Kingdom) (a GLP-1 long acting agonist) is administered once per week(220). However, at present there are no long acting analogues of PYY or OXM.

Another alternative route of delivery is a continuous SC infusion. This route of drug delivery is currently used in patients with T1DM and Parkinson's disease(221,222). GLP-1 has been infused by this route and resulted in weight loss(223). However, no study has investigated SC infusion of PYY or OXM.

To address these issues, the current study was designed to investigate the effects of combined SC co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY, on food intake.

3.2 Hypothesis and aims

3.2.1 Hypothesis

I hypothesised that GLP-1, OXM and PYY infused in combination will reduce food intake without nausea.

3.2.1 Aim

To determine doses of GLP-1, OXM and PYY that could be infused together at a safe and tolerable dose. Subsequently, to investigate the effects of co-infusing GLP-1, OXM and PYY on food intake and nausea.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Peptides

GLP-17-37 amide, OXM and PYY were purchased from Insight Biotechnology limited (Wembley, UK). Representative vials were randomly selected and sent for microbial examination and for detection of pyrogen via a Lumulus Amoebocyte Lysate (LAL) test. Microbial analysis (conducted by the Department of Microbiology, Hammersmith Hospital, London) determined that the vials were sterile on bacterial and extended fungal culture. LAL testing (performed by Associates of Cape Cod, Liverpool, UK) determined that endotoxin levels were within the safe range for human infusion.

To calculate actual peptide content, for the purpose of calculating accurate peptide doses, further representative vials was sent for amino acid analysis (Bachem, St Helens, UK).

Further vial samples were used for toxicity studies. Forty mice were injected, via an IP injection at a dose 10 times greater than the maximum intended dose for humans (in pmol/kg body weight). Prior to sacrifice, the mice were observed for any abnormal behaviour. Short and long term toxicity was assessed by sacrificing 20 mice at 48 hours after injection and the other 20 mice 14 days after injection. An independent histopathologist received the following organs for assessment of toxicity; liver, pancreas, kidneys, heart, brain, lungs and

reproductive organs.

3.3.2 Subjects

Subjects were recruited via advertisement on the internet and newspapers.

Inclusion criteria for the study were healthy males or females aged 18 -70 years, with a BMI< 50 kg/m² and stable weight over the last three months. Exclusion criteria were: smokers, recreational drug users, significant past or current history of physical or psychiatric illness, pregnancy or breastfeeding. Prior to inclusion to the study all subjects were screened and determined to be healthy by medical history, physical examination, haematological and biochemical testing and 12 lead electrocardiogram.

The study was approved by the West London Research Ethics Committee (ref no 13/LO/1510). Written informed consent was obtained for all volunteers and the study was carried out according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

3.3.3 Protocol

The study was designed as a randomised, single-blinded, placebo-controlled study comparing the effects of a SC co-infusion of GLP-1/OXM/PYY infusion to saline.

Whilst GLP-1 has been given as a SC infusion, there are no published studies investigating the effects of SC infusions of either OXM or PYY either as alone or in combination. During the dose finding study, doses of GLP-1, OXM and PYY were administrated either alone or in combination. The protocol for the dose finding study is shown in Figure 3.1A. A peptide infusion was commenced at T=0 during which a range of doses of GLP-1 (2-20 pmol/kg/min), OXM (5-30 pmol/kg/min) and PYY (0.5-1.5 pmol/kg/min) were infused either alone or in combination. An *ad-libitum* meal was served at four hours. Regular blood samples, VAS scores and vital sign measurements were taken at the times indicated.



Figure 3.1 Protocol for dose finding study (A) and main study (B). In both studies volunteers were cannulated for venous blood sampling. Blood samples, VAS scores and vital signs were checked at the times indicated. In the dose finding study only one *ad-libitum* meal was given at four hours after the infusion was started. In the main study, two *ad-libitum* meals were given at four and eight hours after the infusion was started.

Following the dose finding study the protocol was amended to include a second *ad-libitum* meal and extended infusion duration as shown in Figure 3.1B.

Subjects arrived to the clinical research facility at the Hammersmith Hospital having fasted overnight. Upon arrival, female volunteers were asked to pass a sample of urine that was tested to confirm that they were not pregnant. A peripheral cannula was inserted to allow blood sampling. At T=-30 minutes, a subcutaneous cannula (Quick-set infusion set, Meditronic, Watford, UK) was placed in the subject's abdomen. At T=0 the SC infusion was started. Subjects received either a co-infusion of GLP-1 (4 pmol/kg/min), OXM (4 pmol/kg/min) and PYY (0.4 pmol/kg/min) or saline. Prior to making up the infusion, both syringes and infusion tubing used to deliver the hormones or saline was soaked in gelafusine to reduce adsorption of the peptides.

The rate of infusion was delivered by a Chrono® pump (Cane SPA, Rivoli, Italy). The infusion was continued for eight hours after a new infusion was started. The need for two infusions was due to the stability of GLP-1 within the syringe. At T= 14 the subject had their cannulae removed and was discharged home.

Energy intake was assessed via two ad-libitum meals that were given at T=4hand T=10h respectively. The *ad-libitum* meal consisted of one of a choice

of 6 standardised ready meals (Sainsbury's®) of known macronutrient and calorific content; tomato and mozzarella pasta bake (127kcal/100g), macaroni cheese (189 kcal/100g), chicken tikka masala with rice (178 kcal/100g), chicken korma with rice (154 kcal/100g), chicken jalfrezi with rice (156 kcal/100g) and beef in black bean sauce with rice (130 kcal/100g). Subjects were given 20 minutes to eat the ad-libitum meal and were instructed to eat until comfortably full. For both the dose finding and main study, each volunteer was given the same *ad-libitum* meal. The weight of the food was measured pre- and post-meal.

3.3.4 Blood assay analysis

Insulin and glucose were measured as described in Chapter 2. Plasma active GLP-1 (GLP-17–36) and total PYY (PYY3–36 + PYY1–36), were prepared using the Milliplex MAP magnetic bead-based multi-analyte, metabolic panel, 4-plex immunoassay (HMHMAG-34K; Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA) and measured using Luminex Magpix with xPONENT software (Luminex Corporation, Austin, TX, USA). The kit is a capture sandwich immunoassay which uses a capture antibody attached to a microsphere and a detection antibody that incorporates a fluorescent label.

OXM was measured by the Panum Institute, Kobenhavn University, Denmark, using an in-house radio-immunoassay.

3.3.5 Statistical analysis

Two-way repeated ANOVA with Bonferroni *post hoc* test were used to compare differences in glucose, insulin, and changes in blood pressure and pulse. A paired t- test was used to analyse changes in food intake. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM and statistical significance was defined as P<0.05.
3.4 Results

3.4.1 Dose finding study investigating the acute effects of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on energy intake and nausea in humans.

A dose finding study was undertaken to determine the appropriate subcutaneous dose of GLP-1, OXM and PYY that could reduce food intake without nausea compared to saline. The dose finding study took part in three phases. The first phase was a parallel arm study in which single infusions of GLP-1, OXM and PYY were given. The second phase involved the use of combined infusion of GLP-1 and OXM. The final phase was co-administration of all three hormones.

3.4.1.1 Investigation of infusions of subcutaneous GLP-1, OXM or PYY alone on food intake and nausea

The effects of GLP-1, OXM and PYY infusions, administered alone, were tested to determine the effects on food intake (Figure 3.2) and nausea (Table 3.1).

The lowest effective dose of GLP-1 that was tolerated in terms of nausea was 16 pmol/kg/min. Both 20 and 30 pmol/kg/min doses of OXM were effective at reducing food intake relative to saline but less nausea was observed in those receiving 20 pmol/kg/min. Tolerable doses of PYY were lower than both GLP-1 and OXM. Both 1.0 and 1.5 pmol/kg/min doses of PYY were anorectic but

more nausea was observed with 1.5 pmol/kg/min.



Α

В

С

100·

111

Figure 3.2 Percentage reduction in food intake following subcutaneous administration of GLP-1 (A), OXM (B) and PYY (C) relative to saline. Volunteers received an infusion of either saline (control) or one of the following hormones; GLP-1, OXM or PYY. The infusion duration was eight hours. An *ad-libitum* meal was given four hours after the infusion was started. The number of volunteers who received each infusion is shown in brackets.

| Peptide | Dose (pmol/kg/min) | Number of subjects | Number of subjects with nausea |
|---------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| GLP-1 | 2-8 | 1 | 0 |
| | 12 | 5 | 1 |
| | 16 | 4 | 1 |
| | 20 | 3 | 3 |
| OXM | 5-15 | 1 | 0 |
| | 20 | 8 | 0 |
| | 30 | 4 | 2 |
| РҮҮ | 0.5 | 1 | 0 |
| | 1.0 | 3 | 1 |
| | 1.5 | 3 | 2 |

Table 3.1 Investigation of the effects of varying doses of subcutaneous infusions of GLP-1, OXM or PYY alone on nausea. Volunteers received infusions of GLP-1, OXM and PYY at different doses for a duration of eight hours. Nausea was either recorded on VAS score sheets at specific time points or reported to the investigator if occurring between time points.

3.4.1.2 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1 and OXM on food intake and nausea.

Further dose finding was performed to determine the effect of co-infusion of GLP-1 and OXM. Doses of 16 and 20 pmol/kg/min of GLP-1 and OXM were selected based on the results of the previous dose finding study. However, as both peptides are infused via a single pump that uses one infusion rate for both peptides, it was more practical to infuse 15 and 20 pmol/kg/min of GLP-1 and OXM. Whilst this dose was effective at reducing food intake (Figure 3.3) there was a high rate of nausea (Table 3.2) and so both peptide doses were reduced to 12 pmol/kg/min. This combination at a lower dose produced less nausea.



Figure 3.3 Percentage reduction in food intake achieved by subcutaneous co-infusion of GLP-1 and OXM at varying doses relative to saline. Volunteers received an infusion of either saline or co-infusion of GLP-1 and OXM. The infusion duration was eight hours. An *ad-libitum* meal was given four hours after the infusion was started. The number of volunteers who received each infusion is shown in brackets.

| Dose of GLP-1/OXM | Number of subjects | Number of subjects with |
|-------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|
| (pmol/kg/min) | | nausea |
| 12/12 | 3 | 0 |
| 15/20 | 5 | 4 |

Table 3.2 Effect of different doses of combined subcutaneous infusions of GLP-1 and OXM on nausea. Volunteers received co-infusions of GLP-1 and OXM for a duration of eight hours. Nausea was either recorded on VAS score sheets at specific time points reported to the investigator if occurring between time points.

3.4.1.3 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on food intake and nausea.

The final dose finding phase aimed to identify a tolerable dose of each peptide when co-infused together. Whilst co-infusion of GLP-1 and OXM (each at 12 pmol/kg/min) was well tolerated, both doses were reduced 6 pmol/kg/min before addition of PYY. The rationale for this was that the experience from moving to single to combination infusions had demonstrated that nausea was induced at lower doses when multiple hormones were co-infused.

The first trial dose for triple peptide infusion was 6, 6 and 0.5 pmol/kg/min of GLP-1, OXM and PYY respectively. The effects of this combination on food intake and nausea are shown in Figure 3.4 and Table 3.3. Since administration of this combination at these doses produced nausea, subsequent peptide doses were reduced to 4, 4 and 0.4 pmol/kg/min respectively. This combination of doses reduced food intake but produced less nausea.



Figure 3.4 Effect of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY at varying doses on food intake. Volunteers received a combined infusions of GLP-1, OXM and PYY infusion or saline. The infusion duration was eight hours. An *ad-libitum* meal was given four hours after the infusion was started. The number of volunteers who received each infusion is shown in brackets.

| Dose of GLP-1/OXM/PYY | Number of subjects | Number of subjects with |
|-----------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|
| (pmol/kg/min) | | nausea |
| 6/6/0.5 | 2 | 2 |
| 4/4/0.4 | 3 | 0 |

Table 3.3 Effect of subcutaneous co-infusions of GLP-1, OXM and PYY of varying doses on nausea. Volunteers received co-infusions of GLP-, OXM and PYY at varying doses for a duration of eight hours. Nausea was either recorded on VAS score sheets at specific time points or reported to the investigator if occurring between time points.

3.4.2 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous coadministration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on food intake and nausea.

Co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY resulted in a significant reduction in mean total food intake (meal 1 and meal 2) relative to saline (mean total food intake 1027±145 [GLP-1/OXM/PYY] vs 1528±152 kcal [saline] P<0.05, Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5 Energy intake following ad-libitum meal in human subjects. Participants were given a meal of known quantity and calorie content during an infusion of saline or GLP-1, OXM and PYY (GOP) (4/4/0.4 pmol/kg/min). Data were analysed using a paired t test. * P<0.05. N = 5. Meals 1 and 2 were *ad-libitum* meals, was given four and eight hours after the infusion was started.

3.4.2.2 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on nausea and satiety.

During the GLP-1, OXM and PYY infusions, one volunteer developed nausea four hours after the infusion was started. No other volunteer receiving the coinfusion of peptides had nausea. There was no significant difference in VAS scores between those receiving co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY relative to saline (Figure 3.6).









Time (hours)





Figure 3.6 Change from baseline in visual analogue scale (VAS) scores in subjects. VAS scores were measured at each time point in response to the following questions: (A) 'How hungry do you feel right now?', (B) 'How sick do you feel right now?', (C) 'How pleasant would it be to eat right now?', (D) 'How much do you think you could eat right now?', (E) 'How full do you feel right now?' and (F) 'How tasty was the meal?'. Volunteers received either an infusion of GLP-1,OXM and PYY (4/4/0.4 pmol/kg/min) or saline for 14 hours minutes. Data were analysed with two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post test (A-E). Abbreviations: GLP-1, OXM and PYY (GOP).

3.4.2.3 Investigation of the gut hormone levels following an acute subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY.

Prior to infusion, mean plasma concentration of GLP-1 was 4.0 ± 1.5 pmol/l (Figure 7). Two hours after the infusion was started, a peak plasma GLP-1 concentration of 18.7 ± 6.0 pmol/l was achieved. There was no significant rise in the concentration of GLP-1 in the volunteers when infused with saline.

Mean fasting concentration of OXM was 41.0 ± 9.0 pmol/l. This rose to a mean peak concentration of 120.0 ± 20.0 pmol/l, two hours after the combined infusion was initiated. Samples taken from subjects receiving saline were not measured due to the limited amount of samples I was able to send to my collaborators.

Before the combined infusion was started, the mean basal concentration of PYY was 22.4 ± 3.8 pmol/l. Mean peak concentration was achieved six hours after the start of the infusion at 56.2 ± 1.3 pmol/l. There was no significant rise in the concentration of PYY in the volunteers when infused with saline.



Figure 3.7

Mean plasma concentration of GLP-1 (A), OXM (B) and PYY (CC) during infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY. Subjects were infused with GLP-1, OXM and PYY for 14 hours. Samples for hormone measurement were taken at the times indicated. N = 5

3.4.2.3 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on glucose and insulin.

The mean baseline plasma glucose in all subjects was 5.3±0.1 mmol/l prior to infusion (Figure 3.8). Mean plasma glucose concentration rose after both *ad-libitum* meals. However, there was no significant difference in plasma glucose concentration in subjects receiving co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY (4/4/0.4 pmol/kg/min) relative to saline throughout the duration of 14 hour infusion.

Mean baseline serum insulin concentration for all subjects was 11.9±1.4 mIU/L in all subjects prior to infusion. Insulin concentration increased in response to the elevation in post=prandial plasma glucose but there was no significant difference between the two infusion groups



Figure 3.8 Comparison of changes in glucose (A) and insulin (B) following co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY. Volunteers received a combined infusion of either GLP-1, OXM and PYY (GOP) (4/4/0.4 pmol/kg/min) or saline. Glucose and insulin samples were collected at the time points indicated and two *ad-libitum* meals were consumed at the four and eight hours after infusion was started. Data was analysed using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post hoc* test. Number of volunteers in each group shown in brackets.

3.4.2.4 Investigation of the acute effects of subcutaneous co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on cardiovascular parameters.

There was no significant difference in pulse rate or systolic and diastolic blood pressure in subjects receiving co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY relative to saline (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9 Changes in pulse rate (A), systolic (B) and diastolic (C) blood pressure following co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY relative to saline. Subjects were infused over 14 hours a co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY (4/4/0.4pmol/kg/min) or saline or Data were analysed using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple *post hoc* test. Number of subjects in each group shown in brackets.

3.5 Discussion

This study demonstrates that co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY can significantly reduce food intake. This data is novel for two reasons. Firstly, it is the first study to investigate the co-infusion of these three gut hormones. Secondly, whilst there are data on the use of a continuous SC pump to deliver GLP-1, this route of administration has not studied previously with PYY or OXM(223). The anorectic effect demonstrated supports the further development of delivering these gut hormones in combination as a treatment for obesity in humans.

Co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY resulted in a mean reduction in total energy intake of 501±128 kcal. This is equivalent to a 32.8% reduction in daily food intake. This reduction in food intake is comparable to 34% reduction in calorie intake observed in RYGB patients 2 years post surgery(224). If future work demonstrates that the reduction in food intake with co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY is sustained, this could provide an alternative treatment for obesity to surgery.

This is the first study in man to infuse three gut hormones together to study the effects on food intake. Others have previously co-infused two gut hormones. Field *et al* used a combination of OXM and PYY whilst Neary *et al* co-infused

GLP-1 and PYY(204,218). These studies demonstrated reductions in energy intake of 43 and 27% respectively but neither is directly comparable to the current investigation due to differences in both the route of administration as well as the doses used. Both previous studies demonstrated that the co-infusion was additive in its anorectic effect, by comparing the co-infusion to single hormone infusion. The data from this study cannot provide further insight into the additive anorectic as single infusions were not employed beyond the dose finding stage. However, during the dose finding period, it was necessary to reduce the doses of gut hormones administered each time a new gut hormone was added to the co-infusion due to nausea. This suggests that the effects of the triple hormone co-infusion may be additive but further controlled studies will need to be performed to confirm this.

Only one of the five subjects experienced nausea during the triple hormone infusion. However, if the cohort size was larger, there may have been more nausea observed. A future larger study would be able to address this further.

Whilst the primary outcome of this study was been food intake, an alternative mechanism to achieve weight loss is through increasing energy expenditure. It has been shown that specific gut hormones such as glucagon and OXM can induce an increase in energy expenditure(49,137). An increase in energy expenditure is also observed after RYGB surgery which may be related to the

134

increased concentration of OXM and glucagon post surgery(225). Determining whether a co-infusion containing OXM can also increase energy expenditure is an important step in developing it as an anti-obesity therapeutic.

There are specific limitations to this study that should be noted. Only a small cohort of five patients was used and the study was only single-blinded. Further more whilst the duration of the infusion was longer than in most studies investigating the effects of gut hormones on food intake (mean duration was 60 minutes), it would be useful to assess whether the anorectic effect is maintained beyond 24 hours(102). A final limitation was the absence of oxyntomodulin concentrations in those receiving saline.

In conclusion, this study has shown that a subcutaneous combined infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY can reduce food intake in healthy obese human volunteers. This is an important step in the development of combination gut hormones as anti obesity treatments. Future work should evaluate the effects of a triple hormone infusion on energy expenditure, and determine whether the observed energy intake reduction persists when administered over the longer term.

Chapter 4

The role of gut hormones in the pathophysiology of postprandial hypoglycaemia

4.1 Introduction

In Chapters 2 and 3 I have demonstrated that administration of gut hormones can result in improvements in carbohydrate tolerance and a reduction in food intake. This data supports the role that the elevated postprandial concentration of gut hormones post RYGB may contribute to the improvement in weight and diabetes that occur after the operation. Furthermore, it supports the use of gut hormones as a potential treatment for obesity and diabetes. However, if gut hormones are responsible for the metabolic benefits after RYGB they may also account for some of the metabolic complications that occur too.

Laparoscopic RYGB is considered a relatively safe surgical procedure with a morbidity and mortality of 0.16% which is similar to low risk surgery such as laparoscopic cholecystectomy(226). However, as the operation is becoming more frequently performed to match the rise in obesity prevalence, unusual metabolic complications are becoming more recognised. These include nutritional deficiencies such as pernicious anaemia which is likely related to the reduction in gastric size and other conditions such as a loss of bone mass that at present has no clear pathogenic mechanism(227,228). PPH, in which patients develop low glucose concentrations after eating is another metabolic complication of RYGB that has implicated gut hormones as a potential cause(184).

PPH is considered a relatively new phenomenon having first been described by Service *et al* in 2005 in 6 patients(187). However, there have been case reports and series of PPH occurring after partial gastrectomies (for gastric ulcer disease) that have been reported since the 1930s(229). Whilst the bariatric and dyspeptic operations differ in technique, the alteration in postprandial glucose profile is common in both and a similar pathophysiology is likely.

PPH may reflect an extreme instance of the changes in glucose homeostasis that occurs after RYGB. After surgery there is a dramatic alteration in glucose tolerance(230). Beyond a reduction in fasting and postprandial plasma glucose levels, there is also a change in the glucose tolerance curve. Instead of a steady rise in plasma glucose that plateaus before returning to baseline, there is a sharp rise with a peak glucose at 30 minutes with a subsequent rapid drop(230). In patients with PPH the rapid decrease in glucose concentrations can result in hypoglycaemia. It remains unclear why certain patients post RYGB develop PPH whilst others do not.

The rapid oscillations in postprandial glucose demonstrate the significant increase in glucose variability that occurs post RYGB. This increase in glycaemic variability after RYGB has been documented with the use of continuous glucose monitoring, relative to obese subjects who have not had RYGB surgery(231). Increased glycaemic variability is not exclusive to patients

who have diabetes prior to surgery but also occurs in patients with no prior history of diabetes. It is unclear if RYGB patients with PPH have increased glycaemic variability relative to RYGB patients who do not.

Whilst the cause behind PPH remains unclear, it has been established that the hypoglycaemia is hyperinsulinemic in nature(232). Post RYGB there is a rapid postprandial rise in insulin but the mechanism underlying the increased insulin secretion remains unknown(233). Previous work has focused on incretins (insulinotropic hormones that are secreted in response to an oral glucose load) and in particular GLP-1. Some studies have shown elevated postprandial GLP-1 levels in patients with PPH relative to asymptomatic patients whilst others have failed to confirm this(184,234). Furthermore, both GLP-1 antagonists and agonists have been shown to improve PPH(191,235). As such, the role of gut hormones including GLP-1 in the pathophysiology of PPH remains unclear and requires further investigation.

4.2 Hypothesis and Aims

4.2.1 Hypothesis

I hypothesise that patients with PPH after RYGB have increased glycaemic variability and that this is associated with changes in levels of gut hormones.

4.2.2 Aims

My aims were to investigate a cohort of patients with PPH:

- 1. To measure their glycaemic variability using continuous glucose monitoring.
- 2. To measure the secretion of postprandial gut hormones.
- 3. To examine the relationship of postprandial gut hormone secretion to the type of meal stimulus.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Subjects

Subjects were recruited from the Imperial Weight Centre who were referred with symptoms suggestive of PPH. For inclusion to the study patients must have either autonomic (this includes symptoms such as sweaty, palpations tremor) or neuroglycopenic symptoms (such as drowsiness, pre-syncope, or loss of consciousness). These symptoms had to occur within five hours after eating and resolved with carbohydrate ingestion. Exclusion criteria were any current medication known to affect glucose metabolism or a history of symptoms that predated the operation.

The study was done as part of routine clinical care for patients suspected to have PPH and as such no ethical approval was required.

Previous studies that have investigated PPH have compared bariatric surgery patients who are known to have symptoms of PPH with a group of asymptomatic patients(236,237). However, in many of these studies, it is apparent that during the provocation test used in the studies not all the symptomatic group had a hypoglycaemia and at the same time, some of the asymptomatic group appear to have a biochemical hypoglycaemia without symptoms. This illustrates two important observations. First, in the RYGB cohort, there is a high prevalence of asymptomatic hypoglycaemia. Secondly, in those patients who have previously shown to have PPH, the reproduction of this condition appears variable.

If a patient who has previously been demonstrated to have PPH undergoes a provocation test but does not experience biochemical hypoglycaemia, it is possible that the hormonal changes that may cause PPH are not present during that study. As the aim of the current study was to determine if gut hormones are associated with biochemical hypoglycaemia, subjects were subdivided into those that had biochemical hypoglycaemia during a given provocation test and their gut hormone response to a provocation test was compared to those that did not experience hypoglycaemia.

4.3.2 Continuous Glucose Monitoring

Two types of continuous glucose monitor (CGM) were used.

- 1. Medtronic iPro®2
- 2. Abbott Navigator® II

The Medtronic iPro®2 CGM was the initial choice for continuous glucose monitoring but because of a high sensor failure rate, subsequently the Navigator II®2 CGM was used.

Subjected were asked to wear a CGM for 5 days. Both the Medtronic iPro®2 and Abbott Navigator® II comprise a light-weight memory storage unit which is attached to a sensor. Using a spring-loaded device, the sensor is placed in the subcutaneous layer of tissue of the abdomen where it measures glucose concentrations in interstitial fluid. Both sensors measure interstitial glucose using an amperometric enzyme electrode based on the glucose oxidase reduction-oxidation reaction. The Medtronic iPro®2 measures glucose at 5 minute intervals whilst the Abbott Navigator® II has a 10 minute interval.

For both CGMs, subjects were asked to measure their capillary blood glucose (CBG) using the finger prick method, in order to calibrate their machine. They were provided with Abbott Freestyle Lite® blood strips for this purpose. For the Medtronic iPro®2, subjects were asked to perform a minimum of 3 CBG measurements per day. For the Abbott Navigator® II, subjects were asked to perform CBG at 1, 2, 10, 24 and 72 hours after the sensor was inserted.

After five days of wearing the sensor, the subjects returned the CGM storage unit. The data was uploaded onto internet-based platforms (Carelink® and Freestyle Copilot® for iPro®2 and Navigator®II respectively), which use proprietary algorithms to relate capillary glucose measurements to subcutaneous interstitial fluid glucose measurements. The recorded data were analysed for mean glucose and glycaemic variability measures including Mean Amplitude Glycaemic Excursions (MAGE), Continuous Overlapping Net Glycaemic Action (CONGA), Mean of Daily Differences (MODD) and risk indices such as Low Blood Glucose Index (LBGI), High Blood Glucose Index (HBGI) and Average Daily Risk Ratio (ADRR). These values were calculated using the easyGV 9.0 software(238). The equations used to calculate these measures of glycemic variability are shown in Table 4.1.
| Variability | Formula | Discriminating feature |
|-------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| MAGE | $\sum \frac{\lambda}{x} \text{ if } \lambda > \nu$ | Used most extensively |
| CONGA | $\sqrt{\frac{\sum_{t=t_1}^{t_k} (D_t - \overline{D})^2}{k - 1}}$ $\overline{D} = \frac{\sum_{t=t_1}^{t_k} D_t}{k} D_t = G_t - G_{t-m}$ | Specifically developed for CGM |
| MODD | $\frac{\sum_{t=t_1}^{t_{k^*}} GR_1 - GR_{t-1440} }{k^*}$ | Assess intra-day variability |
| LBGI | $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}rl(x_i)$ | Gives a risk score for hypoglycaemia |
| HBGI | $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N} rh(x_i)$ | Gives a risk for hyperglycaemia |
| ADDR | $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{t=1}^{N} [LR + HR]$ | Gives a measure of glycaemic control |

Table 4.1 Measures of glycaemic variability. MAGE=mean amplitude glucose excursion; CONGA=continuous overlapping net glycaemic action; MODD=mean of daily differences, HBGI= high blood glucose index; LBGI=low blood glucose index, ADRR =average daily risk. λ = blood glucose changes from peak to nadir χ = number of observation v = 1 standard deviation of mean glucose for a 24 hour period κ = total number of observations rl = risk value associated with a low glucose (if χ <0), rh= risk value associated with high glucose (if χ >0), χ _I = nonlinear transformation of glucose measured, LR = risk value attributed to low glucose HR = risk value attributed to high glucose. Adapted from Siegelaar *et al.*(239)

The normal reference values for a non diabetic population are shown in Table

4.2.

| | Lower limit | Upper limit |
|-------|-------------|-------------|
| MAGE | 0.0 | 2.8 |
| CONGA | 3.6 | 5.5 |
| MODD | 0.0 | 3.5 |
| LBGI | 0.0 | 6.9 |
| HBGI | 0.0 | 7.7 |
| ADRR | 0.0 | 8.7 |

Table 4.2 Normal reference range for measures of glycemic variability. MAGE=mean amplitude glucose excursion; CONGA=continuous overlapping net glycaemic action; MODD=mean of daily differences, HBGI= high blood glucose index; LBGI=low blood glucose index, ADRR =average daily risk ratio. Adapted from Nathan Hill *et al*(240)

4.3.3 Mixed Meal Test (MMT) Study

Patients arrived at the planned investigation unit at 0830h having fasted from 2200h the night before. Upon arrival, subjects had a peripheral venous cannulae inserted for the purpose of blood sampling. At 0900h subjects were given an Ensure Plus® (13.8 g of protein, 10.8 g of fat, 44.4 g of carbohydrates, 330 kcal, 220 ml, Abbott, Maidenhead, UK) to consume. They were advised to consume the Ensure Plus® within 10 minutes and were observed by the investigator to confirm complete consumption. Blood sampling for glucose, insulin, C-peptide and gut hormones were taken at the following time points, 0, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 210 and 240 minutes. Vacutainer tubes (International Scientific Supplies Ltd, Bradford, UK) containing clot activators and fluoride oxalate tubes were used to collect insulin and glucose samples respectively. For the purpose of collecting gut hormones, lithium heparin-coated BD Vacutainer

tubes were prepared with the addition of 1000 kallikrein inhibitor units (0.1ml) (Trasylol, Bayer Schering Pharma, Berlin, Germany). Samples were stored on ice until centrifugation (4°C, 4000 rpm, 10 minutes) after which, plasma was separated immediately and stored at -20°C until analysis. In addition, a CBG sample was taken if subjects complained of symptoms of hypoglycemia. Blood pressure and pulse were also measured at those time points. The study was stopped if subjects developed neurological symptoms of hypoglycemia and had a capillary blood glucose less than 2.0 mmol/l. Biochemical hypoglycemia was defined as a venous plasma glucose <3.0 mmol/l in keeping with the consensus guidelines on hypoglycemia (241).

4.3.4 Prolonged Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (POGTT)

The protocol for the prolonged oral glucose tolerance test was identical to the mixed meal test aside from the use of an oral 75 g glucose load in substitution for the Ensure Plus[®]. The oral glucose challenge was prepared by dissolving 75 g of anhydrous glucose in 500 ml of water.

4.3.5 Glucose, Insulin and C-peptide assays

Glucose, insulin and C-peptide samples were measured by the Department of Chemical Pathology, Imperial College Healthcare National Health Service Trust. Plasma glucose was assayed using an Abbott Architect automated analyzer (Maidenhead, UK), utilizing a hexokinase-glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase method. The analytical range was 0.278–44.4 mmol/L, with an intra-assay coefficient of variation of 0.65–1.98% and an inter-assay coefficient of variation of 0.84–0.93%. Serum insulin levels were measured on an Abbott Architect platform using Abbott reagents with an inter-assay coefficient of variation of 10%.

4.3.6 Gut Hormone assays

Plasma active GLP-1 (GLP-17–36), total PYY (PYY3–36 + PYY1–36), GIP and Glucagon were measured using the Milliplex MAP magnetic bead-based multi-analyte, metabolic panel, 4-plex immunoassay (HMHMAG-34K; Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA) and Luminex Magpix with xPONENT software (Luminex Corporation, Austin, TX, USA). The manufacture protocol was used (Appendix B). The cross reactivity between the antibody for glucagon and oxyntomodulin is 0.7%. The kit is a capture sandwich immunoassay in which a capture antibody is attached to a microsphere and a detection antibody that incorporates a fluorescent label.

4.3.7 Statistical Analysis

Two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used to compare differences in glucose, insulin, active GLP-1, GIP, PYY and glucagon

at different time points. One-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* test was used to compare differences in AUCs when more than two groups were being compared. Unpaired Student t-tests were used to compare differences between groups when only two groups were being compared. When data was not normally distributed (assessed by D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus normality test) due to small number, a Mann-Whitney test was used. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM and statistical significance defined as P<0.05.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Demographics of subjects

The demographics of the subjects recruited for the study are shown below in Table 4.3. Sixteen subjects who had symptoms suggestive of PPH after RYGB were classified as symptomatic RYGB. Two control groups were also analysed; a group of obese patients who had not had RYGB surgery (obese no-RYGB) and a group consisting of RYGB patients who had not had symptoms of PPH (asymptomatic RYGB). Further details on the volunteers with PPH are shown in Table 4.4.

| | Symptomatic RYGB | Obese-No RYGB | Asymptomatic RYGB |
|--------------------|---------------------|---------------|----------------------|
| Number of | Number of 16 | | 5 |
| subjects | | | |
| Gender | 9F 7M | 7F 2M | 4F 1M |
| Age (years) | 48.2±2.5 | 43.6±3.9 | 41.8±3.6 |
| HbA1c (mmol/l) | 38.4±1.2 | 39.8±1.7 | 37±2.2 |
| Years since | 2.5±1.4 | | 2.6±0.7 |
| surgery (years) | | | |
| Presurgical weight | 127.3±5.7 | | 134.7±4.8 |
| (kg) | | | |
| Percentage weight | 30.8±7.9 | | 29.8±6.9 |
| loss at 1 year(%) | | | |

 Table 4.3 Demographics of subjects in study. F=Female, M=Male.

| Patient | Year of | Type of Surgery | Age | Diabetes pre | Presurgical weight | Percentage weight loss | Onset of symptoms from |
|---------|---------|---|---------|--------------|--------------------|------------------------|------------------------|
| No. | Surgery | | (years) | surgery | (Kg) | at 1 year (%) | surgery (years) |
| 1 | 2010 | RYGB | 50 | Yes | 117 | 32 | 2 |
| 2 | 2010 | RYGB | 52 | No | 130 | 37 | 1 |
| 3 | 2007 | RYGB | 44 | Yes | 126 | 41 | 3 |
| 4 | 2007 | RYGB | 26 | No | 151 | 27 | 3 |
| 5 | 2010 | RYGB | 44 | Yes | 131 | 33 | 2 |
| 6 | 2010 | RYGB | 60 | No | 118 | 28 | 1 |
| 7 | 2006 | Oesphagectomy and Roux-en-Y anastomosis | 46 | No | 90 | 20 | 4 |
| 8 | 2011 | RYGB | 52 | Yes | 127 | 35 | 2 |
| 9 | 2010 | RYGB | 51 | yes | 98 | 38 | 1 |
| 10 | 2005 | Gastrectomy for peptic ulcer disease | 49 | No | 101 | 26 | 7 |
| 11 | 2012 | RYBB | 46 | yes | 118 | 29 | 1 |
| 12 | 2012 | RYGB | 49 | No | 167 | 31 | 1 |
| 13 | 2010 | RYGB | 71 | Yes | 121 | 36 | 3 |
| 14 | 2011 | RYGB | 43 | Yes | 153 | 43 | 2 |
| 15 | 2013 | RYGB | 33 | No | 168 | 25 | 1 |
| 16 | 2012 | RYGB (conversion from sleeve) | 55 | No | 121 | 12 | 2 |

Table 4.4 Demographics of PPH subjects. 16 subjects who were suspected of having PPH were investigated in this study

4.4.1 Investigation into glycaemic variability in patients with PPH

Seven subjects (patient numbers 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11 and 13 from table 4.4) who had symptoms of PPH post RYGB wore CGMs for five days. Their data was compared to three RYGB patients who were asymptomatic for PPH (Table 4.5) There were no significant differences in the presurgical weight or percentage weight loss between the two groups. There was no significant difference between the two groups CGM data, although the MAGE score approached significance.

| GV Measure | Asymptomatic | Symptomatic (N=7) | P value |
|--------------------|-----------------|-------------------|---------|
| | (N=3) | | |
| Mean (mmol/l) | 5.49±0.42 | 6.12±0.24 | 0.20 |
| SD | 1.78 ± 0.57 | 2.04±0.23 | 0.61 |
| MAGE | 2.39±0.69 | 4.93±0.75 | 0.07 |
| CONGA | 4.76±0.50 | 5.05±0.19 | 0.52 |
| LBGI | 4.84±1.46 | 3.49±0.70 | 0.37 |
| HBGI | 4.61±3.29 | 4.36±2.72 | 0.93 |
| % time in | 2.1±1.6 | 1.0±0.6 | 0.48 |
| hypoglycaemia <3.0 | | | |
| % time in range, | 85.1±4.8 | 74.2±3.4 | 0.11 |
| 3.0-7.0 | | | |
| % time in | 12.8±3.6 | 21.9±5.2 | 0.29 |
| hyperglycemia >7.0 | | | |

 Table 4.5 Comparison of measures of glycaemic variability between patients with PPH and those without.

Differences in measures of glycaemic variability (GV). There were no significant differences in the methods used. SD=standard deviation; MAGE=mean amplitude glucose excursion; CONGA=continuous overlapping net glycaemic action; HBGI= high blood glucose index; LBGI=low blood glucose index.

4.4.2. Comparison of changes in glucose and insulin following a

Mixed Meal Test in patients suspected of having PPH

Thirty subjects underwent a MMT. The subjects were separated into three groups;

- 16 subjects with symptoms of PPH (Symptomatic RYGB)
- 5 subjects who had had RYGB surgery but had no symptoms of PPH (Asymptomatic RYGB)
- 9 subjects who were obese but had not had RYGB (Obese-No RYGB).

There was no significant difference in the fasting glucose concentration in all three groups (Figure 4.1A and Table 4.6). Thirty minutes following the consumption of the mixed meal, there was a significant difference in plasma glucose concentration between both surgical cohorts relative to Obese-No RYGB group (Glucose₃₀: 9.4±0.8 [Symptomatic RYGB] vs 6.1±0.4 mmol/l [Obese-No RYGB], P<0.05; 10.3±1.9 [Asymptomatic RYGB] vs 6.1±0.4 mmol/l [Obese-No RYGB], P<0.05).

There was no significant difference in the concentration of fasting insulin between all three groups (Figure 4.1B and Table 4.6). Thirty minutes following the consumption of the mixed meal, there was a significant difference in serum insulin concentration between both surgical cohorts relative to Obese-No RYGB group (Insulin₃₀: 130.2±24.7 [Symptomatic RYGB] vs 39.9 ± 7.7 mU/l [Obese-No RYGB], P<0.05; 152.5±44.3 [Asymptomatic RYGB] vs 39.9±7.7 mU/l [Obese-No RYGB], P<0.05). Both RYGB groups concentration of serum insulin returned to baseline at 120 minutes whilst the Obese-No RYGB group's serum insulin was elevated till 180 minutes.



Figure 4.1 Changes in plasma glucose (A) and serum insulin (B) following a mixed meal in patients suspected to have PPH, a non- surgical obese group and an asymptomatic RYGB group. Mixed meal was given at T=0. Numbers of subjects in each group shown in brackets. Significant differences are *Suspected PPH vs Obese-No RYGB P<0.001, Asymptomatic-RYGB vs Obese-No RYGB P<0.001. ** Suspected PPH vs Obese-No RYGB P<0.001.

| Outcome measures | Symptomatic | Obese-No RYGB | Asymptomatic RYGB |
|---|-------------------|----------------|-------------------|
| | RYGB (N=16) | (N=9) | (N=5) |
| Mean fasting glucose (mmol.1 ⁻¹) | 4.8±0.2 | 5.0±0.3 | 5.1±0.2 |
| Mean peak glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹) | 9.8 ± 0.7 | 7.1 ± 0.3 | 10.8 ± 1.5* |
| Mean nadir glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹) | 3.4 ± 0.2 | 4.1 ± 0.1 | 4.3 ± 0.5 |
| Mean glucose ₃₀ (mmol.l ⁻¹) | 9.4 ± 0.8* | 6.0 ± 0.4 | $10.3 \pm 1.9*$ |
| Mean time to peak glucose (min) | 35.6 ± 3.0* | 80.0 ± 13.2 | 42.0± 12.0* |
| Mean time to nadir glucose (min) | 146.3 ± 20 | 220 ± 14.1 | 120.0±28.5 |
| Mean AUC glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹ .min) | 1346.7±82.9 | 1333.3±57.4 | 1485±81.4 |
| Fasting insulin (mU.l ⁻¹) | 7.0±0.1 | 9.6±1.0 | 10.4±2.1 |
| Mean peak insulin (mU.l ⁻¹) | 139.0±23.1 | 61.1 ± 9.1 | 178.4 ± 51.0* |
| Mean insulin ₃₀ (mU.l ⁻¹) | $130.2 \pm 24.7*$ | 39.9 ± 7.7 | $152.5 \pm 44.3*$ |
| Mean time to peak insulin (min) | 39.4 ± 4.5* | 73.3±12.4 | 42.0 ± 7.3 |
| Mean AUC insulin (mU.l ⁻¹ .min) | 8233.3±1004.4 | 6729.2±988.9 | 13004.6±4159.0 |

Table 4.6 Comparison of measures of glucose homeostasis following a mixed meal in symptomatic RYGB group, a non- surgical obese group and an asymptomatic RYGB group. Significant differences are * vs Obese No RYGB, P < 0.05.

4.4.3 Investigation into changes in glucose and insulin in PPH patients: Hypo vs Non-Hypo groups

Six of the 16 patients referred with symptoms suggestive of PPH had plasma glucose concentrations below 3.0 mmol/l following a MMT (Table 4.7). In order to further investigate what causes PPH in a post RYGB patient, the subjects data was categorised into those that had biochemical hypoglycaemia (MMT Hypo) and those that did not (MMT Non-hypo).

Glucose and insulin responses to the MMT are shown in Figure 4.2 and Table 4.8. There was no significant difference in baseline plasma glucose concentrations between those that did and did not have biochemical hypoglycaemia. As expected, the MMT Hypo group had a significantly lower nadir glucose relative to the MMT Non-hypo group (Nadir glucose 2.39±0.19 [MMT-Hypo group] vs 3.40±0.16 mmol/l [MMT-Non-Hypo group]). With reference to the glycaemic profile there was no other significant difference between the two groups.

There was no significant difference in the baseline insulin concentration between the two groups. However, after consuming the mixed meal, the MMT Hypo group had a significantly higher mean peak serum insulin concentration (Peak insulin 197.8±39.2 [MMT Hypo group] vs 103.8±23.3 [MMT Non-Hypo group] P<0.05).

| Patient No. | MMT | | POGTT | | |
|-------------|----------------------|---------------------------|------------------|---------------------------|--|
| | Hypo or Non- Hypo | Nadir glucose (mmol/l) | Hypo or Non-Hypo | Nadir glucose (mmol/l) | |
| 1 | Non-Hypo | 3.7 | N/A | N/A | |
| 2 | Нуро | 2.0 | Нуро | 1.7 | |
| 3 | Нуро | 1.7 | N/A | N/A | |
| 4 | Non-Hypo | 3.5 | Нуро | 2.2 | |
| 5 | Non-Hypo | 3.9 | Non-hypo | 3.0 | |
| 6 | Non-Hypo | 4.3 | Non-hypo | 3.4 | |
| 7 | Нуро | 2.5 | Нуро | 1.7 | |
| 8 | Нуро | 2.8 | N/A | N/A | |
| 9 | Non-Hypo | 4.6 | Non-hypo | 3.4 | |
| 10 | Non-Hypo | 3.8 | Нуро | 2.3 | |
| 11 | Non-Hypo | 3.9 | Нуро | 2.3 | |
| 12 | Non-Hypo | 4.7 | Нуро | 2.9 | |
| 13 | Нуро | 2.9 | Non-hypo | 3.8 | |
| 14 | Non-Hypo | 3.4 | Нуро | 2.8 | |
| 15 | Нуро | 2.5 | Нуро | 2.2 | |
| 16 | Non-Hypo | 3.6 | Нуро | 2.8 | |

Table 4.7 Prevalence of hypoglycaemia and nadir glucose during either a MMT or POGTT. 16 subjects had a MMT whilst only 13 had a POGTT. Abbreviations, N/A- not applicable (subject did not have a POGTT)





Figure 4.2 Changes in glucose (A) and insulin (B) following a mixed meal test in patients with suspected PPH. Patients classified as either hypo (n=6) or non hypo (n=10), depending if their nadir glucose was less than 3 mmol/l. Significant differences are **P<0.01, ***P<0.0001.

| Outcome measures | MMT Hypo (N=6) | MMT Non Hypo (N=10) |
|---|-------------------|------------------------|
| Mean peak glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹) | 8.90±0.90 | 10.31±1.04 |
| Mean nadir glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹) | 2.40±0.19 | 3.94±0.14* |
| Mean time to peak glucose (min) | 30.00±0.00 | 39.00±4.58 |
| Mean time to nadir glucose (min) | 95.00±9.22 | 177.00±17.58* |
| Glucose ₃₀ (mmol.l ⁻¹) | 8.90 ± 0.90 | 9.64±1.18 |
| Mean peak insulin (mU.l ⁻¹) | 197.80±39.17 | 103.78±23.22 |
| Mean time to Peak insulin (mins) | 30.00±0.00 | 45.00±6.71 |
| Insulin ₃₀ (mU.l ⁻¹) | 162.1±45.94 | 103.1±19.16* |
| Mean AUC glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹ .min) | 1131.33±39.10 | 1429.50±111.22 |
| Mean AUC insulin (mU.l ⁻ ¹ .min) | 9325.17±1529.82 | 7113.20±1300.73 |
| Mean AUCinsulin:glucose (mU.mmol ⁻¹) | 8.15±1.38 | 5.14±0.98 |
| Mean Insulinogenic index (mU.mmol ⁻¹) | 53.85±17.19 | 21.70±6.24 |

Table 4.8 Comparison of measures of glucose homeostasis following a mixed meal in PPH patients. The symptomatic RYGB patients were further categorised into two groups, those who had biochemical hypoglycaemia (MMT Hypo) and those that did not (MMT Non-Hypo) Significant differences are * P < 0.05.

4.4.3 Investigation into changes in gut hormones in PPH patients: Hypo vs Non-Hypo groups

There was no significant difference in the baseline plasma GLP-1 levels prior to the MMT in both group (Figure 4.3). GLP-1 concentration following a mixed meal rose in both groups and after 30 minutes there was a significant difference (GLP-1₃₀ 70.9±13.2 [MMT Hypo group] vs 40.3 ± 9.4 pmol/1 [MMT Non-Hypo group] P<0.05). By 60 minutes and for the remainder of the MMT there was no difference in the concentration of GLP-1 between the groups.

Baseline fasting glucagon levels were not significantly different between the PPH Hypo group and the PPH Non-Hypo group. Following the MMT glucagon concentration increased in both groups but was significantly higher in the PPH Hypo group at 30 and 60 minutes following consumption of the MMT (glucagon₃₀ 41.4±8.6 [MMT Hypo group] vs 22.5 ± 3.4 pmol/l [MMT Non-Hypo group] P<0.05, glucagon₆₀ 38.2±10.7 [MMT Hypo group] vs 18.8±1.9 [MMT Non-Hypo group] P<0.05).

PYY and GIP concentrations rose after consumption of the mixed meal. The post prandial concentration of PPY and GIP in both groups peaked at 30 minutes. There was no significant difference in concentrations of PYY and GIP at any time point during the mixed meal between both groups.



Figure 4.3 Changes in serum GLP-1 (A), glucagon (B), PYY (C) and GIP (D) following a mixed meal test. Patients classified as either MMT Hypo (N=6) or MMT Non-Hypo (N=10), depending if their nadir glucose was less than 3 mmol/l. Significant differences are * P < 0.05.

4.4.4 Investigation into changes in glucose and insulin following a POGTT in patients with PPH.

Only 13 of the 16 patients suspected to have PPH completed the POGTT. Of those 13 subjects, 9 had evidence of biochemical hypoglycaemia (Table 4.7). Similarly, to the previous experiment using a MMT, the subjects were divided into two groups based on the presence of biochemical hypoglycaemia; POGTT Hypo and POGTT Non-Hypo.

The glucose and insulin profiles of these subjects are shown in Figure 4.4 and Table 4.9. Both groups had a similar baseline glucose prior to drinking the oral glucose challenge. After consumption, the plasma glucose rose in both groups. The PPH Non-Hypo group had a peak glucose that appeared to be later than the PPH Hypo group but this was not statistically significant.

As expected, the nadir glucose was significantly lower in the PPH Hypo group (nadir glucose: 2.39±0.19 [POGTT Hypo group] vs 3.40±0.16 mmol/l [POGTT Non-Hypo group] P<0.01).



Figure 4.4 Changes in glucose (A) and insulin (B) during a POGTT. Patients were classified as either hypo (N=9) or non hypo (N=6). Significant differences are * P < 0.05.

| Outcome measures | POGTT Hypo (N=9) | POGTT Non-Hypo |
|---|------------------|---------------------|
| Maan naak glugasa (mmal l | 14 51+1 50 | (1^-4) 15 00+1 05 |
| | 14.51±1.50 | 15.90±1.95 |
|) Maan nadir duaaca | 2 24+0 17 | 2 45+0 17* |
| (mm al 1 ⁻¹) | 2.34±0.17 | 5.45±0.17 |
| (mmon) | | |
| Mean time to peak glucose | | |
| (min) | 41.25±5.49 | 67.50±14.36 |
| Mean time to nadir glucose | | |
| (min) | 146.25±14.39 | 195.00±19.37 |
| Glucose ₃₀ (mmol.l ⁻¹) | | |
| | 13.79±1.67 | 10.33±1.24 |
| Mean Peak Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹) | 202 70+44 70 | 114 27+17 14* |
| Maar fina ta Daala in makin | 202.70±44.70 | 114.2/±1/.14 |
| Mean time to Peak Insuin | 49 75 17 80 | 52 50 17 50 |
| (mins) | 48./5±/.89 | 52.50±7.50 |
| Insulin ₃₀ (mU.I ⁻¹) | 162.1±45.94 | 103.1±19.16* |
| Mean AUC glucose (mmol. | 1131.33±39.10 | 1429.50±111.22 |
| ¹ .min) | | |
| Mean AUC insulin (mU.l | 167.00±51.79 | 77.83±6.80 |
| ¹ .min) | | |
| Mean AUCinsulin:glucose | 7.80±1.50 | 5.25±0.81 |
| (mU.mmol ⁻¹) | | |
| Mean Insulinogenic index | 45.62±32.42 | 17.52±2.31 |
| $(mU,mmol^{-1})$ | | |

Table 4.9 Comparison of measures of glucose homeostasis following a POGGT in PPH patients. The symptomatic RYGB patients were further categorised into two groups, those who had biochemical hypoglycaemia (POGTT Hypo) and those that did not (POGTT Non-Hypo) Significant differences are * P < 0.05

4.4.5 Investigation into changes in gut hormones following a POGTT in patients with Hypo and without Hypo during the test

There was no significant difference in baseline GLP-1 between the groups (Figure 4.5). Following the oral glucose challenge GLP-1 rose in both groups. The peak concentration of GLP-1 was significantly higher in the POGTT Non-Hypo group (Peak GLP-1: 63.13 ± 14.91 [POGTT Non-Hypo group] vs 25.31 ± 6.78 pmol/1 [POGTT Hypo group] P<0.0001). GLP-1 concentrations returned to baseline at 180 minutes post consummation of the oral glucose challenge.

Fasting glucagon levels were not significantly different between either group. Following the oral glucose challenge test, glucagon concentrations fluctuated but did not change significantly from the baseline levels.

GIP and PYY baseline concentrations rose after consumption of the oral glucose challenge, before returning back to baseline by 180 minutes. There was no significant difference in concentration between the two groups at any time point.



Figure 4.5 Changes in GLP-1 (A), glucagon (B), GIP (C) and PYY (D) following an oral glucose challenge. Patients were classified as either POGTT Hypo (N=9) or POGTT Non-Hypo (N=4). Significant differences are * P< 0.005, **P<0001.

4.5 Discussion

In this investigation I have demonstrated the following

- Subjects with PPH have increased glycaemic variability on continuous glucose monitoring relative to the normal ranges observed in a non-diabetic population.
- 2. After RYGB, subjects have altered glycaemic tolerance (measured by a MMT) relative to an obese population.
- Subjects who have PPH and have biochemical hypoglycaemia during a MMT have an associated increase in both plasma glucagon and GLP-1(Table 6).
- Subjects who have PPH and have biochemical hypoglycaemia during a POGTT have an associated decrease in plasma GLP-1(Table 4.10).

| | GLP-1 | Glucagon | GIP | РҮҮ |
|-------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| MMT | Increased | Increased | No change | No change |
| POGTT | Decreased | No change | No change | No change |

Table 4.10 Summary of gut hormone changes in those that have biochemical hypoglycaemia following either a MMT or a POGTT. Sixteen subjects had a MMT of which 6 had biochemical hypoglycaemia. Twelve subjects had a POGTT of which 8 had biochemical hypoglycaemia. Significant differences in peak gut hormone levels between those that have or did not have biochemical hypoglycaemia are shown.

4.5.1 Increased Glycaemic Variability

In this study, subjects with PPH were demonstrated to have increased glycaemic variability as measured by a CGM worn for five days. The specific modality of glycaemic variability that was increased was MAGE at 4.93 ± 0.75 . The normal limits of glycaemic variability (including MAGE) were based on data collected from 70 glycaemic individuals by Hill *et al*(240).

There are at present no normal limits for glycaemic variability established for the RYGB population. Subsequently it is not possible to determine whether the changes established in this study reflect the changes caused by the RYGB as opposed to being specific to the PPH population. In the current study there was an increase in MAGE relative to asymptomatic subjects who had undergone RYGB but this was not statistically significant, which is likely due to the small cohort size.

Haniare *et al* also demonstrated an increase in MAGE in 10 RYGB patients with PPH of 4.78 ± 3.28 (242). They also reported an increase in SD relative to a euglycaemic group of 10 subjects (SD 1.72 ± 1.0 [RYGB-PPH] vs 1.94 ± 0.61 [euglycaemic group] mmol/l, P=0.003). The SD determined in the current study was 2.04 ± 0.23 mmol/l. However, whilst the Hainaire *et al* study reported the SD in their RYGB-PPH group was 172

abnormal, it is within the normal reference range reported by Hill et al(240).

The increased glycaemic variability reported in this study and Haniare *et al* conflicts with a study by Marfella *et al* that demonstrated a reduction in MAGE after bariatric surgery (242,243). However, this conflicting data may be accounted by differences in methodology. Marfella *et al* studied a cohort of patients who had pancreaticobiliary diversion (an alternative operation to the RYGB). Furthermore, the Marfella study examined glycaemic variability in the in-hospital setting in contrast to the free-living environment that the current study examined.

The clinical relevance of increased glycaemic variability remains unclear in the context of RYGB patients. In patients with either type 1 or 2 diabetes there is an association between glycaemic variability and an increased incidence of hypoglycaemia(244). Other studies have shown an association between increased glycaemic variability with diabetic microvascular complications, cardiovascular disease and poor quality of life(245-247). Furthermore, short term studies investigating glycaemic variability in non-diabetic patients have shown an association with cardiovascular mortality and increased glycaemic variability(248). Whilst these findings have not been investigated in the RYGB population

173

it is noteworthy that the complications associated with increased glycaemic variability are at odds with the improved cardiovascular outcomes reported after bariatric surgery(38).

There was no significant difference in the percentage time spent hypoglycaemic between the symptomatic and asymptomatic subjects. This may reflect the small numbers of subjects analysed but would suggest that the key difference between the groups is the perception of hypoglycaemia. This observation is supported by a study by Laurenius *et al* that compared the frequency of hypoglycaemic symptoms between symptomatic and asymptomatic subjects who underwent a mixed meal test(237). Laurenius *et al* found that whilst there was no significant difference in the rate of hypoglycaemia, but that the symptomatic group had more symptoms of hypoglycaemia.

4.5.2 Altered glucose tolerance in patients post RYGB measured by a MMT

This study has demonstrated that patients post RYGB have an altered glucose tolerance relative to a control group of obese euglycemic individuals, regardless of whether they are symptomatic or asymptomatic from PPH. The altered glucose tolerance is characterised by significantly earlier and higher glucose peak concentration following consumption of a mixed meal. This data is consistent with previous reports(230).

The higher peak concentration of glucose in the RYGB patients is in keeping with their increased glycaemic variability. Whilst all RYGB patients had normal glycated haemoglobin, the elevated postprandial glucose levels invites speculation as to whether they are at increased risk of diabetic complications. Whilst the SOS study demonstrated an improvement in macrovascular complications, smaller studies have demonstrated conflicting data on the improvement in microvascular complications(249-251). The SOS study which was a non-randomised controlled study comparing bariatric surgery to lifestyle management demonstrated a significant reduction in the cumulative incidence of microvascular events from 41.8 (control group) to 20.6 per 1000 patientyears (bariatric surgery group(249)). Miras et al in a prospective case study demonstrated an improvement in nephropathy at one year post surgery but this was not shown for retinopathy or neuropathy(250). Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis investigating the effects of bariatric surgery on retinopathy revealed that whilst 19.2 ± 12.9 % of patients had improvement in their disease, 23.5±18.7 had a deterioration in retinopathy(251). The relevance of this data relates to how outcome measures after RYGB are interpreted. Many RCTs have inferred an

improvement in diabetic status based on a reduction in HbA1c(36,252). This is based on previous studies assessing intensive medical therapies demonstrating that reductions in HbA1c are a reliable surrogate marker for improvements in diabetic complications(253,254). However, whilst RYGB does improve HbA1c there is also an increase in glycaemic variability which has been shown to be an independent risk factor for an increase in microvascular complications (245). Randomised controlled studies with long term data is needed to evaluate whether the altered glucose tolerance post RYGB results in better or worse microvascular outcomes, compared to a medically treated diabetic cohort (with a similar HbA1c).

4.5.3 Differences in glucose, insulin and gut hormones, between RYGB patients who have biochemical hypoglycaemia and those that do not, during a MMT

This study demonstrated no significant difference in the peak glucose concentrations between RYGB patients that had hypoglycaemia and those that did not. However, the patients that subsequently had hypoglycaemia had a significantly higher insulin peak. The increased insulin response to glucose is associated with a higher GLP-1 and glucagon concentration. An elevated concentration of both GLP-1 and glucagon post RYGB after consumption of a mixed meal is consistent with previous reports(73,74,183). However, whilst an increased GLP-1 secretion has been implicated in the pathology of PPH, increased glucagon secretion has not. Both hormones are insulinotropic and so could be responsible for the increased insulin peak observed in PPH patients.

Elevated postprandial plasma glucagon is considered paradoxical and is associated with diabetes(255). The source of glucagon has been previously been ascribed to the pancreas but a recent study by Holst et al have demonstrated extra-pancreatic glucagon secretion in patients who have had pancreatectomies(256). Holst et al speculate that the elevated glucagon may originate from L cells with aberrant processing of proglucagon. As there is hyperplasia of L cells after RYGB, as well as hyper-secretion of other hormones such as GLP-1 from these enteroendocrine cells it is possible that they account for the elevated postprandial glucagon levels(177,179,257). One method to asses this would be to perform pancreatectomies in rodent models of RYGB to investigate whether the observed elevated postprandial glucagon persists.

177

The relative contribution of GLP-1 and glucagon to the elevated insulin and subsequent hypoglycaemia remains unclear. There is conflicting data on the role of GLP-1 in PPH. Goldfine et al have demonstrated that patients with PPH have higher concentrations of GLP-1 than obese and symptomatic RYGB controls(184). Furthermore Salehi et al have previously shown that an infusion of a GLP-1 receptor antagonist (Exendin 9-39) during a mixed meal test in patients with PPH ameliorated the hypoglycaemia(235). However, in contrast to the above findings, surgical reversal of RYGB reduces the elevated GLP-1 concentration in PPH patients to presurgical levels but does not cure them of their hypoglycaemia(258). In contrast to the findings of Salehi et al, another group have demonstrated that GLP-1 receptor agonists can successfully treat PPH suggesting that GLP-1 action may be of benefit in this disease(191).

The mechanism by which GLP-1 receptor agonists ameliorate PPH has not been confirmed. GLP-1's known actions of reducing gastric emptying and increasing glucose-dependent insulin secretion are unlikely to contribute to its beneficial effect in patients with PPH(259). Post RYGB, patient have a small gastric pouch which rapidly empties and so is unlikely to be affected by GLP-1. Any insulinotropic action of GLP-1 would likely make hypoglycaemia worse and hence, it is counterintuitive that a GLP-1 agonist could improve PPH. However, its glucagonostatic action may be relevant based on the current study's finding of elevated glucagon concentration in the MMT Hypo patients. GLP-1 is known to potently inhibit glucagon secretion independently of its action on insulin secretion(260). Pancreatic β cells have glucagon receptors and cell studies have demonstrated that glucagon stimulates glucose dependent insulin secretion(261). The presence of a glucagon antagonist resulted in a 51±6% reduction in insulin secretion(261). This data supports the potential role of glucagon in the elevated postprandial insulin levels observed in PPH. Further evaluation is needed to determine whether GLP-1 receptor agonist treatment results in reduced glucagon concentration in PPH patients.

4.5.4 Comparison of glucose, insulin and gut hormone responses between a MMT and POGTT in patients with PPH.

More of the PPH patients demonstrated biochemical hypoglycaemia following consumption of an oral glucose challenge (9/13 or 69%) compared to a mixed meal stimulus (6/16 or 37.5%). Interestingly, in contrast with the MMT study, in those PPH patients who had biochemical

hypoglycaemia during the POGTT, there was a significant reduction in GLP-1 concentration. Furthermore, there was no significant increase in glucagon concentration following consumption of the oral glucose challenge in either the hypoglycaemic or non-hypoglycaemic group, in contrast to the situation with the MMT where we found an increased post-prandial secretion of glucagon in the hypoglycaemic group. The relatively high prevalence of hypoglycaemia following a oral glucose challenge relative to a mixed meal supports the notion that a diet that uses carbohydrates with low glycemic index may benefit patients with PPH(262).

The differences noted above may relate to differences in the stimulus used in either provocation test. The mixed meal provocation test uses a mixture of fat (20%), protein (16%) and carbohydrate (64%) whilst the POGTT uses 75 g of anhydrous glucose. In addition to the disparity in macronutrients, there are also differences in total calorie content (290 calories in POGTT and 330 calories in the MMT) and volume (500 ml in the POGTT and 220 ml in the MMT).

The stimulus used in the POGTT results in faster absorption of glucose by the intestine into the blood stream. This is reflected in the higher peak
glucose observed in the POGGT relative to the MMT (Peak glucose 15.02±1.16 [POGTT] vs 9.78±0.73 mmol/l [MMT] P<0.001).

The absence in any rise in glucagon concentration following the POGTT is likely due to the absence of protein as amino acids are a potent stimulus for glucagon secretion. Fat also causes an increase in glucagon concentration but less so than protein(263,264).

The mechanisms that underlie the significant increase in GLP-1 concentration in POGTT Non-Hypo group compared to the POGTT Hypo group remain unclear. This finding may be due to a type I statistical error due to the low number of subjects in the POGTT Non-Hypo group. Few studies have used an oral glucose stimulus, opting instead for a mixed meal test. However, those that have used a POGTT have demonstrated an increase in GLP-1 albeit with an even smaller number of subjects studied than the current study (265).

Also, the subdivision of subjects into those that have hypoglycaemia and those that do not is based the premise that in the absence of hypoglycaemia, there is no associated abnormal gut hormone response beyond what is observed after RYGB. However, if the above premise is

not true, the POGTT Non-Hypo group would not be an appropriate control group.

A further study with larger numbers of subjects and a separate control group of RYGB subjects who have no symptoms of PPH may help to explain the findings from the POGTT study. A larger cohort size would increase the power of the study.

The observations in this study have been made based on a single provocation test and should be interpreted with caution regarding the reproducibility of the provocation tests. Specifically, the oral glucose tolerance test has been shown to have variable results on repeat testing(266-268). Hence, a subject who is known to have PPH may have biochemical hypoglycaemia following a single provocation test but this may not occur on repeat testing and vice versa. To make the study tractable. I classified the subject as having PPH if they had biochemical hypoglycaemia following provocation regardless of their previous history. An alternative method would be to repeat MMTs or POGTT on each individual subject and correlate gut hormone levels to their glucose status. However, the symptoms of PPH after provocation are difficult to tolerate and subsequently it may be difficult to recruit for multiple provocation tests.

In conclusion, these studies have demonstrated a number of significant findings in the hormonal fluxes that occur in PPH. GLP-1, which is thought to underlie many of the improvements in glucose tolerance post RYGB, may also play a role in the pathogenesis of PPH. Furthermore, changes in glucagon secretion may also be important. A greater understanding of the roles of these hormones could help treat PPH patients as well as to guide future medical treatment for obesity based on gut hormones.

Chapter 5

General Discussion

The prevalence of obesity has rapidly risen such that 25% of the UK adult population is now obese(269). The cost of obesity can be measured both to the individual in terms of associated medical conditions and to society with respect to the costs of treating obesity.

Obesity is associated with a variety of medical conditions including T2DM, ischaemic heart disease, OSA, hypertension and cancer(270). The cumulative health burden associated with obesity is reflected in the 50% higher mortality risk in young adults with obesity relative to those who are overweight(271). For society the economic burden to the NHS, from treating overweight and obese individuals is £5.1 billion(272). Worryingly, the prevalence of childhood obesity continues to rise, which forebodes an ever increasing health burden unless suitable, effective treatments are achieved(273).

Currently, the most effective treatment for obesity is bariatric surgery resulting in sustained weight loss and improvements in obesity related comorbidities up to 20 years later(38). The weight loss observed after RYGB surgery is greater than either of the currently available antiobesity therapeutics; orlistat (GlaxoSmithKline, London UK) or liraglutide (NovoNordisk, Denmark)(17,38,123).

Orlistat is an intestinal lipase inhibitor(274). Weight loss with orlistat is significant but modest; at one year a systematic review showed 3.5% greater weight loss than placebo(17). The XENDOS study (which had a longer follow up of four years) revealed weight loss of 2.4% greater than placebo(275). This study also illustrated that the significant gastrointestinal side effect profile of orlistat which resulted in a 48% attrition rate(275).

Liraglutide is more effective, achieving 5.4 % greater weight loss than placebo at one year(123). This anti-obesity medication is based on a gut hormone, GLP-1, that has multiple beneficial metabolic actions including an insulinotrophic effect, a delay in gastric emptying, a reduction in food intake and an increase in satiety. It is also one of a series of hormones (including glucagon, OXM and PYY) whose postprandial concentration is increased after RYGB surgery(180). Whilst the weight loss observed with liraglutide is lower that than observed after RYGB, the use of additional gut hormones combined with a GLP-1 agonist may result in greater weight loss.

A series of studies have explored the benefits of dual infusion of gut hormones on food intake. Human infusion studies have demonstrated that combining GLP-1 with PYY, OXM or glucagon has an additive anorectic effect(201,218,276). However, there are no data on the effects of combined infusions on glucose tolerance, nor the effects on food take by the co-infusion of three hormones. This thesis builds on these previous studies, further investigating the co-infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon, but also focusing on their effects on glucose tolerance. It also investigates the effects of a triple hormone infusion on food intake in man. The studies were designed to use hormone doses that would replicate the levels observed following RYGB to assess the contribution that these hormones have on food intake and glucose tolerance as well as to explore their use as an anti-obesity treatment. Furthermore, the role of gut hormones in the pathology of a PPH (a complication of RYGB) has been investigated to address potential safety issues of raised gut hormones after RYGB.

Co-infusion of GLP-1, OXM and PYY on food intake in man.

In chapter 3, I have demonstrated for the first time that co-infusion of GLP-1, oxyntomodulin and PYY resulted in a reduction in food intake relative to saline. The novelty of this study is two-fold. Firstly, it represents the first in man infusion of three gut hormones. Secondly, whilst GLP-1 has been previously delivered via a SC pump, oxyntomodulin and PYY have not.

The latter is particularly relevant to the feasibility of this treatment being used for obese patients. Previous co-infusions of gut hormones have been characterised by being intravenous as well as acute (lasting from 90 to 240 minutes and only using one *ad-libitum* meal) whilst the current study used a 14 hour infusion and assessed food intake over two meals. Given that gut hormones have a short half life ranging from 4-12 minutes, an appropriate drug delivery system has to be used(142,277,278). Evidence that a continuous subcutaneous pump would be acceptable for patients is their current use in the treatment of T1DM and Parkinson's disease(221,222). An alternative method of administering gut hormones is the use of long acting analogues. However, whilst there are numerous types of GLP-1 based analogues, there are no commercially available long acting agonists at the PYY or OXM receptors, although these are in phase I development(279-281).

The triple hormone infusion of OXM, GLP-1 and glucagon did not alter plasma glucose or serum insulin concentrations relative to saline. As subjects were given *ad-libitum* meals, it is not possible to comment on post-prandial glucose concentrations due to the confounding effects of different energy intake. However, there was no difference in the preprandial glucose concentrations between the triple hormone and saline infusion arms. Nuack *et al* using an intravenous infusion of GLP-1 (1.2 pmol/kg/min) demonstrated a significant reduction in fasting glucose concentration in subjects with insulin-treated T2DM(282). Furthermore, in chapter 2, an intravenous infusion of 0.4 pmol/kg/min resulted in a significant reduction in pre-prandial glucose concentrations. However, Toft-Nielsen *et al* using a dose of subcutaneous GLP-1 (2.4 pmol/kg/min) in subjects with non-insulin dependent T2DM found no significant effect on fasting glycaemia(283). The disparity between the studies may be accounted by the glycaemic status of the subjects. Alternatively, in the study by Nauck et al the intravenous infusion of GLP-1 resulted in a significant reduction in plasma glucagon concentrations whilst the study by Toft-Nielsen et al did not. An elevated plasma glucagon concentration is observed in T2DM and may partly account for the hyperglycaemia seen in this disease(70). This is supported by the finding in chapter 2, in which the infusion of glucagon resulted in higher pre-prandial glucose concentrations.

5.1 Co-infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon on carbohydrate tolerance in man.

In chapter 2, I demonstrated that the addition of GLP-1 to glucagon infusion in humans attenuated the post-prandial insulinotrophic effect of glucagon alone. Furthermore, the infusion of GLP-1 alone results in a lower postprandial insulin response compared to vehicle. This conflicts with data demonstrating that both glucagon and GLP-1 stimulate insulin release via their respective receptors on pancreatic β -cells(284-286). The attenuated postprandial insulin concentration observed with GLP-1 alone is potentially due to its effect on delaying gastric emptying(101).

In contrast with the findings above, the elevated post-prandial insulin observed in subjects with PPH was associated with raised GLP-1 concentrations. This disparity may be due to the changes to the mechanical properties of the stomach after RYGB. After RYGB, patients have a smaller gastric pouch with no pylorus resulting in rapid gastric pouch emptying. Hence, any effect of GLP-1 on attenuation serum insulin concentrations due to gastric emptying in the post RYGB patients, may be outweighed by its insulinotrophic effects.

In chapter 4, RYGB patients with hypoglycemia had higher peak postprandial insulin concentrations and subsequent lower plasma glucose concentrations. Hypoglycemia was also associated with higher levels of both GLP-1 and glucagon. Co-infusion of GLP-1 and glucagon in chapter 2, did result in a lower AUC glucose relative to placebo, but there was no evidence of hypoglycemia (blood glucose less than 4.0 mmol/L). The absence of hypoglycemia observed in the infusion studies may reflect the

small cohort size, the relatively lower concentrations of GLP-1 and glucagon or the difference between infusions delivered in the short-term and the chronic elevation of hormones observed after RYGB. This latter factor may be relevant as studies with follow up of patients receiving long-term administration of GLP-1 have shown an increase in the incidence of hypoglycemia relative to placebo(123,287). Furthermore, tumours that secrete GLP-1 have been associated with reactive hypoglycemia(288,289).

There are at present no human studies investigating the effects of chronic administration of glucagon. Tumours that secrete glucagon are generally associated with hyperglycemia and diabetes(290). However, there is a case report of a patient with a glucagonoma presenting with hypoglycemia suggesting that glucagon could be implicated in PPH(291). There has also been one case report of a patient with a tumour that co-secreted both GLP-1 and glucagon that presented with both hypo-and hyperglycemia(289). It is possible that in the former case report by Bolt *et al*, the tumour was co-secreting GLP-1 with glucagon as no GLP-1 assay was performed.

The association of elevated glucagon with hypoglycemia is counterintuitive as whilst glucagon is known to be insulinotrophic, it is also

considered a counter-regulatory hormone to insulin and is used in the treatment of hypoglycemia. Glucagonincreases plasma glucose levels by promoting gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis(292). One possible mechanism by which elevated glucagon concentration post RYGB may result in hypoglycemia is through tachyphylaxis. Tachyphylaxis is the process by which repeated administration of a ligand results in a reduction in effect and has been observed with glucagon in the context of hepatic glycogenolysis(293). It is possible that the significantly elevated glucagon concentrations observed in patients with PPH results in tachyphylaxis such that the effect of glucagon on glycogenolysis is attenuated, resulting in hypoglycemia in the context of elevated insulin. This hypothesis could be investigated using animal studies in which insulin is administered to mice that have been receiving a continuous infusion of glucagon or saline, at various durations, to assess the presence of hypoglycemia. The duration of glucagon infusion in which hypoglycemia occurs would provide information as to the timing at which tachyphylaxis occurs. Furthermore, if hypoglycemia does occur, the study could be repeated after a period in which the glucagon infusion has been stopped to determine if the tachyphylaxis is reversible.

5.2 Combining gut hormones as treatment for obesity

The work presented in this thesis demonstrates that co-administration of a combination of gut hormones can reduce food intake (GLP-1, OXM and PYY) and improve glycemic control (GLP-1 and glucagon). However, these data result from short-term studies and prior to further development as anti-obesity treatments, longer duration studies are warranted.

Specific hurdles to the use of gut hormones as a treatment for obesity include the increased incidence of nausea, potential risks of pancreatitis and PPH(187,294,295). In chapter 3, the dose finding part of the study demonstrated that GLP-1, OXM and PYY can all cause a dose-dependent nausea and that combining those hormones reduces the individual peptide dose at which nausea occurs. Clinical trials investigating GLP-1 analogues have demonstrated a dose-dependent relationship with nausea that is transient(294). Hence, there may be attenuation of nausea following chronic triple hormone administration.

Concerns regarding the risk of pancreatitis with the use of GLP-1 analogues in man were first raised following an analysis of the FDA's database of reported adverse events(295) Subsequent analysis of alternative databases and meta-analysis have failed to demonstrate further evidence supporting this safety concern (296,297). However, any future clinical research study investigating the chronic effects of administration of GLP-1 with OXM and PYY will likely need to monitor amylase and lipase (surrogates of pancreatitis) concentrations.

Gut hormones, and specifically GLP-1 have been implicated in the pathology of PPH since its first description(232) This thesis provides further evidence supporting the association of GLP-1 with PPH. In addition it also shows an association with elevated post prandial glucagon levels. However, whether the relationship between PPH and elevated GLP-1 and glucagon is causal remains unclear. Furthermore, the use of GLP-1 agonists have proven helpful in the treatment of PPH(191). Nonetheless, further clinical trials using a triple hormone combination will require glucose monitoring.

In conclusion, co-administration of GLP-1, OXM and PYY has been shown to reduce energy intake whilst GLP-1 and glucagon resulted in improved carbohydrate tolerance. These findings add support to the proposal that gut hormones have a role in the metabolic benefits observed after RYGB. However, further long-term studies are required to determine whether the acute changes observed translate to longer-term

improvements in metabolic status as well as to assess the incidence of side-effects such as nausea, pancreatitis and PPH.

Future work

A study comparing the effects of RYGB surgery with those of a chronic infusion (28 days) of a combination of GLP-1, oxyntomodulin and PYY.

Following on from the acute study demonstrating a reduction in food intake with the triple hormone infusion, this investigation will study the effects of a chronic infusion on specific outcomes that are known to improve after RYGB. These include, food intake, body weight, energy expenditure and carbohydrate tolerance. A control group consisting of matched subjects undergoing RYGB will be used to compare outcomes. The results of this study will provide information on the contribution of elevated gut hormones on the beneficial metabolic effects of RYGB. In addition, it will provide answers regarding the feasibility of delivering gut hormones via a subcutaneous pump and potentially represent a step closer to combination gut hormone therapy becoming a treatment for obesity.

A randomised controlled study investigating the use of liraglutide in the treatment of PPH.

The work in this thesis has shown an association between both GLP-1 and glucagon with PPH. However, a causal link has not been established with both GLP-1 receptor antagonists and agonists demonstrating an attenuation in hypoglycaemia. The evidence regarding GLP-1 agonists is limited to a case series. Hence, a randomised controlled, blinded study is needed to determine whether this effect is real. GLP-1 agonists suppress glucagon and so this study will be useful in determining the relative contributions of both GLP-1 and glucagon in the pathology of PPH.

Chapter 6

Appendix

6.1 Appendix 1- VAS

VISUAL ANALOGUE SCALE

| | EVTDEMELV |
|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| | |
| How sick do you feel right now? | |
| NOT AT ALL | EXTREMELY |
| How pleasant would it be to eat | right now? |
| NOT AT ALL | EXTREMELY |
| How much do you think you cou | ld eat right now? |
| NOTHING | A LARGE |
| How full do you feel right now? | |
| NOT AT ALL | EXTREMELY |

E.

6.2 Appendix 2- Magpix Protocol

IMMUNOASSAY PROCEDURE

- Prior to beginning this assay, it is imperative to read this protocol completely and to thoroughly understand the Technical Guidelines.
- Allow all reagents to warm to room temperature (20-25°C) before use in the assay.
- Diagram the placement of Standards [0 (Background), Standards 1-7, Controls 1 and 2, and Samples on Well Map Worksheet in a vertical configuration. (Note: Most instruments will only read the 96-well plate vertically by default.) It is recommended to run the assay in duplicate.
- If using a filter plate, set the filter plate on a plate holder at all times during reagent dispensing and incubation steps so that the bottom of the plate does not touch any surface.
- Add 200 µL of Assay Buffer into each well of the plate. Seal and mix on a plate shaker for 10 minutes at room temperature (20-25°C).
- Decant Assay Buffer and remove the residual amount from all wells by inverting the plate and tapping it smartly onto absorbent towels several times.
- Add 25 µL of each Standard or Control into the appropriate wells. Assay Buffer should be used for 0 pg/mL standard (Background).
- Add 25 µL of Assay Buffer to the sample wells.
- Add 25 µL of appropriate matrix solution to the background, standards, and control wells. When assaying serum or plasma, use the Serum Matrix provided in the kit. When assaying tissue culture or other supernatant, use proper control culture medium as the matrix solution.
- Add 25 µL of Sample (neat) into the appropriate wells.
- Vortex Mixing Bottle and add 25 µL of the Mixed Beads to each well. (Note: During addition of Beads, shake bead bottle intermittently to avoid settling.)
- Seal the plate with a plate sealer. Wrap the plate with foil and incubate with agitation on a plate shaker for overnight incubation (16-18 hours) at 4°C.

Shake 10 min, RT Decant Add 25 µL Standard or Control to appropriate wells Add 25 µL Assay Buffer to . background and sample wells Add 25 µL appropriate matrix solution to background, standards, and control wells Add 25 µL neat Samples to sample wells Add 25 µL Beads to each well

Add 200 µL Assay Buffer

per well

Incubate overnight at 4°C

- Gently remove well contents and wash plate 3 times following instructions listed in the PLATE WASHING section.
- Add 50 µL of Detection Antibodies into each well. (Note: Allow the Detection Antibodies to warm to room temperature prior to addition.)
- Seal, cover with foil and incubate with agitation on a plate shaker for 1 hour at room temperature (20-25°C). DO NOT ASPIRATE AFTER INCUBATION.
- Add 50 µL Streptavidin-Phycoerythrin to each well containing the 50 µL of Detection Antibodies.
- Seal, cover with foil and incubate with agitation on a plate shaker for 30 minutes at room temperature (20-25°C).
- Gently remove well contents and wash plate 3 times following instructions listed in the PLATE WASHING section.
- Add 100 µL of Sheath Fluid (or Drive Fluid if using MAGPIX[®]) to all wells. Resuspend the beads on a plate shaker for 5 minutes.
- Run plate on Luminex 200[™], HTS, FLEXMAP 3D[®] or MAGPIX[®] with xPONENT[®] software.
- 17. Save and analyze the Median Fluorescent Intensity (MFI) data using a 5-parameter logistic or spline curve-fitting method for calculating analyte concentrations in samples. (Note: For diluted samples, multiply the calculated concentration by the dilution factor.)



HAIHEMAG-34K Rev. 09-OCT-2014

PAGE 13

EMD MILLIPORE

References

- Finucane MM, Stevens GA, Cowan MJ, Danaei G, Lin JK, Paciorek CJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in bodymass index since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 960 country-years and 9.1 million participants. The Lancet. 2011 Feb;377(9765):557–67.
- 2. Elias CF, Lee C, Kelly J, Aschkenasi C, Ahima RS, Couceyro PR, et al. Leptin activates hypothalamic CART neurons projecting to the spinal cord. Neuron. 1998 Dec;21(6):1375–85.
- 3. Broberger C, Johansen J, Johansson C, Schalling M, Hökfelt T. The neuropeptide Y/agouti gene-related protein (AGRP) brain circuitry in normal, anorectic, and monosodium glutamate-treated mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1998 Dec 8;95(25):15043–8.
- 4. Murphy KG, Bloom SR. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homeostasis. Nature. 2006 Dec;444(7121):854–9.
- Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, Thun MJ. Overweight, Obesity, and Mortality from Cancer in a Prospectively Studied Cohort of U.S. Adults. N Engl J Med. 2003 Apr 24;348(17):1625–38.
- 6. Davies RJ, Stradling. The relationship between neck circumference, radiographic pharyngeal anatomy, and the obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome. European Respiratory Journal. European Respiratory Society; 1990 May 1;3(5):509–14.
- 7. Kannel WB, Brand N, Skinner JJ, Dawber TR, McNamara PM. The relation of adiposity to blood pressure and development of hypertension. The Framingham study. Ann Intern Med. 1967 Jun 30;67(1):48–59.
- 8. Klop B, Elte JWF, Cabezas MC. Dyslipidemia in obesity: mechanisms and potential targets. Nutrients. 2013 Mar 31;5(4):1218–40.
- 9. Hartemink N, Boshuizen HC, Nagelkerke NJD, Jacobs MAM, van Houwelingen HC. Combining risk estimates from observational

studies with different exposure cutpoints: a meta-analysis on body mass index and diabetes type 2. Am J Epidemiol. 2006 Jun 1;163(11):1042–52.

- Romero-Corral A, Montori VM, Somers VK, Korinek J, Thomas RJ, Allison TG, et al. Association of bodyweight with total mortality and with cardiovascular events in coronary artery disease: a systematic review of cohort studies. The Lancet. 2006 Aug;368(9536):666–78.
- 11. Ford ES. Risks for all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome: a summary of the evidence. Diabetes Care. 2005 Jul;28(7):1769–78.
- Stegenga H, Haines A, Jones K, Wilding J, Guideline Development Group. Identification, assessment, and management of overweight and obesity: summary of updated NICE guidance. Vol. 349, BMJ. 2014. 6608–8.
- 13. Tsigos C, Hainer V, Basdevant A, Finer N, Fried M, Mathus-Vliegen E, et al. Management of obesity in adults: European clinical practice guidelines. Obes Facts. 2008 Jan 1;1(2):106–16.
- 14. Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, Ard JD, Comuzzie AG, Donato KA, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS guideline for the management of overweight and obesity in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and The Obesity Society. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2014 Jun 30;63(25 Pt B):2985–3023.
- 15. Lim EL, Hollingsworth KG, Aribisala BS, Chen MJ, Mathers JC, Taylor R. Reversal of type 2 diabetes: normalisation of beta cell function in association with decreased pancreas and liver triacylglycerol. Diabetologia. 2011 Jun 9;54(10):2506–14.
- 16. Anderson JW, Konz EC, Frederich RC, Wood CL. Long-term weight-loss maintenance: a meta-analysis of US studies. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2001 Nov;74(5):579–84.
- Yanovski SZ, Yanovski JA. Long-term drug treatment for obesity: a systematic and clinical review. JAMA. 2014 Jan 1;311(1):74– 86.
- 18. Padwal R, Kezouh A, Levine M, Etminan M. Long-term

persistence with orlistat and sibutramine in a population-based cohort. International Journal of Obesity. 2007 Apr 10;31(10):1567–70.

- 19. Marshall EM. Valvular heart disease associated with fenfluramine-phentermine. N Engl J Med. 1997 Dec 11;337(24):1775–6.
- 20. Thomsen WJ, Grottick AJ, Menzaghi F, Reyes-Saldana H, Espitia S, Yuskin D, et al. Lorcaserin, a novel selective human 5hydroxytryptamine2C agonist: in vitro and in vivo pharmacological characterization. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2008 May;325(2):577–87.
- 21. Smith SR, Weissman NJ, Anderson CM, Sanchez M, Chuang E, Stubbe S, et al. Multicenter, placebo-controlled trial of lorcaserin for weight management. N Engl J Med. 2010 Jul 14;363(3):245– 56.
- 22. Fidler MC, Sanchez M, Raether B, Weissman NJ, Smith SR, Shanahan WR, et al. A One-Year Randomized Trial of Lorcaserin for Weight Loss in Obese and Overweight Adults: The BLOSSOM Trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011 Oct;96(10):3067–77.
- 23. O'Neil PM, Smith SR, Weissman NJ, Fidler MC, Sanchez M, Zhang J, et al. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial of Lorcaserin for Weight Loss in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: The BLOOM-DM Study. Obesity. 2012 Mar 16;20(7):1426–36.
- 24. BenMenachem E, Henriksen O, Dam M, Mikkelsen M, Schmidt D, Reid S, et al. Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of topiramate as add-on therapy in patients with refractory partial seizures. Epilepsia. 1996 Jun;37(6):539–43.
- 25. Kaminski RM, Banerjee M, Rogawski MA. Topiramate selectively protects against seizures induced by ATPA, a GluR5 kainate receptor agonist. Neuropharmacology. 2004 Jun.46(8):1097-1104.
- Picard F, Deshaies Y, Lalonde J, Samson P, Richard D. Topiramate reduces energy and fat gains in lean (Fa/?) and obese (fa/fa) Zucker rats. Obes Res. 2000 Dec;8(9):656–63.
- 27. Gadde KM, Allison DB, Ryan DH, Peterson CA, Troupin B,

Schwiers ML, et al. Effects of low-dose, controlled-release, phentermine plus topiramate combination on weight and associated comorbidities in overweight and obese adults (CONQUER): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9774):1341–52.

- 28. Allison DB, Gadde KM, Garvey WT, Peterson CA, Schwiers ML, Najarian T, et al. Controlled-release phentermine/topiramate in severely obese adults: a randomized controlled trial (EQUIP). Obesity 2012 Feb 1;20(2):330–42.
- 29. Johnson BA. Update on neuropharmacological treatments for alcoholism: scientific basis and clinical findings. Biochemical pharmacology. 2008 Jan 75 (1):34-56.
- Anderson JW, Greenway F, Fujioka K, Gadde K, McKenney JM. Bupropion SR significantly enhances weight loss when used with a moderate-intensity lifestyle intervention: A 48-week study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2002 Feb;75(2):379S– 379S.
- Wadden TA, Foreyt JP, Foster GD, Hill JO, Klein S, O'Neil PM, et al. Weight Loss With Naltrexone SR/Bupropion SR Combination Therapy as an Adjunct to Behavior Modification: The COR-BMOD Trial. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2010 Jun 17;19(1):110–20.
- 32. Apovian CM, Aronne L, Rubino D, Still C, Wyatt H, Burns C, et al. A Randomized, Phase 3 Trial of Naltrexone SR/Bupropion SR on Weight and Obesity-related Risk Factors (COR-II). Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013 May;21(5):935–43.
- 33. Hollander P, Gupta AK, Plodkowski R, Greenway F, Bays H, Burns C, et al. Effects of Naltrexone Sustained-Release/Bupropion Sustained-Release Combination Therapy on Body Weight and Glycemic Parameters in Overweight and Obese Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2013;36:4022-4029.
- 34. Greenway FL, Fujioka K, Plodkowski RA, Mudaliar S, Guttadauria M, Erickson J, et al. Effect of naltrexone plus bupropion on weight loss in overweight and obese adults (COR-I): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9741):595–605.
- 35. Smith BR, Schauer P, Nguyen NT. Surgical Approaches to the

Treatment of Obesity: Bariatric Surgery. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America. 2008 Dec;37(4):943–64.

- Mingrone G, Panunzi S, De Gaetano A, Guidone C, Iaconelli A, Leccesi L, et al. Bariatric Surgery versus Conventional Medical Therapy for Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2012 Apr 26;366(17):1577–85.
- Schauer PR, Kashyap SR, Wolski K, Brethauer SA, Kirwan JP, Pothier CE, et al. Bariatric Surgery versus Intensive Medical Therapy in Obese Patients with Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2012 Apr 26;366(17):1567–76.
- 38. Sjöström L, Peltonen M, Jacobson P, Sjöström CD, Karason K, Wedel H, et al. Bariatric surgery and long-term cardiovascular events. JAMA. 2012 Jan 4;307(1):56–65.
- 39. Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E, Jensen MD. Bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2004;292(14):1727–37.
- 40. Pournaras DJ, Glicksman C, Vincent RP, Kuganolipava S, Alaghband-Zadeh J, Mahon D, et al. The role of bile after Rouxen-Y gastric bypass in promoting weight loss and improving glycaemic control. Endocrinology. 2012 Aug;153(8):3613–9.
- 41. Katsuma S, Hirasawa A, Tsujimoto G. Bile acids promote glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion through TGR5 in a murine enteroendocrine cell line STC-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005 Apr 1;329(1):386–90.
- 42. Ma H, Patti ME. Bile acids, obesity, and the metabolic syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2014 Aug;28(4):573–83.
- 43. Li JV, Ashrafian H, Bueter M, Kinross J, Sands C, le Roux CW, et al. Metabolic surgery profoundly influences gut microbial-host metabolic cross-talk. Gut. 2011 Aug 6;60(9):1214–23.
- 44. Liou AP, Paziuk M, Luevano JM, Machineni S, Turnbaugh PJ, Kaplan LM. Conserved Shifts in the Gut Microbiota Due to Gastric Bypass Reduce Host Weight and Adiposity. Science Translational Medicine. 2013 Mar 27;5(178):178ra41–1.
- 45. Zhang H, DiBaise JK, Zuccolo A, Kudrna D, Braidotti M, Yu Y, et al. Human gut microbiota in obesity and after gastric bypass.

Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2009;106(7):2365-70.

- 46. Aron-Wisnewsky J, Clement K. The effects of gastrointestinal surgery on gut microbiota: potential contribution to improved insulin sensitivity. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2014 Nov;16(11):454.
- 47. Kimball CP, Murlin JR. Aqueous extracts of pancreas III. Some precipitation reactions of insulin. Vol. 58. Journal of Biological Chemistry; 1923. 10 p.
- 48. Schulman JL, Carelton JL, Whitney G, Whitehorn JC. Effect of glucagon on food intake and body weight in man. J Appl Physiol. 1957 Nov 1;11(3):419–21.
- 49. Tan TM, Field BCT, McCullough KA, Troke RC, Chambers ES, Salem V, et al. Coadministration of glucagon-like peptide-1 during glucagon infusion in humans results in increased energy expenditure and amelioration of hyperglycemia. Diabetes. 2013 Apr;62(4):1131–8.
- 50. Bell GI, Santerre RF, Mullenbach GT. Hamster preproglucagon contains the sequence of glucagon and two related peptides. Nature. 1983 Apr 20;302(5910):716–8.
- 51. Mojsov S, Heinrich G, Wilson IB, Ravazzola M, Orci L, Habener JF. Preproglucagon gene expression in pancreas and intestine diversifies at the level of post-translational processing. J Biol Chem. 1986 Sep 4;261(25):11880–9.
- 52. Rouille Y, Westermark G, Martin SK, Steiner DF. Proglucagon Is Processed to Glucagon by Prohormone Convertase Pc2 in Alpha-Tc1-6 Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1994;91(8):3242–6.
- 53. Rouille Y, Kantengwa S, Irminger JC, Halban PA. Role of the prohormone convertase PC3 in the processing of proglucagon to glucagon-like peptide 1. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(52):32810–6.
- 54. Unger RH, Orci L. Physiology and Pathophysiology of Glucagon. Physiological Reviews. 1976;56(4):778–826.
- 55. Guettet C, Mathe D, Riottot M, Lutton C. Effects of chronic glucagon administration on cholesterol and bile acid metabolism. Biochim Biophys Acta Lipids Lipid Metab. 1988 Jan 1;963(2):215–23.
- 56. Longuet C, Sinclair EM, Maida A, Baggio LL, Maziarz M,

Charron MJ, et al. The glucagon receptor is required for the adaptive metabolic response to fasting. Cell Metabolism. 2008 Nov;8(5):359–71.

- 57. Richter WO, Robl H, Schwandt P. Human glucagon and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) stimulate free fatty acid release from human adipose tissue in vitro. Peptides. 1989 Jan 1;10(2):333–5.
- 58. Perea A, Clemente F, Martinell J, Villanueva-Peñacarrillo ML, Valverde I. Physiological effect of glucagon in human isolated adipocytes. Horm Metab Res. 1995 Jul 31;27(8):372–5.
- 59. Martin JR, Novin D. Decreased feeding in rats following hepaticportal infusion of glucagon. Physiol Behav. 1977 Oct;19(4):461– 6.
- 60. Stunkard AJ, van Itallie TB, Reis BB. The mechanism of satiety: effect of glucagon on gastric hunger contractions in man. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1955 May 31;89(2):258–61.
- 61. Le Sauter J, Noh U, Geary N. Hepatic portal infusion of glucagon antibodies increases spontaneous meal size in rats. Am J Physiol. 1991 Jun 30;261(1 Pt 2):R162–5.
- 62. Geary N, Kissileff HR, Pi-Sunyer FX, Hinton V. Individual, but not simultaneous, glucagon and cholecystokinin infusions inhibit feeding in men. Am J Physiol. 1992 May 31;262(6 Pt 2):R975–80.
- 63. Weatherford SC, Ritter S. Glucagon satiety: Diurnal variation after hepatic branch vagotomy or intraportal alloxan. Brain Res Bull. 1986 Jan 1;17(4):545–9.
- 64. Yahata T, Habara Y, Kuroshima A. Effects of glucagon and noradrenaline on the blood flow through brown adipose tissue in temperature-acclimated rats. Jpn J Physiol. 1983 Jan 1;33(3):367–76.
- 65. Seitz HJ, Krone W, Wilke H, Tarnowski W. Rapid rise in plasma glucagon induced by acute cold exposure in man and rat. Pflugers Arch. 1981 Jan 1;389(2):115–20.
- 66. Dicker A, Zhao J, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Apparent thermogenic effect of injected glucagon is not due to a direct effect on brown fat cells. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 1998 Nov

1;275(5):1674-82.

- 67. Billington CJ, Bartness TJ, Briggs J, Levine AS, Morley JE. Glucagon stimulation of brown adipose tissue growth and thermogenesis. Am J Physiol. 1987 Jan 1;252(1 Pt 2):R160–5.
- 68. Salem V, Izzi-Engbeaya C, Coello C, Thomas DB, Chambers ES, Comninos A, et al. Glucagon Increases Energy Expenditure Independently of Brown Adipose Tissue Activation in Humans. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2016 Jan 5;(18):72–81.
- 69. Miyoshi H, Shulman GI, Peters EJ, Wolfe MH, Elahi D, Wolfe RR. Hormonal control of substrate cycling in humans. J Clin Invest. 1988 Apr 30;81(5):1545–55.
- 70. Unger RH. Role of glucagon in the pathogenesis of diabetes: the status of the controversy. Metabolism. 1978 Nov;27(11):1691–709.
- 71. Unger RH, Aguilar-Parada E, Müller WA, Eisentraut AM. Studies of pancreatic alpha cell function in normal and diabetic subjects. J Clin Invest. 1970 Apr 1;49(4):837–48.
- 72. Wang M-Y, Yan H, Shi Z, Evans MR, Yu X, Lee Y, et al. Glucagon receptor antibody completely suppresses type 1 diabetes phenotype without insulin by disrupting a novel diabetogenic pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2015 Feb 24;112(8):2503–8.
- 73. Falkén Y, Hellström PM, Holst JJ, Näslund E. Changes in Glucose Homeostasis after Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Surgery for Obesity at Day Three, Two Months, and One Year after Surgery: Role of Gut Peptides. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011 Jul;96(7):2227–35.
- Nannipieri M, Baldi S, Mari A, Colligiani D, Guarino D, Camastra S, et al. Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass and Sleeve Gastrectomy: Mechanisms of Diabetes Remission and Role of Gut Hormones. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 Nov;98(11):4391–9.
- Rouille Y, Westermark G, Martin SK, Steiner DF. Proglucagon is processed to glucagon by prohormone convertase PC2 in alpha TC1-6 cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1994 Apr 12;91(8):3242–6.
- 76. Mentlein R, Gallwitz B, Schmidt WE. Dipeptidylpeptidase-Iv Hydrolyzes Gastric-Inhibitory Polypeptide, Glucagon-Like

Peptide-1(7-36)Amide, Peptide Histidine Methionine and Is Responsible for Their Degradation in Human Serum. Eur J Biochem. 1993;214(3):829–35.

- 77. Plamboeck A, Holst JJ, Carr RD, Deacon CF. Neutral endopeptidase 24.11 and dipeptidyl peptidase IV are both mediators of the degradation of glucagon-like peptide 1 in the anaesthetised pig. Diabetologia. 2005 Sep;48(9):1882–90.
- 78. Hupe-Sodmann K, McGregor GP, Bridenbaugh R, Goke R, Göke B, Thole H, et al. Characterisation of the processing by human neutral endopeptidase 24.11 of GLP-1(7-36) amide and comparison of the substrate specificity of the enzyme for other glucagon-like peptides. Regul Pept. 1995 Aug 22;58(3):149–56.
- 79. Larsen PJ, Tang-Christensen M, Holst JJ, Orskov C. Distribution of glucagon-like peptide-1 and other preproglucagon-derived peptides in the rat hypothalamus and brainstem. Neuroscience. 1997 Mar 1;77(1):257–70.
- 80. Eissele R, Goke R, Willemer S, Harthus HP, Vermeer H, Arnold R, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 cells in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas of rat, pig and man. Eur J Clin Invest. 1992 Apr;22(4):283–91.
- 81. Petersen N, Reimann F, van Es JH, van den Berg BM, Kroone C, Pais R, et al. Targeting development of incretin-producing cells increases insulin secretion. J Clin Invest. 2015 Jan;125(1):379–85.
- 82. Orskov C, Holst JJ, Knuhtsen S, Baldissera FG, Poulsen SS, Nielsen OV. Glucagon-like peptides GLP-1 and GLP-2, predicted products of the glucagon gene, are secreted separately from pig small intestine but not pancreas. Endocrinology. 1986 Oct;119(4):1467–75.
- 83. Vrang N, Hansen M, Larsen PJ, Tang-Christensen M. Characterization of brainstem preproglucagon projections to the paraventricular and dorsomedial hypothalamic nuclei. Brain Res. 2007 May 29;1149:118–26.
- 84. Shughrue PJ, Lane MV, Merchenthaler I. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP1-R) mRNA in the rat hypothalamus. Endocrinology. 1996 Nov;137(11):5159–62.
- 85. Orskov C, Wettergren A, Holst JJ. Secretion of the incretin

hormones glucagon-like peptide-1 and gastric inhibitory polypeptide correlates with insulin secretion in normal man throughout the day. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1996 Jul;31(7):665–70.

- Carr RD, Larsen MO, Winzell MS, Jelic K, Lindgren O, Deacon CF, et al. Incretin and islet hormonal responses to fat and protein ingestion in healthy men. AJP: Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2008 Jul 8;295(4):E779–84.
- 87. Herrmann C, Goke R, Richter G, Fehmann HC, Arnold R, Göke B. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 and Glucose-Dependent Insulin-Releasing Polypeptide Plasma-Levels in Response to Nutrients. Digestion. 1995;56(2):117–26.
- 88. Rocca AS, Brubaker PL. Role of the Vagus Nerve in Mediating Proximal Nutrient-Induced Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Secretion 1. Endocrinology. 1999 Apr;140(4):1687–94.
- 89. Reimann F, Habib AM, Tolhurst G, Parker HE, Rogers GJ, Gribble FM. Glucose Sensing in L Cells: A Primary Cell Study. Cell Metabolism. Cell Press; 2008 Dec 7;8(6):532–9.
- 90. Parker HE, Adriaenssens A, Rogers G, Richards P, Koepsell H, Reimann F, et al. Predominant role of active versus facilitative glucose transport for glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. Diabetologia. 2012 Aug 31;55(9):2445–55.
- 91. Thorens B, Porret A, Bühler L, Deng SP, Morel P, Widmann C. Cloning and functional expression of the human islet GLP-1 receptor. Demonstration that exendin-4 is an agonist and exendin-(9-39) an antagonist of the receptor. Diabetes. 1993 Nov 1;42(11):1678–82.
- 92. Wei Y, Mojsov S. Tissue-Specific Expression of the Human Receptor for Glucagon-Like Peptide-I - Brain, Heart and Pancreatic Forms Have the Same Deduced Amino-Acid-Sequences. FEBS Lett. 1995;358(3):219–24.
- 93. Holz GG. Epac: a new cAMP-binding protein in support of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor-mediated signal transduction in the pancreatic β-cell. Diabetes. 2004 Jan;53(1):5–13.
- 94. Sonoda N, Imamura T, Yoshizaki T, Babendure JL, Lu JC, Olefsky JM. -Arrestin-1 mediates glucagon-like peptide-1 signaling to insulin secretion in cultured pancreatic cells.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2008 May 6;105(18):6614–9.

- 95. Kreymann B, Williams G, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR. Glucagon-like peptide-1 7-36: a physiological incretin in man. Lancet. 1987 Dec 5;2(8571):1300–4.
- 96. Stoffers DA, Kieffer TJ, Hussain MA, Drucker DJ, Bonner-Weir S, Habener JF, et al. Insulinotropic glucagon-like peptide 1 agonists stimulate expression of homeodomain protein IDX-1 and increase islet size in mouse pancreas. Diabetes. 2000 May;49(5):741–8.
- 97. Drucker DJ, Philippe J, Mojsov S, Chick WL, Habener JF. Glucagon-like peptide I stimulates insulin gene expression and increases cyclic AMP levels in a rat islet cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1987 Apr 30;84(10):3434–8.
- 98. Rachman J, Gribble FM, Barrow BA, Levy JC, Buchanan KD, Turner RC. Normalization of insulin responses to glucose by overnight infusion of glucagon-like peptide 1 (7-36) amide in patients with NIDDM. Diabetes. 1996 Nov;45(11):1524–30.
- 99. Nauck MA, Kleine N, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Willms B. Normalization of fasting hyperglycaemia by exogenous glucagonlike peptide 1 (7-36 amide) in type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. Diabetologia. 1993 Aug 36(8): 741-744.
- 100. de Heer J, Rasmussen C, Coy DH, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide-1, but not glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide, inhibits glucagon secretion via somatostatin (receptor subtype 2) in the perfused rat pancreas. Diabetologia. 2008 Dec 1;51(12):2263–70.
- 101. Nauck MA, Niedereichholz U, Ettler R, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Ritzel R, et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1 inhibition of gastric emptying outweighs its insulinotropic effects in healthy humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 1997 Nov;273(5):E981–8.
- 102. Verdich C, Flint A, Gutzwiller JP, Näslund E, Beglinger C, Hellström PM, et al. A meta-analysis of the effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide on ad libitum energy intake in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001 Sep;86(9):4382–9.
- 103. Tang-Christensen M, Vrang N, Larsen PJ. Glucagon-like peptide

containing pathways in the regulation of feeding behaviour. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2001 Dec;25 Suppl 5:S42–7.

- Turton MD, OShea D, Gunn I, Beak SA, Edwards C, Meeran K, et al. A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. Nature. 1996;379(6560):69–72.
- 105. Flint A, Raben A, Astrup A, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. J Clin Invest. 1998;101(3):515–20.
- 106. Willms B, Werner J, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Creutzfeldt W, Nauck MA. Gastric emptying, glucose responses, and insulin secretion after a liquid test meal: effects of exogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)-(7-36) amide in type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996 Jan;81(1):327–32.
- 107. Nauck MA, Kemmeries G, Holst JJ, Meier JJ. Rapid tachyphylaxis of the glucagon-like peptide 1-induced deceleration of gastric emptying in humans. Diabetes. 2011 Apr 30;60(5):1561–5.
- 108. Larsen PJ, TangChristensen M, Jessop DS. Central administration of glucagon-like peptide-1 activates hypothalamic neuroendocrine neurons in the rat. Endocrinology. 1997 Oct;138(10):4445–55.
- 109. Rowland NE, Crews EC, Gentry RM. Comparison of Fos induced in rat brain by GLP-1 and amylin. Regul Pept. 1997;71(3):171–4.
- 110. Abbott CR, Monteiro M, Small CJ, Sajedi A, Smith KL, Parkinson JRC, et al. The inhibitory effects of peripheral administration of peptide YY(3-36) and glucagon-like peptide-1 on food intake are attenuated by ablation of the vagal-brainstemhypothalamic pathway. Brain Res. 2005 May 16;1044(1):127–31.
- 111. Edwards CMB, Abbott CR, Sunter D, Kim M-S, Dakin CL, Murphy KG, et al. Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript, glucagon-like peptide-1 and corticotrophin releasing factor inhibit feeding via agouti-related protein independent pathways in the rat. Brain Res. 2000 Jun;866(1):128–34.
- 112. Nakagawa A, Satake H, Nakabayashi H, Nishizawa M, Furuya K, Nakano S, et al. Receptor gene expression of glucagon-like peptide-1, but not glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, in rat nodose ganglion cells. Auton Neurosci. 2004 Jan

30;110(1):36-43.

- 113. Ussher JR, Drucker DJ. Cardiovascular Biology of the Incretin System. Endocrine Reviews. 2012 Apr;33(2):187–215.
- 114. Robinson LE, Holt TA, Rees K, Randeva HS, O'Hare JP. Effects of exenatide and liraglutide on heart rate, blood pressure and body weight: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2013;3(1).
- 115. Wang B, Zhong J, Lin H, Zhao Z, Yan Z, He H, et al. Blood pressure-lowering effects of GLP-1 receptor agonists exenatide and liraglutide: a meta-analysis of clinical trials. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2013 Mar 20;15(8):737–49.
- 116. Arakawa M, Mita T, Azuma K, Ebato C, Goto H, Nomiyama T, et al. Inhibition of monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells and attenuation of atherosclerotic lesion by a glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist, exendin-4. Diabetes. 2010 Mar 31;59(4):1030–7.
- 117. Gutzwiller JP, Tschopp S, Bock A, Zehnder CE, Huber AR, Kreyenbuehl M, et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1 induces natriuresis in healthy subjects and in insulin-resistant obese men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004 Jun;89(6):3055–61.
- 118. Nyström T, Gonon AT, Sjöholm A, Pernow J. Glucagon-like peptide-1 relaxes rat conduit arteries via an endothelium-independent mechanism. Regul Pept. 2005 Feb 15;125(1-3):173–7.
- 119. Monami M, Dicembrini I, Nardini C, Fiordelli I, Mannucci E. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2013 Jul 28;16(1):38–47.
- 120. Vilsboll T, Krarup T, Deacon CF, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Reduced postprandial concentrations of intact biologically active gluccagon-like peptide 1 in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes. 2001 Mar;50(3):609–13.
- 121. Todd JF, Bloom SR. Incretins and other peptides in the treatment of diabetes. Diabetic medicine. 2007 Mar 24(3): 223-232..
- 122. Gadsby R. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Clinical Medicine Therapeutics. 2009 1 53-62...

- 123. Pi-Sunyer X, Astrup A, Fujioka K, Greenway F, Halpern A, Krempf M, et al. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of 3.0 mg of Liraglutide in Weight Management. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(1):11–22.
- Field BCT, Chaudhri OB, Bloom SR. Bowels control brain: gut hormones and obesity. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2010 Jun 29;6(8):444–53.
- 125. Bataille D, Tatemoto K, Gespach C, Jörnvall H, Rosselin G, Mutt V. Isolation of glucagon-37 (bioactive enteroglucagon/oxyntomodulin) from porcine jejuno-ileum. Characterization of the peptide. FEBS Lett. 1982 Sep 6;146(1):79–86.
- 126. Unger RH, Eisentraut AM, McCall MS, Madison LL. Measurements of endogenous glucagon in plasma and the influence of blood glucose concentration upon its secretion. J Clin Invest. 1962 Apr;41:682–9.
- 127. Ghatei MA, Uttenthal LO, Christofides ND, Bryant MG, Bloom SR. Molecular-Forms of Human Enteroglucagon in Tissue and Plasma - Plasma Responses to Nutrient Stimuli in Health and in Disorders of the Upper Gastrointestinal-Tract. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1983;57(3):488–95.
- 128. Lequellec A, Kervran A, Blache P, Ciurana AJ, Bataille D. Oxyntomodulin-Like Immunoreactivity - Diurnal Profile of a New Potential Enterogastrone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1992 Jun;74(6):1405–9.
- 129. Anini Y, Fu-Cheng XM, Cuber JC, Kervran A, Chariot J, Roze C. Comparison of the postprandial release of peptide YY and proglucagon-derived peptides in the rat. Pflugers Arch. 1999 Aug;438(3):299–306.
- 130. Bataille D, Gespach C, Tatemoto K, Marie JC, Coudray AM, Rosselin G, et al. Bioactive enteroglucagon (oxyntomodulin): Present knowledge on its chemical structure and its biological activities. Peptides. 1981 Jan;2:41–4.
- Baggio LL, Huang QL, Brown TJ, Drucker DJ. Oxyntomodulin and glucagon-like peptide-1 differentially regulate murine food intake and energy expenditure. Gastroenterology. 2004 Aug;127(2):546–58.
- 132. Chaudhri OB, Parkinson JRC, Kuo Y-T, Druce MR, Herlihy AH, Bell JD, et al. Differential hypothalamic neuronal activation following peripheral injection of GLP-1 and oxyntomodulin in mice detected by manganese-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006;350(2):298–306.
- 133. Santoprete A, Capito E, Carrington PE, Pocai A, Finotto M, Langella A, et al. DPP-IV-resistant, long-acting oxyntomodulin derivatives. J Pept Sci. 2011 Apr;17(4):270–80.
- 134. Kosinski JR, Hubert J, Carrington PE, Chicchi GG, Mu J, Miller C, et al. The Glucagon Receptor Is Involved in Mediating the Body Weight-Lowering Effects of Oxyntomodulin. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012 Aug;20(8):1566–71.
- 135. Cohen MA, Ellis SM, le Roux CW, Batterham RL, Park A, Patterson M, et al. Oxyntomodulin suppresses appetite and reduces food intake in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003 Sep 30;88(10):4696–701.
- Dakin CL, Gunn I, Small CJ, Edwards CM, Hay DL, Smith DM, et al. Oxyntomodulin inhibits food intake in the rat. Endocrinology. 2001 Sep 30;142(10):4244–50.
- 137. Wynne K, Park AJ, Small CJ, Meeran K, Ghatei MA, Frost GS, et al. Oxyntomodulin increases energy expenditure in addition to decreasing energy intake in overweight and obese humans: a randomised controlled trial. International Journal of Obesity. 2006 Dec 1;30(12):1729–36.
- 138. Dakin CL, Small CJ, Park AJ, Seth A, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR. Repeated ICV administration of oxyntomodulin causes a greater reduction in body weight gain than in pair-fed rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002 Dec;283(6):E1173–7.
- 139. Wynne K, Park AJ, Small CJ, Patterson M, Ellis SM, Murphy KG, et al. Subcutaneous oxyntomodulin reduces body weight in overweight and obese subjects: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes. 2005 Jul 31;54(8):2390–5.
- 140. Maida A, Lovshin JA, Baggio LL, Drucker DJ. The glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist oxyntomodulin enhances beta-cell function but does not inhibit gastric emptying in mice. Endocrinology. 2008 Nov 1;149(11):5670–8.

- 141. Shankar SS, Shankar R, Mixson L, Pramanik B, Stoch S, Steinberg HO, et al. Oxyntomodulin has significant acute glucoregulatory effects comparable to liraglutide in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2013 Sep;56:S26–6.
- 142. Scholdager B, Baldissera F, Mortensen PE, Holst JJ, Christiansen J. Oxyntomodulin a Potential Hormone From the Distal Gut Pharmacokinetics and Effects on Gastric-Acid and Insulin-Secretion in Man. Eur J Clin Invest. 1988 Oct;18(5):499–503.
- 143. Schjoldager B, Mortensen PE, Myhre J, Christiansen J, Holst JJ. Oxyntomodulin From Distal Gut - Role in Regulation of Gastric and Pancreatic Functions. Dig Dis Sci. 1989 Sep;34(9):1411–9.
- 144. Tatemoto K, Mutt V. Isolation of two novel candidate hormones using a chemical method for finding naturally occurring polypeptides. Nature. 1980 Jun 5;285(5764):417–8.
- 145. Hort Y, Baker E, Sutherland GR, Shine J, Herzog H. Gene Duplication of the Human Peptide Yy Gene (Pyy) Generated the Pancreatic-Polypeptide Gene (Ppy) on Chromosome 17q21.1. Genomics. 1995;26(1):77–83.
- 146. Eberlein GA, Eysselein VE, Schaeffer M, Layer P. A new molecular form of PYY: structural characterization of human PYY (3-36) and PYY (1-36) Peptides, 1989 Jul, 10, (4)797-803.
- 147. Grandt D, Dahms P, Schimiczek M, Eysselein VE, Reeve JR, Mentlein R. Proteolytic Processing of Peptide Yy (Pyy) by Dipeptidyl Aminopeptidase-Iv Generates Receptor Selectivity. Med Klin (Munich). 1993;88(3):143–5.
- 148. Adrain TE, Savage AP, Sagor GR, Allen JM, Bacaresehamilton AJ, Tatemoto K, et al. Effect of Peptide-Yy on Gastric, Pancreatic, and Biliary Function in Humans. Gastroenterology. 1985;89(3):494–9.
- 149. Bottcher G, Sjoberg J, Ekman R, Hakanson R, Sundler F. Peptide-Yy in the Mammalian Pancreas - Immunocytochemical Localization and Immunochemical Characterization. Regul Pept. 1993;43(3):115–30.
- Glavas MM, Grayson BE, Allen SE, Copp DR, Smith MS, Cowley MA, et al. Characterization of brainstem peptide YY (PYY) neurons. J Comp Neurol. 2008;506(2):194–210.

- 151. le Roux CW, Batterham RL, Aylwin SJB, Patterson M, Borg CM, Wynne KJ, et al. Attenuated peptide YY release in obese subjects is associated with reduced satiety. Endocrinology. 2006 Jan;147(1):3–8.
- 152. Batterham RL, Heffron H, Kapoor S, Chivers JE, Chandarana K, Herzog H, et al. Critical role for peptide YY in protein-mediated satiation and body-weight regulation. Cell Metabolism. 2006 Aug 31;4(3):223–33.
- 153. Ullrich SS, Otto B, Hutchison AT, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Horowitz M, Feinle-Bisset C. Comparative effects of intraduodenal protein and lipid on ghrelin, peptide YY, and leptin release in healthy men. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2015 Feb 15;308(4):R300–4.
- 154. Gibbons C, Caudwell P, Finlayson G, Webb D-L, Hellström PM, Näslund E, et al. Comparison of postprandial profiles of ghrelin, active GLP-1, and total PYY to meals varying in fat and carbohydrate and their association with hunger and the phases of satiety. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 Apr 30;98(5):E847–55.
- 155. Michel MC, Beck-Sickinger A, Cox H, Doods HN, Herzog H, Larhammar D, et al. XVI. International Union of Pharmacology recommendations for the nomenclature of neuropeptide Y, peptide YY, and pancreatic polypeptide receptors. Pharmacol Rev. 1998 Mar;50(1):143–50.
- Keire DA, Mannon P, Kobayashi M, Walsh JH, Solomon TE, Reeve JR. Primary structures of PYY, [Pro(34)]PYY, and PYY-(3-36) confer different conformations and receptor selectivity. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2000 Jul;279(1):G126–31.
- 157. Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, et al. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. Nature. 2002 Aug 7;418(6898):650–4.
- 158. Nguyen AD, Mitchell NF, Lin S, Macia L, Yulyaningsih E, Baldock PA, et al. Y1 and Y5 receptors are both required for the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis in mice. PLoS ONE. 2012 Jan 1;7(6):e40191–1.
- 159. Stanley S, Wynne K, Bloom S. Gastrointestinal satiety signals -III. Glucagon-like peptide 1, oxyntomodulin, peptide YY, and pancreatic polypeptide. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.

2004;286(5):G693-7.

- 160. Abbott CR, Small CJ, Kennedy AR, Neary NM, Sajedi A, Ghatei MA, et al. Blockade of the neuropeptide YY2 receptor with the specific antagonist BIIE0246 attenuates the effect of endogenous and exogenous peptide YY(3-36) on food intake. Brain Res. 2005;1043(1-2):139–44.
- 161. Challis BG, Coll AP, Yeo GSH, Pinnock SB, Dickson SL, Thresher RR, et al. Mice lacking pro-opiomelanocortin are sensitive to high-fat feeding but respond normally to the acute anorectic effects of peptide-YY3-36. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2004 Mar 30;101(13):4695–700.
- 162. Ghamari-Langroudi M, Colmers WF, Cone RD. PYY3-36 inhibits the action potential firing activity of POMC neurons of arcuate nucleus through postsynaptic Y2 receptors. Cell Metabolism. 2005 Sep;2(3):191–9.
- 163. Koda S, Date Y, Murakami N, Shimbara T, Hanada T, Toshinai K, et al. The role of the vagal nerve in peripheral PYY3-36-induced feeding reduction in rats. Endocrinology. 2005 May;146(5):2369–75.
- 164. Batterham RL, Cohen MA, Ellis SM, le Roux CW, Withers DJ, Frost GS, et al. Inhibition of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3-36. N Engl J Med. 2003 Sep 4;349(10):941–8.
- 165. Boey D, Lin S, Karl T, Baldock P, Lee N, Enriquez R, et al. Peptide YY ablation in mice leads to the development of hyperinsulinaemia and obesity. Diabetologia. 2006 May 31;49(6):1360–70.
- Burcelin R, Brunner H, Seydoux J, Thorensa B, Pedrazzini T. Increased insulin concentrations and glucose storage in neuropeptide Y Y1 receptor-deficient mice. Peptides. 2001 Mar;22(3):421–7.
- 167. Upchurch BH, Aponte GW, Leiter AB. Expression of peptide YY in all four islet cell types in the developing mouse pancreas suggests a common peptide YY-producing progenitor. Development. 1994 Feb;120(2):245–52.
- 168. Nieuwenhuizen AG, Karlsson S, Fridolf T, Ahrén B. Mechanisms underlying the insulinostatic effect of peptide YY in mouse

pancreatic islets. Diabetologia. 1994 Sep;37(9):871-8.

- 169. van den Hoek AM, Heijboer AC, Corssmit EPM, Voshol PJ, Romijn JA, Havekes LM, et al. PYY3-36 reinforces insulin action on glucose disposal in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetes. 2004 Aug;53(8):1949–52.
- 170. Ortiz AA, Milardo LF, DeCarr LB, Buckholz TM, Mays MR, Claus TH, et al. A novel long-acting selective neuropeptide Y2 receptor polyethylene glycol-conjugated peptide agonist reduces food intake and body weight and improves glucose metabolism in rodents. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2007 Nov;323(2):692–700.
- 171. Bottcher G, Ahrén B, Lundquist I, Sundler F. Peptide YY: intrapancreatic localization and effects on insulin and glucagon secretion in the mouse. Pancreas. 1989 Jan 1;4(3):282–8.
- 172. Morgan DG, Kulkarni RN, Hurley JD, Wang ZL, Wang RM, Ghatei MA, et al. Inhibition of glucose stimulated insulin secretion by neuropeptide Y is mediated via the Y1 receptor and inhibition of adenylyl cyclase in RIN 5AH rat insulinoma cells. Diabetologia. 1998 Dec;41(12):1482–91.
- 173. Persaud SJ, Bewick GA. Peptide YY: more than just an appetite regulator. Diabetologia. 2014 Jun 11;57(9):1762–9.
- 174. Chandarana K, Gelegen C, Irvine EE, Choudhury AI, Amouyal C, Andreelli F, et al. Peripheral activation of the Y2-receptor promotes secretion of GLP-1 and improves glucose tolerance. Mol Metab. 2013;2(3):142–52.
- 175. Sloth B, Holst JJ, Flint A, Gregersen NT, Astrup A. Effects of PYY1-36 and PYY3-36 on appetite, energy intake, energy expenditure, glucose and fat metabolism in obese and lean subjects. AJP: Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2006 Dec 5;292(4):E1062–8.
- 176. Tan TM, Salem V, Troke RC, Alsafi A, Field BCT, De Silva A, et al. Combination of peptide YY3-36 with GLP-1(7-36) amide causes an increase in first-phase insulin secretion after IV glucose. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014 Nov 1;99(11):E2317–24.
- 177. Roux CWL, Aylwin SJB, Batterham RL, Borg CM, Coyle F, Prasad V, et al. Gut Hormone Profiles Following Bariatric Surgery Favor an Anorectic State, Facilitate Weight Loss, and Improve

Metabolic Parameters. Annals of Surgery. 2006 Jan;243(1):108–14.

- 178. Laferrère B, Heshka S, Wang K, Khan Y, McGinty J, Teixeira J, et al. Incretin levels and effect are markedly enhanced 1 month after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007 Jun 30;30(7):1709–16.
- 179. Laferrère B, Swerdlow N, Bawa B, Arias S, Bose M, Olivan B, et al. Rise of oxyntomodulin in response to oral glucose after gastric bypass surgery in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010 Jul 31;95(8):4072–6.
- 180. le Roux CW, Welbourn R, Werling M, Osborne A, Kokkinos A, Laurenius A, et al. Gut hormones as mediators of appetite and weight loss after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Annals of Surgery. 2007 Nov 1;246(5):780–5.
- 181. Korner J, Inabnet W, Febres G, Conwell IM, McMahon DJ, Salas R, et al. Prospective study of gut hormone and metabolic changes after adjustable gastric banding and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Int J Obes (Lond). 2009 Jul;33(7):786–95.
- Laferrère B. Effect of gastric bypass surgery on the incretins. Diabetes Metab. 2009 Dec 1;35(6 Pt 2):513–7.
- 183. Jacobsen SH, Olesen SC, Dirksen C, Jørgensen NB, Bojsen-Møller KN, Kielgast U, et al. Changes in Gastrointestinal Hormone Responses, Insulin Sensitivity, and Beta-Cell Function Within 2 Weeks After Gastric Bypass in Non-diabetic Subjects. Obes Surg. 2012 Feb 23;22(7):1084–96.
- 184. Goldfine AB, Mun EC, Devine E, Bernier R, Baz-Hecht M, Jones DB, et al. Patients with neuroglycopenia after gastric bypass surgery have exaggerated incretin and insulin secretory responses to a mixed meal. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007 Dec;92(12):4678–85.
- 185. Chandarana K, Gelegen C, Karra E, Choudhury AI, Drew ME, Fauveau V, et al. Diet and Gastrointestinal Bypass-Induced Weight Loss: The Roles of Ghrelin and Peptide YY. Diabetes. 2011 Feb 25;60(3):810–8.
- 186. Marsk R, Jonas E, Rasmussen F, Näslund E. Nationwide cohort study of post-gastric bypass hypoglycaemia including 5,040

patients undergoing surgery for obesity in 1986–2006 in Sweden. Diabetologia. 2010 May 22;53(11):2307–11.

- Service GJ, Thompson GB, Service FJ, Andrews JC, Collazo-Clavell ML, Lloyd RV. Hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia with nesidioblastosis after gastric-bypass surgery. N Engl J Med. 2005 Jul 21;353(3):249–54.
- 188. Meier JJ, Nauck MA, Butler PC. Comment to: Patti ME, Mcmahon G, Mun EC et al. (2005) Severe hypoglycaemia postgastric bypass requiring partial pancreatectomy: evidence for inappropriate insulin secretion and pancreatic islet hyperplasia. Diabetologia 48:2236–2240. Diabetologia. 2006 Jan 31;49(3):607–8.
- 189. Goldfine AB, Mun EC, Devine E, Bernier R, Baz-Hecht M, Jones DB, et al. Patients with Neuroglycopenia after Gastric Bypass Surgery Have Exaggerated Incretin and Insulin Secretory Responses to a Mixed Meal. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007 Dec;92(12):4678–85.
- 190. Lee CJ, Brown T, Magnuson TH, Egan JM, Carlson O, Elahi D. Hormonal Response to a Mixed-Meal Challenge After Reversal of Gastric Bypass for Hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 Jul;98(7):E1208–12.
- 191. Abrahamsson N, Engstrom BE, Sundbom M, Karlsson FA. GLP1 analogs as treatment of postprandial hypoglycemia following gastric bypass surgery: a potential new indication? European Journal of Endocrinology. 2013 Oct 21;169(6):885–9.
- 192. Sjöström L, Narbro K, Sjöström CD, Karason K, Larsson B, Wedel H, et al. Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. N Engl J Med. 2007 Aug 23;357(8):741– 52.
- 193. Wickremesekera K, Miller G, Naotunne TD, Knowles G, Stubbs RS. Loss of insulin resistance after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery: a time course study. Obes Surg. 2005 Apr;15(4):474–81.
- Dhabuwala A, Cannan RJ, Stubbs RS. Improvement in comorbidities following weight loss from gastric bypass surgery. Obes Surg. Springer; 2000;10(5):428–35.
- 195. Orskov C, Holst JJ, Nielsen OV. Effect of truncated glucagon-like

peptide-1 [proglucagon-(78-107) amide] on endocrine secretion from pig pancreas, antrum, and nonantral stomach. Endocrinology. 1988 Oct;123(4):2009–13.

- 196. Buse JB, Rosenstock J, Sesti G, Schmidt WE, Montanya E, Brett JH, et al. Liraglutide once a day versus exenatide twice a day for type 2 diabetes: a 26-week randomised, parallel-group, multinational, open-label trial (LEAD-6). Lancet. 2009;374(9683):39–47.
- 197. Nair KS. Hyperglucagonemia increases resting metabolic rate in man during insulin deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1987 Apr 30;64(5):896–901.
- 198. Pocai A, Carrington PE, Adams JR, Wright M, Eiermann G, Zhu L, et al. Glucagon-Like Peptide 1/Glucagon Receptor Dual Agonism Reverses Obesity in Mice. Diabetes. 2009 Sep 30;58(10):2258–66.
- 199. Day JW, Ottaway N, Patterson JT, Gelfanov V, Smiley D, Gidda J, et al. A new glucagon and GLP-1 co-agonist eliminates obesity in rodents. Nat Chem Biol. 2009 Jul 13;5(10):749–57.
- 200. Parker JA, McCullough KA, Field BCT, Minnion JS, Martin NM, Ghatei MA, et al. Glucagon and GLP-1 inhibit food intake and increase c-fosexpression in similar appetite regulating centres in the brainstemand amygdala. Nature 2013 Jan 22;37(10):1391–8.
- 201. Cegla J, Troke RC, Jones B, Tharakan G, Kenkre J, McCullough KA, et al. Coinfusion of Low-Dose GLP-1 and Glucagon in Man Results in a Reduction in Food Intake. Diabetes. 2014 Oct 23;63(11):3711–20.
- 202. Morgan JF, Reid F, Lacey JH. The SCOFF questionnaire: assessment of a new screening tool for eating disorders. BMJ. 1999 Dec 4;319(7223):1467–8.
- 203. van Strien T, Frijters JER, Bergers GPA, Defares PB. The Dutch Eating Behavior Questionnaire (DEBQ) for assessment of restrained, emotional, and external eating behavior. Int J Eat Disord. 1986 Feb;5(2):295–315.
- 204. Neary NM, Small CJ, Druce MR, Park AJ, Ellis SM, Semjonous NM, et al. Peptide YY3-36 and glucagon-like peptide-17-36 inhibit food intake additively. Endocrinology. 2005 Dec

1;146(12):5120-7.

- 205. Peterli R, Steinert RE, Woelnerhanssen B, Peters T, Christoffel-Courtin C, Gass M, et al. Metabolic and hormonal changes after laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: a randomized, prospective trial. Obes Surg. 2012 May;22(5):740–8.
- 206. Umeda LM, Silva EA, Carneiro G, Arasaki CH, Geloneze B, Zanella MT. Early Improvement in Glycemic Control After Bariatric Surgery and Its Relationships with Insulin, GLP-1, and Glucagon Secretion in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Obes Surg. 2011 May 11;21(7):896–901.
- 207. Sherwin RS, Fisher M, Hendler R, Felig P. Hyperglucagonemia and blood glucose regulation in normal, obese and diabetic subjects. N Engl J Med. 1976 Feb 26;294(9):455–61.
- 208. Wewer Albrechtsen NJ, Hartmann B, Veedfald S, Windeløv JA, Plamboeck A, Bojsen-Møller KN, et al. Hyperglucagonaemia analysed by glucagon sandwich ELISA: nonspecific interference or truly elevated levels? Diabetologia. 2014 Sep;57(9):1919–26.
- 209. Kraegen EW, Lazarus L, Meler H, Campbell L, Chia YO. Carrier solutions for low-level intravenous insulin infusion. Br Med J. 1975 Aug 23;3(5981):464–6.
- 210. Turner RC, Holman RR, Matthews D, Hockaday TDR, Peto J. Insulin deficiency and insulin resistance interaction in diabetes: Estimation of their relative contribution by feedback analysis from basal plasma insulin and glucose concentrations. Metabolism. W.B. Saunders; 1979 Nov;28(11):1086–96.
- 211. Levy JC, Matthews DR, Hermans MP. Correct homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) evaluation uses the computer program. Diabetes Care. 1998 Dec 1;21(12):2191–2.
- 212. Seltzer HS, Allen EW, Herron AL, Brennan MT. Insulin secretion in response to glycemic stimulus: relation of delayed initial release to carbohydrate intolerance in mild diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1967 Mar 1;46(3):323–35.
- 213. Frank JW, Camilleri M, Thomforde GM, Dinneen SF, Rizza RA. Effects of glucagon on postprandial carbohydrate metabolism in nondiabetic humans. Metabolism. 1998 Jan 1;47(1):7–12.

- 214. Dinneen S, Alzaid A, Turk D, Rizza R. Failure of Glucagon Suppression Contributes to Postprandial Hyperglycemia in Iddm. Diabetologia. 1995 Mar;38(3):337–43.
- 215. Moore MC, Coate KC, Winnick JJ, An Z, Cherrington AD. Regulation of hepatic glucose uptake and storage in vivo. Adv Nutr. 2012 Apr 30;3(3):286–94.
- 216. Bagger JI, Holst JJ, Hartmann B, Andersen B, Knop FK, Vilsbøll T. Effect of Oxyntomodulin, Glucagon, GLP-1, and Combined Glucagon +GLP-1 Infusion on Food Intake, Appetite, and Resting Energy Expenditure. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015 Dec;100(12):4541–52.
- 217. Sjöström L. Review of the key results from the Swedish Obese Subjects (SOS) trial - a prospective controlled intervention study of bariatric surgery. J Intern Med. 2013 Mar;273(3):219–34.
- 218. Field BCT, Wren AM, Peters V, Baynes KCR, Martin NM, Patterson M, et al. PYY3-36 and Oxyntomodulin Can Be Additive in Their Effect on Food Intake in Overweight and Obese Humans. Diabetes. 2010 Jun 29;59(7):1635–9.
- 219. De Silva A, Salem V, Long CJ, Makwana A, Newbould RD, Rabiner EA, et al. The Gut Hormones PYY3-36 and GLP-17-36 amide Reduce Food Intake and Modulate Brain Activity in Appetite Centers in Humans. Cell Metabolism. 2011 Nov;14(5):700–6.
- 220. Blevins T, Pullman J, Malloy J, Yan P, Taylor K, Schulteis C, et al. DURATION-5: Exenatide Once Weekly Resulted in Greater Improvements in Glycemic Control Compared with Exenatide Twice Daily in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011 May;96(5):1301–10.
- 221. Thabit H, Hovorka R. Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion therapy and multiple daily insulin injections in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a comparative overview and future horizons. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2015 Nov 30;:1–12.
- 222. Tyne HL, Parsons J, Sinnott A, Fox SH, Fletcher NA, Steiger MJ. A 10 year retrospective audit of long-term apomorphine use in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol. 2004 Nov;251(11):1370–4.
- 223. Meneilly GS, Greig N, Tildesley H, Habener JF, Egan JM, Elahi

D. Effects of 3 months of continuous subcutaneous administration of glucagon-like peptide 1 in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2003 Sep 30;26(10):2835–41.

- 224. Laurenius A, Larsson I, Bueter M, Melanson KJ, Bosaeus I, Forslund HB, et al. Changes in eating behaviour and meal pattern following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Int J Obes. 2012 Mar;36(3):348–55.
- 225. Wilms B, Ernst B, Schmid SM, Thurnheer M, Schultes B. Enhanced thermic effect of food after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 Aug 31;98(9):3776–84.
- 226. Buchwald H, Estok R, Fahrbach K, Banel D, Sledge I. Trends in mortality in bariatric surgery: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Surgery. 2007 Oct;142(4):621–35.
- 227. Levinson R, Silverman JB, Catella JG, Rybak I, Jolin H, Isom K. Pharmacotherapy prevention and management of nutritional deficiencies post Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Obes Surg. 2013 Jul;23(7):992–1000.
- 228. Yu EW, Bouxsein ML, Putman MS, Monis EL, Roy AE, Pratt JSA, et al. Two-year changes in bone density after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015 Apr;100(4):1452–9.
- 229. Roth DA, Meade RC. Hyperinsulinism-hypoglycemia in the postgastrectomy patient. Diabetes. 1965 Aug;14:526–8.
- 230. Roslin M, Damani T, Oren J, Andrews R, Yatco E, Shah P. Abnormal glucose tolerance testing following gastric bypass demonstrates reactive hypoglycemia. Surg Endosc. 2010 Dec 24;25(6):1926–32.
- 231. Hanaire H, Dubet A, Chauveau M-E, Anduze Y, Fernandes M, Melki V, et al. Usefulness of Continuous Glucose Monitoring for the Diagnosis of Hypoglycemia after a Gastric Bypass in a Patient Previously Treated for Type 2 Diabetes. Obes Surg. 2009 Sep 18;20(1):126–9.
- 232. Service GJ, Thompson GB, Service FJ, Andrews JC, Collazo-Clavell ML, Lloyd RV. Hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia with nesidioblastosis after gastric-bypass surgery. N Engl J Med. 2005 Jul 21;353(3):249–54.

- 233. Korner J, Bessler M, Cirilo LJ, Conwell IM, Daud A, Restuccia NL, et al. Effects of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery on fasting and postprandial concentrations of plasma ghrelin, peptide YY, and insulin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005 Jan;90(1):359–65.
- 234. Salehi M, Gastaldelli A, D'Alessio DA. Altered Islet Function and Insulin Clearance Cause Hyperinsulinemia in Gastric Bypass Patients With Symptoms of Postprandial Hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014 Jun;99(6):2008–17.
- 235. Salehi M, Gastaldelli A, D'Alessio DA. Blockade of Glucagonlike Peptide 1 Receptor Corrects Postprandial Hypoglycemia After Gastric Bypass. Gastroenterology. 2014 Mar 1;146(3):669– 680.e2.
- Salehi M, Prigeon RL, D'Alessio DA. Gastric Bypass Surgery Enhances Glucagon-Like Peptide 1-Stimulated Postprandial Insulin Secretion in Humans. Diabetes. 2011 Aug 25;60(9):2308– 14.
- 237. Laurenius A, Werling M, le Roux CW, Fändriks L, Olbers T. More symptoms but similar blood glucose curve after oral carbohydrate provocation in patients with a history of hypoglycemia-like symptoms compared to asymptomatic patients after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2014 Nov;10(6):1047–54.
- 238. Hill NR. EasyGV Department of Primary Care Health Sciences [Internet]. [cited 2016 Jan 6]. Available from: http://www.phc.ox.ac.uk/research/technology-outputs/easygv
- 239. Siegelaar SE, Holleman F, Hoekstra JBL, DeVries JH. Glucose variability; does it matter? Endocrine Reviews. 2010 Apr;31(2):171–82.
- 240. Hill NR, Oliver NS, Choudhary P, Levy JC, Hindmarsh P, Matthews DR. Normal Reference Range for Mean Tissue Glucose and Glycemic Variability Derived from Continuous Glucose Monitoring for Subjects Without Diabetes in Different Ethnic Groups. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA; 2011 Mar;13(9):921–8.
- 241. Cryer PE, Axelrod L, Grossman AB, Heller SR, Montori VM, Seaquist ER, et al. Evaluation and management of adult

hypoglycemic disorders: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. Vol. 94, The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2009. pp. 709–28.

- 242. Hanaire H, Bertrand M, Guerci B, Anduze Y, Guillaume E, Ritz P. High Glycemic Variability Assessed by Continuous Glucose Monitoring After Surgical Treatment of Obesity by Gastric Bypass. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. 2011 Jun;13(6):625–30.
- 243. Marfella R, Barbieri M, Ruggiero R, Rizzo MR, Grella R, Mozzillo AL, et al. Bariatric Surgery Reduces Oxidative Stress by Blunting 24-h Acute Glucose Fluctuations in Type 2 Diabetic Obese Patients. Diabetes Care. 2010 Feb;33(2):287–9.
- 244. Cox DJ, Kovatchev BP, Julian DM, Gonder-Frederick LA, Polonsky WH, Schlundt DG, et al. Frequency of severe hypoglycemia in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus can be predicted from self-monitoring blood glucose data. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994 Dec;79(6):1659–62.
- 245. Bragd J, Adamson U, Bäcklund LB, Lins PE, Moberg E, Oskarsson P. Can glycaemic variability, as calculated from blood glucose self-monitoring, predict the development of complications in type 1 diabetes over a decade? Diabetes Metab. 2008 Dec;34(6):612–6.
- 246. Penckofer S, Quinn L, Byrn M, Ferrans C, Miller M, Strange P. Does Glycemic Variability Impact Mood and Quality of Life? Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA; 2012 Apr;14(4):303–10.
- 247. Muggeo M, Verlato G, Bonora E, Zoppini G, Corbellini M, de Marco R. Long-term Instability of Fasting Plasma Glucose, a Novel Predictor of Cardiovascular Mortality in Elderly Patients With Non Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus : The Verona Diabetes Study. Circulation. 1997 Sep 16;96(6):1750–4.
- 248. Van den Berghe G, Wouters P, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Bruyninckx F, Schetz M, et al. Intensive Insulin Therapy in Critically Ill Patients. N Engl J Med. Massachusetts Medical Society; 2001 Nov 8;345(19):1359–67.
- 249. Sjöström L, Peltonen M, Jacobson P, Ahlin S, Andersson-

Assarsson J, Anveden Å, et al. Association of bariatric surgery with long-term remission of type 2 diabetes and with microvascular and macrovascular complications. JAMA. 2014 Jun 10;311(22):2297–304.

- 250. Miras AD, Chuah LL, Khalil N, Nicotra A, Vusirikala A, Baqai N, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and microvascular complications 1 year after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: a case-control study. Diabetologia. 2015 Jul;58(7):1443–7.
- 251. Cheung D, Switzer NJ, Ehmann D, Rudnisky C, Shi X, Karmali S. The Impact of Bariatric Surgery on Diabetic Retinopathy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Obes Surg. 2015 Sep;25(9):1604–9.
- 252. Schauer PR, Kashyap SR, Wolski K, Brethauer SA, Kirwan JP, Pothier CE, et al. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2012 Apr 26;366(17):1567–76.
- 253. UKPDS group. Effect of intensive blood glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34) (vol 352, pg 854, 1998). Lancet. 1998;352(9139):1558–8.
- 254. Shamoon H, Duffy H, Fleischer N, Engel S, Saenger P, Strelzyn M, et al. The Effect of Intensive Treatment of Diabetes on the Development and Progression of Long-Term Complications in Insulin-Dependent Diabetes-Mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1993;329(14):977–86.
- 255. Unger RH, Orci L. Glucagon and the A cell: physiology and pathophysiology (second of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1981 Jun 24;304(26):1575–80.
- 256. Lund A, Bagger JI, Wewer Albrechtsen NJ, Christensen M, Grøndahl M, Hartmann B, et al. Evidence of Extrapancreatic Glucagon Secretion in Man. Diabetes. 2016 Mar;65(3):585–97.
- 257. Hansen CF, Bueter M, Theis N, Lutz T, Paulsen S, Dalboge LS, et al. Hypertrophy Dependent Doubling of L-Cells in Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Operated Rats. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(6):–e65696.
- 258. Lee CJ, Brown T, Magnuson TH, Egan JM, Carlson O, Elahi D. Hormonal response to a mixed-meal challenge after reversal of

gastric bypass for hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013 Jul;98(7):E1208–12.

- 259. Nauck MA, Kleine N, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Willms B, Creutzfeldt W. Normalization of Fasting Hyperglycemia by Exogenous Glucagon-Like Peptide 1(7-36)Amide in Type-2 (Non-Insulin-Dependent) Diabetic-Patients. Digestion. 1993;54(6):389–9.
- 260. Hare KJ, Knop FK, Asmar M, Madsbad S, Deacon CF, Holst JJ, et al. Preserved inhibitory potency of GLP-1 on glucagon secretion in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009 Dec 1;94(12):4679–87.
- 261. Huypens P, Ling Z, Pipeleers D, Schuit F. Glucagon receptors on human islet cells contribute to glucose competence of insulin release. Diabetologia. 2000 Aug;43(8):1012–9.
- 262. Kellogg TA, Bantle JP, Leslie DB, Redmond JB, Slusarek B, Swan T, et al. Postgastric bypass hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia syndrome: characterization and response to a modified diet. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2008 Jul;4(4):492–9.
- 263. Dobbs R, Fallona GR, Unger RH, Böttger I. The Effects of Triglyceride Absorption upon Glucagon, Insulin, and Gut Glucagon-Like Immunoreactivity. J Clin Invest. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 1973 Oct 1;52(10):2532.
- 264. Faloona R, Unger RH, Rocha DM. Glucagon-stimulating activity of 20 amino acids in dogs. J Clin Invest. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 1972 Sep 1;51(9):2346.
- 265. Sato D, Morino K, Ohashi N, Ueda E, Ikeda K, Yamamoto H, et al. Octreotide improves early dumping syndrome potentially through incretins: a case report. Endocr J. 2013 Jul;60(7):847–53.
- 266. Kosaka K, Mizuno Y, Kuzuya T. Reproducibility of the oral glucose tolerance test and the rice-meal test in mild diabetics. Diabetes. 1966 Dec;15(12):901–4.
- 267. Ko GT, Chan JC, Woo J, Lau E, Yeung VT, Chow CC, et al. The reproducibility and usefulness of the oral glucose tolerance test in screening for diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors. Ann Clin Biochem. 1998 Jan 1;35 (Pt 1):62–7.
- 268. Olefsky JM, Reaven GM. Insulin and glucose responses to

identical oral glucose tolerance tests performed forty-eight hours apart. Diabetes. 1974 Apr 30;23(5):449–53.

- 269. Bridges S, Great Britain JHSU, Great Britain HASCIC, National Centre for Social Research (Great Britain), Statistics GBOFN. Health Survey for England 2012. 2013.
- 270. Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health. 2009 Jan 1;9:88–8.
- 271. Bourn J. Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General. 2001.
- 272. Scarborough P, Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe KK, Allender S, Foster C, Rayner M. The economic burden of ill health due to diet, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol and obesity in the UK: an update to 2006-07 NHS costs. J Public Health (Oxf). 2011 Dec 1;33(4):527–35.
- 273. Jotangia D, Moody A, Stamatakis E, Wardle H. Obesity among children under 11. 2005.
- 274. Barbier P, Schneider F. Syntheses of tetrahydrolipstatin and absolute configuration of tetrahydrolipstatin and lipstatin. Helvetica Chimica Acta. 1987.
- 275. Torgerson JS, Hauptman J, Boldrin MN, Sjöström L. XENical in the Prevention of Diabetes in Obese Subjects (XENDOS) Study: A randomized study of orlistat as an adjunct to lifestyle changes for the prevention of type 2 diabetes in obese patients. Diabetes Care. 2003 Dec 23;27(1):155–61.
- 276. Neary NM, Small CJ, Druce MR, Park AJ, Ellis SM, Semjonous NM, et al. Peptide YY 3–36and Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 7–36Inhibit Food Intake Additively. Endocrinology. 2005 Dec;146(12):5120–7.
- Lluis F, Fujimura M, Gómez G, Salvá JA, Greeley GH, Thompson JC. [Cellular localization, half-life, and secretion of peptide YY]. Rev Esp Fisiol. 1989 Dec;45(4):377–84.
- 278. Vilsboll T, Agersø H, Krarup T, Holst JJ. Similar elimination rates of glucagon-like peptide-1 in obese type 2 diabetic patients and healthy subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003 Jan;88(1):220–4.

- 279. GrantBD. Pfizer Pipeline. 2015 Dec 20;:1–12.
- 280. Gantz I, Erondu N, Mallick M, Musser B, Krishna R, Tanaka WK, et al. Efficacy and safety of intranasal peptide YY3-36 for weight reduction in obese adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007 Apr 30;92(5):1754–7.
- 281. Østergaard L, Frandsen C, Madsbad S. Treatment Potential of the GLP-1 Receptor Agonists in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Review. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2016 Jan 8;9(2):241–65.
- 282. Nauck MA, Sauerwald A, Ritzel R, Holst JJ, Schmiegel W. Influence of glucagon-like peptide 1 on fasting glycemia in type 2 diabetic patients treated with insulin after sulfonylurea secondary failure. Diabetes Care. 1998 Nov 1;21(11):1925–31.
- 283. Toft-Nielsen MB, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Continuous subcutaneous infusion of glucagon-like peptide 1 lowers plasma glucose and reduces appetite in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 1999 Jul;22(7):1137–43.
- 284. Yamato E, Ikegami H, Takekawa K, Fujisawa T, Nakagawa Y, Hamada Y, et al. Tissue-specific and glucose-dependent expression of receptor genes for glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). Horm Metab Res. 1997 Feb;29(2):56–9.
- 285. Kawai K, Yokota C, Ohashi S, Watanabe Y, Yamshita K. Evidence That Glucagon Stimulates Insulin-Secretion Through Its Own Receptor in Rats. Diabetologia. 1995 Mar;38(3):274–6.
- 286. Kieffer TJ, Heller RS, Unson CG, Weir GC, Habener JF. Distribution of glucagon receptors on hormone-specific endocrine cells of rat pancreatic islets. Endocrinology. 1996 Nov;137(11):5119–25.
- 287. Zaccardi F, Htike ZZ, Webb DR, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Benefits and Harms of Once-Weekly Glucagon-like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist Treatments: A Systematic Review and Network Metaanalysis. Ann Intern Med. 2015 Dec 8;:1–12.
- 288. Todd JF, Stanley SA, Roufosse CA, Bishop AE, Khoo B, Bloom SR, et al. A tumour that secretes glucagon-like peptide-1 and somatostatin in a patient with reactive hypoglycaemia and diabetes. Lancet. 2003;361(9353):228–30.

- 289. Roberts RE, Zhao M, Whitelaw BC, Ramage J, Diaz-Cano S, le Roux CW, et al. GLP-1 and Glucagon Secretion from a Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor Causing Diabetes and Hyperinsulinemic Hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012 Sep 6;97(9):3039– 45.
- 290. Mallinson CN, Bloom SR, Warin AP, Salmon PR, Cox B. A glucagonoma syndrome. The Lancet. 1974 Jul;304(7871):1–5.
- 291. R J Bolt HTCECAD. Glucagonoma--an underdiagnosed syndrome? Western Journal of Medicine. BMJ Group; 1986 Jun 1;144(6):746.
- 292. Sutherland EW, de Duve C. Origin and distribution of the hyperglycemic-glycogenolytic factor of the pancreas. J Biol Chem. 1948 Sep;175(2):663–74.
- 293. Ramnanan CJ, Edgerton DS, Kraft G, Cherrington AD.
 Physiologic action of glucagon on liver glucose metabolism.
 Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2011 Oct;13 Suppl 1:118–25.
- 294. Lean MEJ, Carraro R, Finer N, Hartvig H, Lindegaard ML, Rössner S, et al. Tolerability of nausea and vomiting and associations with weight loss in a randomized trial of liraglutide in obese, non-diabetic adults. International Journal of Obesity. 2014 Apr 30;38(5):689–97.
- 295. Elashoff M, Matveyenko AV, Gier B, Elashoff R, Butler PC. Pancreatitis, Pancreatic, and Thyroid Cancer With Glucagon-Like Peptide-1–Based Therapies. Gastroenterology. 2011 Jan 1;141(1):150–6.
- 296. Egan AG, Blind E, Dunder K, de Graeff PA, Hummer BT, Bourcier T, et al. Pancreatic safety of incretin-based drugs--FDA and EMA assessment. N Engl J Med. 2014 Feb 27;370(9):794–7.
- 297. Thomsen RW, Pedersen L, Møller N, Kahlert J, Beck-Nielsen H, Sørensen HT. Incretin-based therapy and risk of acute pancreatitis: a nationwide population-based case-control study. Diabetes Care. 2015 May 31;38(6):1089–98.